# HOSPITAL AUTHORITY OF VALDOSTA AND LOWNDES COUNTY,

# GEORGIA EMPLOYEE HIGH DEDUCTIBLE HEALTH PLAN

PLAN DOCUMENT

Effective Date: January 1, 2021

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

FACTS ABOUT THE PLAN	1
SCHEDULE OF BENEFITS	6
	_
PREFERRED PROVIDER OR NONPREFERRED PROVIDER	
Preferred Provider	15
Nonpreferred Provider	15
Referrals	15
Exceptions	15
Transition of Care	16
MEDICAL EXPENSE BENEFIT	17
Deductibles	
Coinsurance	
Out-of-Pocket Expense Limit	
Maximum Benefit	
Hospital/Ambulatory Surgical Facility	
Ambulance Services	
Emergency Services/Emergency Room Services	
Urgent Care Center	
Physician Services and Professional Provider Services	
Second Surgical Opinion	
Diagnostic Services and Supplies	
Transplant	
Pregnancy	
Birthing Center	
Sterilization.	
Infertility Services	
Contraceptives	
Well Newborn Care	
Routine Preventive Care/Wellness Benefits	
Women's Preventive services	
Therapy Services	
Autism Spectrum Disorders	
Attention Deficit Disorder (ADD) / Attention Deficit Hyperkinetic Syndrome	
Extended Care Facility	
Home Health Care	
Hospice Care	
Durable Medical Equipment	
Prostheses	
Orthotics	
Dental Services	
Temporomandibular Joint Dysfunction	
Orthognathic Disorders	
Special Equipment and Supplies	
Cosmetic/Reconstructive Surgery	
Gender Dysphoria	
Mastectomy (Women's Health and Cancer Rights Act of 1998)	
Mental & Nervous Disorders and Substance Use Disorder	
Prescription Drugs	29

Pharmacy Option Covered Prescription Drugs Limits To This Benefit. Expenses Not Covered. Specially Pharmacy Program. Notice of Authorized Representative. Appealing an Adverse Benefit Determination on a Post-Service Prescription Drug Claim Notice of Benefit Determination on a Post-Service Prescription Drug Claim Appeal Routine Patient Costs for Approved Clinical Trials Off-Label Drug Use. Podiatry Services Hearing Aid Benefit. Private Duty Nursing Chiropractic Care Patient Education Surcharges Outpatient Cardiac/Pulmonary Rehabilitation Programs. Sleep Disorders. Medical Foods  PLAN EXCLUSIONS  ELIGIBILITY, ENROLLMENT AND EFFECTIVE DATE Employee Eigibility Employee Sirollment Employee Sirollment Employee Sirollment Employee Sirollment Employee Sirollment Employee Sirollment Ependent(s) Effective Date Dependent(s) Effective Date Dependent(s) Effective Date Special Enrollment Period (Other Coverage) Special Enrollment Period (Dependent Acquisition) Special Eurollment Period (Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) Reauthorization Act of 2009) Open Enrollment TERMINATION OF COVERAGE Termination of Employee Coverage Termination of Employee Coverage Termination of Employee Coverage Termination of Dependent(s) Coverage Leave of Absence Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) Employee Reinstatement  CONTINUATION OF COVERAGE Qualifying Events Notification Requirements Cost of Coverage When Continuation Coverage Begins	Dharmacy Ontion		20
Limits To This Benefit.  Expenses Not Covered.  Specialty Pharmacy Program.  Notice of Authorized Representative.  Appealing an Adverse Benefit Determination on a Post-Service Prescription Drug Claim.  Notice of Benefit Determination on a Post-Service Prescription Drug Claim Appeal.  Routine Patient Costs for Approved Clinical Trials.  Off-Label Drug Use.  Podiatry Services.  Hearing Aid Benefit.  Private Duty Nursing.  Chiropractic Care.  Patient Education.  Surcharges.  Outpatient Cardiac/Pulmonary Rehabilitation Programs.  Sleep Disorders.  Medical Foods.  PLAN EXCLUSIONS.  ELIGIBILITY, ENROLLMENT AND EFFECTIVE DATE.  Employee Eigibility.  Employee Enrollment  Employee(s) Effective Date.  Dependent(s) Eligibility.  Dependent Enrollment Period (Other Coverage)  Special Enrollment Period (Other Coverage)  Special Enrollment Period (Other Coverage)  Special Enrollment Period (Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) Reauthorization Act of 2009).  Open Enrollment  FERMINATION OF COVERAGE.  Termination of Employee Coverage  Termination of Dependent(s) Coverage.  Leave of Absence.  Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA).  Employee Reinstatement.			
Expenses Not Covered Specialty Pharmacy Program. Notice of Authorized Representative. Appealing an Adverse Benefit Determination on a Post-Service Prescription Drug Claim Notice of Benefit Determination on a Post-Service Prescription Drug Claim Appeal Routine Patient Costs for Approved Clinical Trials Off-Label Drug Use. Podiatry Services Hearing Aid Benefit Private Duty Nursing Chiropractic Care. Patient Education Surcharges Outpatient Cardiac/Pulmonary Rehabilitation Programs Sleep Disorders Medical Foods  PLAN EXCLUSIONS  PLAN EXCLUSIONS  ELIGIBILITY, ENROLLMENT AND EFFECTIVE DATE Employee Eligibility Employee Enrollment Employee Special Enrollment Employee (S) Effective Date Dependent(S) Effective Date Special Enrollment Period (Other Coverage) Special Enrollment Period (Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) Reauthorization Act of 2009) Open Enrollment  EERMINATION OF COVERAGE Termination of Employee Coverage Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) Employee Reinstatement  CONTINUATION OF COVERAGE Qualifying Events Notification Requirements CONTINUATION OF COVERAGE Qualifying Events Notification Requirements Cost of Coverage Cost of Cost of Coverage Cost of			
Specialty Pharmacy Program Notice of Authorized Representative Appealing an Adverse Benefit Determination on a Post-Service Prescription Drug Claim Notice of Benefit Determination on a Post-Service Prescription Drug Claim Appeal Routine Patient Costs for Approved Clinical Trials Off-Label Drug Use. Podiatry Services Hearing Aid Benefit Private Duty Nursing Chiropractic Care. Patient Education Surcharges Outpatient Cardiac/Pulmonary Rehabilitation Programs Sleep Disorders Medical Foods  PLAN EXCLUSIONS  PLAN EXC			
Notice of Authorized Representative Appealing an Adverse Benefit Determination on a Post-Service Prescription Drug Claim Notice of Benefit Determination on a Post-Service Prescription Drug Claim Appeal Routine Patient Costs for Approved Clinical Trials Off-Label Drug Use Podiatry Services Hearing Aid Benefit Private Duty Nursing Chiropraetic Care Patient Education Surcharges Outpatient Cardiac/Pulmonary Rehabilitation Programs Sleep Disorders Medical Foods  PLAN EXCLUSIONS  LIGIBILITY, ENROLLMENT AND EFFECTIVE DATE Employee Eligibility Employee Enrollment Employee Enrollment Employee(s) Effective Date Dependent(s) Eligibility Dependent Enrollment Dependent Firefictive Date Special Enrollment Period (Other Coverage) Special Enrollment Period (Other Coverage) Special Enrollment Period (Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) Reauthorization Act of 2009) Open Enrollment Fermination of Employee Coverage Termination of Employee Coverage Termination of Dependent(s) Coverage Termination of Dependent(s) Coverage Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) Employee Reinstatement  CONTINUATION OF COVERAGE Qualifying Events Notification Requirements Cost of Coverage  Qualifying Events Notification Requirements Cost of Coverage			
Appealing an Adverse Benefit Determination on a Post-Service Prescription Drug Claim Notice of Benefit Determination on a Post-Service Prescription Drug Claim Appeal Routine Patient Costs for Approved Clinical Trials Off-Label Drug Use. Podiatry Services. Hearing Aid Benefit. Private Duty Nursing Chiropractic Care. Patient Education Surcharges Outpatient Cardiac/Pulmonary Rehabilitation Programs. Sleep Disorders. Medical Foods  **LAN EXCLUSIONS** **LAN EXCLUSIONS** **LIGIBILITY, ENROLLMENT AND EFFECTIVE DATE. Employee Eligibility Employee Enrollment. Employee(s) Effective Date. Dependent(s) Eligibility Dependent Enrollment. Dependent(s) Effective Date. Special Enrollment Period (Other Coverage) Special Enrollment Period (Other Coverage) Special Enrollment Period (Dependent Acquisition). Special Enrollment Period (Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) Reauthorization Act of 2009). Open Enrollment  ERMINATION OF COVERAGE Termination of Employee Coverage Leave of Absence Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA). Employee Reinstatement.  **CONTINUATION OF COVERAGE** Qualifying Events. Notification Requirements. Cost of Coverage.			
Notice of Benefit Determination on a Post-Service Prescription Drug Claim Appeal Routine Patient Costs for Approved Clinical Trials Off-Label Drug Use Podiatry Services Hearing Aid Benefit Private Duty Nursing Chiropractic Care Patient Education Surcharges Outpatient Cardiac/Pulmonary Rehabilitation Programs Sleep Disorders Medical Foods  LAN EXCLUSIONS  LIGIBILITY, ENROLLMENT AND EFFECTIVE DATE Employee Eligibility Employee Eligibility Employee Enrollment Employee(s) Effective Date Dependent(s) Eligibility Dependent Enrollment Dependent(s) Eligibility Dependent Enrollment Dependent(s) Effective Date Special Enrollment Period (Other Coverage) Special Enrollment Period (Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) Reauthorization Act of 2009) Open Enrollment  ERMINATION OF COVERAGE Termination of Employee Coverage Termination of Dependent(s) Coverage Leave of Absence Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) Employee Reinstatement  ONTINUATION OF COVERAGE Qualifying Events Notification Requirements Cost of Coverage  Qualifying Events Notification Requirements Cost of Coverage			
Routine Patient Costs for Approved Clinical Trials Off-Label Drug Use Podiatry Services Hearing Aid Benefit Private Duty Nursing Chiropractic Care Patient Education Surcharges Outpatient Cardiac/Pulmonary Rehabilitation Programs Sleep Disorders Medical Foods  LAN EXCLUSIONS  LIGIBILITY, ENROLLMENT AND EFFECTIVE DATE Employee Eligibility Employee Eligibility Employee (S) Effective Date Dependent(s) Eligibility Dependent Enrollment Dependent (S) Effective Date Special Enrollment Period (Other Coverage) Special Enrollment Period (Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) Reauthorization Act of 2009) Open Enrollment ERMINATION OF COVERAGE Termination of Employee Coverage Leave of Absence Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) Employee Reinstatement ONTINUATION OF COVERAGE Qualifying Events Notification Requirements Cost of Coverage			
Off-Label Drug Use. Podiatry Services. Hearing Aid Benefit. Private Duty Nursing. Chiropractic Care. Patient Education. Surcharges. Outpatient Cardiac/Pulmonary Rehabilitation Programs. Sleep Disorders. Medical Foods.  LAN EXCLUSIONS.  LIGIBILITY, ENROLLMENT AND EFFECTIVE DATE. Employee Eligibility. Employee Enrollment. Employee (Eligibility). Employee (Eligibility). Dependent(s) Effective Date. Dependent(s) Effective Date. Dependent(s) Effective Date. Special Enrollment Period (Other Coverage) Special Enrollment Period (Other Coverage) Special Enrollment Period (Dependent Acquisition). Special Enrollment Period (Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) Reauthorization Act of 2009). Open Enrollment.  ERMINATION OF COVERAGE Termination of Employee Coverage. Leave of Absence Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) Employee Reinstatement.  ONTINUATION OF COVERAGE Qualifying Events Notification Requirements. Cost of Coverage.			
Podiatry Services Hearing Aid Benefit Private Duty Nursing Chiropractic Care Patient Education Surcharges Outpatient Cardiac/Pulmonary Rehabilitation Programs Sleep Disorders Medical Foods  LAN EXCLUSIONS  LIGIBILITY, ENROLLMENT AND EFFECTIVE DATE Employee Eligibility. Employee Eligibility. Employee (S) Effective Date Dependent(s) Eligibility, Dependent Enrollment Dependent(s) Effective Date Special Enrollment Period (Other Coverage) Special Enrollment Period (Dependent Acquisition) Special Enrollment Period (Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) Reauthorization Act of 2009). Open Enrollment  ERMINATION OF COVERAGE Termination of Employee Coverage Termination of Dependent(s) Coverage Leave of Absence Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) Employee Reinstatement  ONTINUATION OF COVERAGE Qualifying Events Notification Requirements Cost of Coverage			
Hearing Aid Benefit. Private Duty Nursing. Chiropractic Care Patient Education Surcharges Outpatient Cardiac/Pulmonary Rehabilitation Programs. Sleep Disorders. Medical Foods.  LAN EXCLUSIONS.  LIGIBILITY, ENROLLMENT AND EFFECTIVE DATE. Employee Eligibility. Employee Eligibility. Employee Enrollment. Employee(s) Effective Date. Dependent(s) Eligibility. Dependent Enrollment Dependent (s) Effective Date. Special Enrollment Period (Other Coverage) Special Enrollment Period (Other Coverage) Special Enrollment Period (Dependent Acquisition). Special Enrollment Period (Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) Reauthorization Act of 2009). Open Enrollment.  ERMINATION OF COVERAGE Termination of Employee Coverage Termination of Dependent(s) Coverage Leave of Absence. Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA). Employee Reinstatement.  ONTINUATION OF COVERAGE Qualifying Events. Notification Requirements. Cost of Coverage.			
Private Duty Nursing Chiropractic Care Patient Education Surcharges Outpatient Cardiac/Pulmonary Rehabilitation Programs Sleep Disorders Medical Foods  LIGIBILITY, ENROLLMENT AND EFFECTIVE DATE Employee Eligibility Employee Eligibility Employee Enrollment Employee(s) Effective Date Dependent(s) Eligibility Dependent Enrollment Dependent(s) Effective Date Special Enrollment Period (Other Coverage) Special Enrollment Period (Dependent Acquisition) Special Enrollment Period (Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) Reauthorization Act of 2009) Open Enrollment  ERMINATION OF COVERAGE Termination of Employee Coverage Termination of Dependent(s) Coverage Leave of Absence Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) Employee Reinstatement  ONTINUATION OF COVERAGE Qualifying Events Notification Requirements Cost of Coverage			
Chiropractic Care			
Patient Education Surcharges Outpatient Cardiac/Pulmonary Rehabilitation Programs Sleep Disorders			
Surcharges Outpatient Cardiac/Pulmonary Rehabilitation Programs Sleep Disorders Medical Foods  LAN EXCLUSIONS  LIGIBILITY, ENROLLMENT AND EFFECTIVE DATE Employee Eligibility Employee Eligibility Employee(s) Effective Date Dependent(s) Eligibility Dependent Enrollment Dependent Enrollment Dependent Enrollment Period (Other Coverage) Special Enrollment Period (Opependent Acquisition) Special Enrollment Period (Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) Reauthorization Act of 2009) Open Enrollment ERMINATION OF COVERAGE Termination of Dependent(s) Coverage Leave of Absence Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) Employee Reinstatement  ONTINUATION OF COVERAGE Qualifying Events Notification Requirements Cost of Coverage			
Outpatient Cardiac/Pulmonary Rehabilitation Programs Sleep Disorders Medical Foods  LAN EXCLUSIONS  LIGIBILITY, ENROLLMENT AND EFFECTIVE DATE Employee Eligibility Employee Enrollment Employee (s) Effective Date Dependent(s) Eligibility Dependent Enrollment Dependent(s) Effective Date Special Enrollment Period (Other Coverage) Special Enrollment Period (Dependent Acquisition) Special Enrollment Period (Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) Reauthorization Act of 2009) Open Enrollment ERMINATION OF COVERAGE Termination of Employee Coverage Termination of Dependent(s) Coverage Leave of Absence Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) Employee Reinstatement  ONTINUATION OF COVERAGE Qualifying Events Notification Requirements Cost of Coverage			
Sleep Disorders. Medical Foods  LAN EXCLUSIONS  LIGIBILITY, ENROLLMENT AND EFFECTIVE DATE.  Employee Eligibility.  Employee Enrollment  Employee(s) Effective Date.  Dependent(s) Eligibility.  Dependent Enrollment.  Dependent(s) Effective Date.  Special Enrollment Period (Other Coverage).  Special Enrollment Period (Dependent Acquisition).  Special Enrollment Period (Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) Reauthorization Act of 2009).  Open Enrollment.  ERMINATION OF COVERAGE.  Termination of Employee Coverage.  Leave of Absence.  Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA).  Employee Reinstatement.  ONTINUATION OF COVERAGE.  Qualifying Events.  Notification Requirements.  Cost of Coverage.			
LIGIBILITY, ENROLLMENT AND EFFECTIVE DATE  Employee Eligibility Employee Enrollment Employee(s) Effective Date Dependent(s) Eligibility Dependent Enrollment Dependent(s) Eligibility Dependent Enrollment Dependent(s) Effective Date Special Enrollment Period (Other Coverage) Special Enrollment Period (Other Coverage) Special Enrollment Period (Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) Reauthorization Act of 2009) Open Enrollment  ERMINATION OF COVERAGE Termination of Employee Coverage Termination of Dependent(s) Coverage Leave of Absence Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) Employee Reinstatement  ONTINUATION OF COVERAGE Qualifying Events Notification Requirements Cost of Coverage			
LIGIBILITY, ENROLLMENT AND EFFECTIVE DATE  Employee Eligibility Employee Enrollment Employee(s) Effective Date Dependent(s) Eligibility Dependent Enrollment Dependent(s) Effective Date Special Enrollment Period (Other Coverage) Special Enrollment Period (Dependent Acquisition) Special Enrollment Period (Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) Reauthorization Act of 2009) Open Enrollment  ERMINATION OF COVERAGE Termination of Employee Coverage Termination of Dependent(s) Coverage. Leave of Absence Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) Employee Reinstatement  ONTINUATION OF COVERAGE Qualifying Events Notification Requirements Cost of Coverage			
Employee Eligibility Employee Enrollment Employee(s) Effective Date Dependent(s) Eligibility Dependent Enrollment Dependent(s) Effective Date Special Enrollment Period (Other Coverage) Special Enrollment Period (Other Coverage) Special Enrollment Period (Dependent Acquisition) Special Enrollment Period (Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) Reauthorization Act of 2009) Open Enrollment  ERMINATION OF COVERAGE Termination of Employee Coverage Termination of Dependent(s) Coverage Leave of Absence Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) Employee Reinstatement  ONTINUATION OF COVERAGE Qualifying Events Notification Requirements Cost of Coverage	Wedicai Foods		
Employee Eligibility Employee (s) Effective Date Dependent(s) Eligibility Dependent Enrollment Dependent (s) Effective Date Special Enrollment Period (Other Coverage) Special Enrollment Period (Dependent Acquisition) Special Enrollment Period (Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) Reauthorization Act of 2009) Open Enrollment  ERMINATION OF COVERAGE Termination of Employee Coverage Termination of Dependent(s) Coverage Leave of Absence Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) Employee Reinstatement  ONTINUATION OF COVERAGE Qualifying Events Notification Requirements Cost of Coverage	LAN EXCLUSIONS		37
Employee Eligibility Employee (s) Effective Date Dependent(s) Eligibility Dependent Enrollment Dependent (s) Effective Date Special Enrollment Period (Other Coverage) Special Enrollment Period (Dependent Acquisition) Special Enrollment Period (Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) Reauthorization Act of 2009) Open Enrollment  ERMINATION OF COVERAGE Termination of Employee Coverage Termination of Dependent(s) Coverage Leave of Absence Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) Employee Reinstatement  ONTINUATION OF COVERAGE Qualifying Events Notification Requirements Cost of Coverage			
Employee (s) Effective Date Dependent(s) Eligibility Dependent Enrollment Dependent(s) Effective Date Special Enrollment Period (Other Coverage) Special Enrollment Period (Dependent Acquisition). Special Enrollment Period (Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) Reauthorization Act of 2009). Open Enrollment  ERMINATION OF COVERAGE Termination of Employee Coverage Termination of Dependent(s) Coverage Leave of Absence Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) Employee Reinstatement  ONTINUATION OF COVERAGE Qualifying Events Notification Requirements Cost of Coverage			
Employee(s) Effective Date			
Dependent(s) Eligibility Dependent Enrollment Dependent(s) Effective Date Special Enrollment Period (Other Coverage) Special Enrollment Period (Dependent Acquisition). Special Enrollment Period (Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) Reauthorization Act of 2009). Open Enrollment  ERMINATION OF COVERAGE Termination of Employee Coverage Termination of Dependent(s) Coverage Leave of Absence Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) Employee Reinstatement  ONTINUATION OF COVERAGE Qualifying Events Notification Requirements Cost of Coverage  C			
Dependent Enrollment Dependent(s) Effective Date			
Dependent(s) Effective Date			
Special Enrollment Period (Other Coverage) Special Enrollment Period (Dependent Acquisition) Special Enrollment Period (Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) Reauthorization Act of 2009) Open Enrollment  ERMINATION OF COVERAGE Termination of Employee Coverage Termination of Dependent(s) Coverage Leave of Absence Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) Employee Reinstatement  ONTINUATION OF COVERAGE Qualifying Events Notification Requirements Cost of Coverage	Dependent Enrollment		46
Special Enrollment Period (Dependent Acquisition)  Special Enrollment Period (Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) Reauthorization Act of 2009)  Open Enrollment  ERMINATION OF COVERAGE  Termination of Employee Coverage  Termination of Dependent(s) Coverage  Leave of Absence  Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA)  Employee Reinstatement  ONTINUATION OF COVERAGE  Qualifying Events  Notification Requirements  Cost of Coverage	Dependent(s) Effective Date		46
Special Enrollment Period (Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) Reauthorization Act of 2009)	Special Enrollment Period (Other	Coverage)	46
Open Enrollment.  ERMINATION OF COVERAGE  Termination of Employee Coverage  Termination of Dependent(s) Coverage.  Leave of Absence  Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA)  Employee Reinstatement  ONTINUATION OF COVERAGE  Qualifying Events  Notification Requirements  Cost of Coverage			
Termination of Employee Coverage Termination of Dependent(s) Coverage Leave of Absence Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) Employee Reinstatement  ONTINUATION OF COVERAGE Qualifying Events Notification Requirements Cost of Coverage	Special Enrollment Period (Childre	en's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) Reauthorization Act of 2009)	48
Termination of Employee Coverage Termination of Dependent(s) Coverage Leave of Absence Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) Employee Reinstatement  ONTINUATION OF COVERAGE Qualifying Events Notification Requirements Cost of Coverage	Open Enrollment		48
Termination of Employee Coverage Termination of Dependent(s) Coverage Leave of Absence Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) Employee Reinstatement  ONTINUATION OF COVERAGE Qualifying Events Notification Requirements Cost of Coverage	FRMINATION OF COVER	AGF	49
Termination of Dependent(s) Coverage.  Leave of Absence.  Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA).  Employee Reinstatement.  ONTINUATION OF COVERAGE  Qualifying Events.  Notification Requirements.  Cost of Coverage.			
Leave of Absence Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) Employee Reinstatement  ONTINUATION OF COVERAGE  Qualifying Events Notification Requirements Cost of Coverage	1 2	~	
Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) Employee Reinstatement  ONTINUATION OF COVERAGE  Qualifying Events  Notification Requirements  Cost of Coverage			
ONTINUATION OF COVERAGE  Qualifying Events  Notification Requirements  Cost of Coverage			
ONTINUATION OF COVERAGE  Qualifying Events  Notification Requirements  Cost of Coverage			
Qualifying Events Notification Requirements Cost of Coverage	Employee Reinstatement		
Notification Requirements Cost of Coverage			
Cost of Coverage			
	When Continuation Coverage Beg	gins	52
Family Members Acquired During Continuation			
Extension of Continuation Coverage			
End of Continuation			
Special Rules Regarding Notices			
Military Mobilization			
Plan Contact Information			
Address Changes			

MEDICAL CLAIM FILING PROCEDURE	56
POST-SERVICE CLAIM PROCEDURE	56
Filing a Claim	56
Notice of Authorized Representative	57
Notice of Claim	
Time Frame for Benefit Determination	
Notice of Adverse Benefit Determination	
Appealing an Adverse Benefit Determination on a Post-Service Claim	
Provider Reconsideration Requests	
Notice of Benefit Determination on Appeal	
Foreign Claims	59
PRE-SERVICE CLAIM PROCEDURE	59
Health Care Management	59
Filing a Pre-Certification Claim	
Notice of Authorized Representative	61
Time Frame for Pre-Service Claim Determination	61
Concurrent Care Claims	61
Notice of Adverse Benefit Determination on a Pre-Service Claim	62
Appealing an Adverse Benefit Determination of a Denied Pre-Service Claim	63
Notice of Pre-Service Determination on Appeal	63
Case Management.	64
POST-SERVICE AND PRE-SERVICE CLAIM EXTERNAL APPEALS PROCI	EDURE64
External Appeal	_
Right to External Appeal	
Notice of Right to External Appeal	
Independent Review Organization.	
Notice of External Review Determination.	
Expedited External Review	
OCODDINATION OF DENEFITO	67
COORDINATION OF BENEFITS	
Definitions Applicable to this Provision	
Effect on Benefits	
Order of Benefit Determination	
Coordination With Medicare	
Limitations on Payments	69
Right to Receive and Release Necessary Information	
Facility of Benefit Payment	
Automobile Accident Benefits	70
SUBROGATION/REIMBURSEMENT	71
GENERAL PROVISIONS	73
Administration of the Plan	
Applicable Law	
Assignment	
Benefits Not Transferable	
Clerical Error	
Conformity With Statute(s)	
Effective Date of the Plan	74
Fraud or Intentional Misrepresentation	

Free Choice of Hospital and Physician	74
Incapacity	
Incontestability	
Legal Actions.	
Limits on Liability	
Lost Distributees	
Medicaid Eligibility and Assignment of Rights	
Physical Examinations Required by the Plan	
Plan is not a Contract	
Plan Modification and Amendment	
Plan Termination	
Pronouns	
Recovery for Overpayment	
Status Change	
Time Effective	
Workers' Compensation Not Affected	
HIPAA PRIVACY	
Disclosure by Plan to Plan Sponsor	
Use and Disclosure by Plan Sponsor	
Obligations of Plan Sponsor	
Exceptions	
DEFINITIONS	79
APPENDIX A PROGRAMS AND SERVICES	94
Maternity Program	94
APPENDIX B	95
APPENDIX C COVID	100

# FACTS ABOUT THE PLAN

#### Name of Plan:

Hospital Authority of Valdosta and Lowndes County, Georgia Employee High Deductible Health Plan

# Name, Address and Phone Number of Employer/Plan Sponsor:

Hospital Authority of Valdosta and Lowndes County, Georgia 2501 N. Patterson Street Valdosta, Georgia 31602 1-229-333-1000

Empl	over	Iden	tifica	tion	Num	her
LIND	IUVCI	lucii	unca	иоп	11 u III	nei.

58-6004467

Plan Number:

501

**Group Number:** 

SG0000

Type of Plan:

Welfare Benefit Plan: medical and prescription drug benefits

#### **Type of Administration:**

Contract administration: The processing of claims for benefits under the terms of the *Plan* is provided through one or more companies contracted by the *employer* and shall hereinafter be referred to as the *claims processor*.

#### Name, Address and Phone Number of Plan Administrator, Fiduciary, and Agent for Service of Legal Process:

Hospital Authority of Valdosta and Lowndes County, Georgia 2501 N. Patterson Street Valdosta, Georgia 31602 1-229-333-1000

Legal process may be served upon the *plan administrator*.

# **Eligibility Requirements:**

For detailed information regarding a person's eligibility to participate in the *Plan*, refer to the following section: *Eligibility, Enrollment and Effective Date* 

For detailed information regarding a person being <u>ineligible</u> for benefits through reaching *Essential Health Benefit*/non-*Essential Health Benefit maximum benefit* levels, termination of coverage or *Plan* exclusions, refer to the following sections:

Schedule of Benefits Termination of Coverage Plan Exclusions

#### **Source of Plan Contributions:**

Contributions for *Plan* expenses are obtained from the *employer* and from covered *employees*. The *employer* evaluates the costs of the *Plan* based on projected *Plan* expenses and determines the amount to be contributed by the *employer* and the amount to be contributed by the covered *employees*. The *plan administrator* reserves the right to change the level of *employee* contributions.

This *Plan* allows *employees* to pay their contributions for health care coverage on a pre-tax basis through payroll deductions, as authorized by the *employee* on the enrollment form (whether paper or electronic) or other applicable forms. The required contribution is deducted from their paycheck before their taxes are calculated. *Retiree's* and COBRA participants are not eligible for pre-tax deductions.

# **Funding Method:**

The *employer* pays *Plan* benefits and administration expenses directly from general assets. Contributions received from *covered persons* are used to cover *Plan* costs and are expended immediately.

#### **Ending Date of Plan Year:**

December 31st

# Standards Relating to Benefits for Mothers and Newborns (Newborns' and Mothers' Health Protection Act of 1996):

If the *Schedule of Benefits* shows that the *Plan* has coverage for *pregnancy* and newborn care, this *Plan* generally may not, under Federal law, restrict benefits for any *hospital* length of stay in connection with childbirth for the mother or newborn child to less than forty-eight (48) hours following a vaginal delivery, or less than ninety-six (96) hours following a caesarean section. However, Federal law generally does not prohibit the mother's or newborn's attending provider, after consultation with the mother, from discharging the mother or her newborn earlier than forty-eight (48) hours (or ninety-six (96) hours as applicable). In any case, this *Plan* may not, under Federal law, require that a provider obtain authorization from the *Plan* for prescribing a length of stay not in excess of the above periods.

#### **Preferred Provider Networks:**

This *Plan* may contain a *Preferred Provider Organization* (PPO) network and pre-certification requirements. Refer to the *Plan* for detailed information concerning pre-certification and *Preferred Provider* requirements. For a listing of *Preferred Providers*, contact the PPO network listed on the *employee's* identification card.

# **Procedures for Filing Claims:**

For detailed information on how to submit a claim for benefits, or how to file an appeal on a processed claim, refer to the section entitled, *Medical Claim Filing Procedure*.

The designated *claims processor* for Medical claims is:

Trustmark Health Benefits, Inc. P. O. Box 2920 Clinton, IA 52733-2920

Except as otherwise provided herein, the designated *claims processor* for claims and benefits for Prescriptions Drugs is:

Elixir Solutions 2181 East Aurora Road, Suite 201 Twinsburg, OH 44087

#### **COBRA Continuation Coverage General Notice**

#### Introduction

You are getting this notice because you recently gained coverage under this group health *Plan*. This notice has important information about your right to COBRA continuation coverage, which is a temporary extension of coverage under the *Plan*. This notice explains COBRA continuation coverage, when it may become available to you and your family, and what you need to do to protect your right to get it. When you become eligible for COBRA, you may also become eligible for other coverage options that may cost less than COBRA continuation coverage.

The right to COBRA continuation coverage was created by a federal law, the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985 (COBRA). COBRA continuation coverage can become available to you and other members of your family when group health coverage would otherwise end. For more information about your rights and obligations under this *Plan* and under federal law, you should contact the *plan administrator*.

You may have other options available to you when you lose group health coverage. For example, you may be eligible to buy an individual plan through the Health Insurance Marketplace. By enrolling in coverage through the Marketplace, you may qualify for lower costs on your monthly premiums and lower out-of-pocket costs. Additionally, you may qualify for a 30-day special enrollment period for another group health plan for which you are eligible (such as a spouse's plan), even if that plan generally doesn't accept late enrollees.

# What is COBRA continuation coverage?

COBRA continuation coverage is a continuation of *Plan* coverage when it would otherwise end because of a life event. This is also called a "qualifying event." Specific qualifying events are listed later in this notice. After a qualifying event, COBRA continuation coverage must be offered to each person who is a "qualified beneficiary." You, your spouse, and your *dependent* children could become qualified beneficiaries if coverage under this *Plan* is lost because of the qualifying event. Under this *Plan*, qualified beneficiaries who elect COBRA continuation coverage must pay for COBRA continuation coverage.

If you're an *employee*, you'll become a qualified beneficiary if you lose your coverage under this *Plan* because of the following qualifying events:

- Your hours of employment are reduced, or
- Your employment ends for any reason other than your gross misconduct.

If you're the spouse of an *employee*, you'll become a qualified beneficiary if you lose your coverage under this *Plan* because of the following qualifying events:

- Your spouse dies;
- Your spouse's hours of employment are reduced;
- Your spouse's employment ends for any reason other than his or her gross misconduct;
- Your spouse becomes entitled to *Medicare* benefits (under Part A, Part B, or both); or
- You become divorced or legally separated from your spouse.

Your *dependent* children will become qualified beneficiaries if they lose coverage under this *Plan* because of the following qualifying events:

- The parent-employee dies;
- The parent-*employee's* hours of employment are reduced:
- The parent-*employee's* employment ends for any reason other than his or her gross misconduct;
- The parent-*employee* becomes entitled to *Medicare* benefits (Part A, Part B, or both);
- The parents become divorced or legally separated; or
- The child stops being eligible for coverage under this *Plan* as a "*dependent* child."

Sometimes, filing a proceeding in bankruptcy under title 11 of the United States Code can be a qualifying event. If a proceeding in bankruptcy is filed with respect to Hospital Authority of Valdosta and Lowndes County, Georgia, and that bankruptcy results in the loss of coverage of any retired employee covered under this *Plan*, the retired employee will become a qualified beneficiary. The retired employee's spouse, surviving spouse, and dependent children will also become qualified beneficiaries if bankruptcy results in the loss of their coverage under the *Plan*.

# When is COBRA continuation coverage available?

This *Plan* will offer COBRA continuation coverage to qualified beneficiaries only after the *plan administrator* has been notified that a qualifying event has occurred. The *employer* must notify the *plan administrator* of the following qualifying events:

- The end of employment or reduction of hours of employment;
- Death of the *employee*;
- Commencement of a proceeding in bankruptcy with respect to the employer; or
- The *employee's* becoming entitled to *Medicare* benefits (under Part A, Part B, or both).

For all other qualifying events (divorce or legal separation of the *employee* and spouse or a *dependent* child's losing eligibility for coverage as a *dependent* child), you must notify the *plan administrator* within 60 days after the qualifying event occurs. You must provide this notice to the *plan administrator* (or its designee).

# How is COBRA continuation coverage provided?

Once the *plan administrator* receives notice that a qualifying event has occurred, COBRA continuation coverage will be offered to each of the qualified beneficiaries. Each qualified beneficiary will have an independent right to elect COBRA continuation coverage. Covered *employees* may elect COBRA continuation coverage on behalf of their spouses, and parents may elect COBRA continuation coverage on behalf of their children.

COBRA continuation coverage is a temporary continuation of coverage that generally lasts for 18 months due to employment termination or reduction of hours of work. Certain qualifying events, or a second qualifying event during the initial period of coverage, may permit a beneficiary to receive a maximum of 36 months of coverage.

There are also ways in which this 18-month period of COBRA continuation coverage can be extended:

# Disability extension of 18-month period of COBRA continuation coverage

If you or anyone in your family covered under this *Plan* is determined by Social Security to be disabled and you notify the *plan administrator* in a timely fashion, you and your entire family may be entitled to get up to an additional 11 months of COBRA continuation coverage, for a maximum of 29 months. The disability would have to have started at some time before the 60th day of COBRA continuation coverage and must last at least until the end of the 18-month period of COBRA continuation coverage. The disabled person (or his representative) must submit written proof of the Social Security Administration's disability determination to *the plan administrator* (or its designee) within the initial eighteen (18) month period of continuation coverage and no later than sixty (60) days after the latest of:

- (i.) The date of the disability determination by the Social Security Administration;
- (ii.) The date of the 18-Month Qualifying Event;
- (iii.) The date on which the person loses (or would lose) coverage under this *Plan* as a result of the 18-Month Qualifying Event; or
- (iv.) The date on which the person is furnished with a copy of this Plan Document and Summary Plan Description.

#### Second qualifying event extension of 18-month period of continuation coverage

If your family experiences another qualifying event during the 18 months of COBRA continuation coverage, the spouse and *dependent* children in your family can get up to 18 additional months of COBRA continuation coverage, for a maximum of 36 months, if this *Plan* is properly notified about the second qualifying event. This extension may be available to the spouse and any *dependent* children getting COBRA continuation coverage if the *employee* or

former *employee* dies; becomes entitled to *Medicare* benefits (under Part A, Part B, or both); gets divorced or legally separated; or if the *dependent* child stops being eligible under this *Plan* as a *dependent* child. This extension is only available if the second qualifying event would have caused the spouse or *dependent* child to lose coverage under this *Plan* had the first qualifying event not occurred.

## Are there other coverage options besides COBRA Continuation Coverage?

Yes. Instead of enrolling in COBRA continuation coverage, there may be other coverage options for you and your family through the Health Insurance Marketplace, Medicare, Medicaid, Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) or other group health plan coverage options (such as a spouse's plan) through what is called a "special enrollment period." Some of these options may cost less than COBRA continuation coverage. You can learn more about many of these options at <a href="https://www.healthcare.gov">www.healthcare.gov</a>.

Can I enroll in *Medicare* instead of COBRA Continuation Coverage after my group health plan coverage ends? In general, if you don't enroll in *Medicare* Part A or B when you are first eligible because you are still employed, after the *Medicare* initial enrollment period, you have an 8-month special enrollment period to sign up for *Medicare* Part A or B, beginning on the earlier of

- The month after your employment ends; or
- The month after group health plan coverage based on current employment ends.

If you don't enroll in *Medicare* and elect COBRA continuation coverage instead, you may have to pay a Part B late enrollment penalty and you may have a gap in coverage if you decide you want Part B later. If you elect COBRA continuation coverage and later enroll in *Medicare* Part A or B before the COBRA continuation coverage ends, this *plan* may terminate your continuation coverage. However, if *Medicare* Part A or B is effective on or before the date of the COBRA election, COBRA coverage may not be discontinued on account of *Medicare* entitlement, even if you enroll in the other part of *Medicare* after the date of the election of COBRA coverage.

If you are enrolled in both COBRA continuation coverage and *Medicare*, *Medicare* will generally pay first (primary payer) and COBRA continuation coverage will pay second. Certain plans may pay as if secondary to *Medicare*, even if you are not enrolled in *Medicare*.

For more information visit <a href="https://www.medicare.gov/medicare-and-you">https://www.medicare.gov/medicare-and-you</a>.

# If you have questions

Questions concerning this *Plan* or your COBRA continuation coverage rights should be addressed to the contact or contacts identified below. For more information about your rights under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act (ERISA), including COBRA, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, and other laws affecting group health plans, contact the nearest Regional or District Office of the U.S. Department of Labor's Employee Benefits Security Administration (EBSA) in your area or visit www.dol.gov/ebsa. (Addresses and phone numbers of Regional and District EBSA Offices are available through EBSA's website.) For more information about the Marketplace, visit www.HealthCare.gov.

# Keep your Plan informed of address changes

To protect your family's rights, let the *plan administrator* (or its designee) know about any changes in the addresses of family members. You should also keep a copy, for your records, of any notices you send to the *plan administrator* (or its designee).

#### Plan contact information

Hospital Authority of Valdosta and Lowndes County, Georgia 2501 N. Patterson Street Valdosta, Georgia 31602 1-229-333-1000

# SCHEDULE OF BENEFITS

The following *Schedule of Benefits* is designed as a quick reference. For complete provisions of the *Plan's* benefits, refer to the following sections: *Medical Claim Filing Procedure, Medical Expense Benefit, Plan Exclusions* and *Preferred Provider or Nonpreferred Provider*.

Benefit Period: January 1 – December 31

MEDICAL BENEFITS	SGMC PROVIDER	ANTHEM GA PREFERRED PROVIDER	NONPREFERR ED PROVIDER
Deductible (per benefit period)			
Individual	\$2,000	\$3,500	\$7,000
Family (non-embedded)	\$4,000	\$7,000	\$14,000

# Deductible for SGMC and for Anthem GA preferred providers are combined.

Generally, the *covered person* must pay all of the costs from providers up to the deductible amount before *Plan* begins to pay.

**Non-embedded family deductible**: Any number of covered family members may help to satisfy the family deductible before this *Plan* begins to pay for *covered expenses* that are subject to the deductible.

# **HSA Employer Contribution** (per benefit period)

Individual \$500 Family \$1,000

#### Out-of-Pocket Expense Limit (per benefit period)

Individual	\$6,000	\$7,000	Unlimited
Family (embedded)	\$12,000	\$14,000	Unlimited

# Out-of-Pocket Expense Limit for SGMC and for Anthem GA preferred providers are combined.

Out-of-Pocket Expense Limit (includes deductible, coinsurance and prescription cost share)

The out-of-pocket expense limit is the most the *covered person* could pay in a year for covered services.

**Embedded family out-of-pocket expense limit:** Any number of covered family members may help to satisfy the family out-of-pocket expense limit, but no family member will incur more than the individual out-of-pocket expense limit.

The *Plan* will pay the designated percentage of *covered expenses* until the out-of-pocket expense limits are reached, at which time the *Plan* will pay 100% of the remainder of *covered expenses* for the rest of the benefit period unless stated otherwise.

The following charges do not apply to the out-of-pocket expense limit and are never paid at 100%:

- expenses not covered by the *Plan*
- expenses in excess of amounts covered by the *Plan*
- expenses in excess of customary and reasonable amount or negotiated rate
- expenses by a *nonpreferred provider*
- expenses incurred as a result of failure to obtain pre-certification

MEDICAL BENEFITS	SGMC PROVIDER	ANTHEM GA PREFERRED PROVIDER	NON- PREFERRED PROVIDER
Standard coinsurance paid by the Plan	90%	80%	50%

There are certain emergency situations when a *nonpreferred provider* service will be paid at a *preferred provider* benefit level. Refer to *Preferred Provider or Nonpreferred Provider*, *Exceptions* for details.

MEDICAL BENEFITS	SGMC PROVIDER	ANTHEM GA PREFERRED PROVIDER	NON- PREFERRED PROVIDER
Acupuncture	Not Covered	Not Covered	Not Covered
Allergy Services (refer to Office Visit and Other Services for injections and testing performed in the physician's office)			
Allergy injections	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Allergy testing	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Allergy serum	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Ambulance			
Air	90% after deductible	90% after deductible	Preferred provider benefit applies
Land	90% after deductible	90% after deductible	Preferred provider benefit applies
<b>Applied Behavior Therapy (ABA)</b> (Birth through age 18)	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
	Medical necessity	review after 20 visits	per benefit period.
<b>Bereavement Counseling</b>	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
<b>Birthing Center</b>	Not Applicable	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Blood (Blood storage and transfusions)	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Cardiac Rehabilitation			
Facility	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Physician	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Chemotherapy (pre-certification required)			
Facility	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Physician	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible

MEDICAL BENEFITS	SGMC PROVIDER	ANTHEM GA PREFERRED PROVIDER	NON- PREFERRED PROVIDER
Chiropractic Care			
Office visit, spinal manipulations, adjustments	Not Applicable	80% after deductible	Not Covered
X-rays	Not Applicable	80% after deductible	Not Covered
	Maximum Be	enefit: 25 visits per	Benefit Period
Contraceptives	S	ee Preventive Servic	es
Dialysis Therapy or Treatment (pre-certification required)			
Facility	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Physician	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Diagnostic Services – Major (pre-certification required) (such as MRI, CT Scan, PET Scan)	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Diagnostic Services – Minor (such as X-ray, lab)			
Outpatient facility	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Outpatient Professional Provider	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Physician's office	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Independent lab	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
<b>Durable Medical Equipment</b> (pre-certification required for equipment >\$500)	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Emergency Services -emergency			
Facility	90% after deductible	90% after deductible	Preferred provider benefit applies
Physician	90% after deductible	90% after deductible	Preferred provider benefit applies
Emergency Services – non- emergency			
Facility	90% after deductible	90% after deductible	90% after deductible
Physician	90% after deductible	90% after deductible	90% after deductible

MEDICAL BENEFITS	SGMC PROVIDER	ANTHEM GA PREFERRED PROVIDER	NON- PREFERRED PROVIDER
Extended Care Facility (pre-certification required)	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
	Maximum Bo	enefit: 90 Days per I	Benefit Period
Habilitative Services (Birth through age 18)	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
	therapy for develop	to occupational, spe pmental delay. <i>Medi</i> 20 visits per benefit p	cal necessity review
Hearing			
Routine examination			
Birth through age 18	100% deductible waived	100% deductible waived	Not Covered
Age 19 and older	Not Covered	Not Covered	Not Covered
Hearing aids			
Birth through age 18	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Age 19 and older	Not Covered	Not Covered	Not Covered
	Maximum Benefit: \$3,000 per ear, every 48 months		
Home Health Care (pre-certification required)			
Home health care visits	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Home health care supplies & services	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
IV therapy	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
	Maximum Ber	nefit: 120 Visits per	Benefit Period
Hospice Care			
Inpatient (pre-certification required)	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Outpatient	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Hospital – Inpatient			
Facility (pre-certification required)	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Physician/Surgeon	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
<b>Professional provider</b> services (anesthesia, radiology, pathology, lab)	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible

MEDICAL BENEFITS	SGMC PROVIDER	ANTHEM GA PREFERRED PROVIDER	NON- PREFERRED PROVIDER
Hospital – Outpatient & Ambulatory Surgical Facility (pre-certification required for some procedures)			
Facility			
Surgery	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
No Surgery	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Physician/Surgeon	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
<b>Professional provider</b> services (anesthesia, radiology, pathology, lab)	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Infertility Services			
Diagnostic testing to determine infertility	Paid according to service provided	Paid according to service provided	Paid according to service provided
Medications and treatments	Not Covered	Not Covered	Not Covered
Infusion Therapy (pre-certification required)			
Facility	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Physician	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Mental and Nervous Disorders and Substance Use Disorders			
Inpatient			
Facility (pre-certification required)	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Physician	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Office visit/Clinic visit	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
<b>Partial Confinement</b> (pre-certification required)	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Occupational Therapy Services			
Facility	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Physician	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
	Medical necessity	review after 30 visits	per benefit period.

MEDICAL BENEFITS	SGMC PROVIDER	ANTHEM GA PREFERRED PROVIDER	NON- PREFERRED PROVIDER
Office Visit & Other Services			
Office visit - primary care physician	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Office visit - specialist	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Injections	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Surgery	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	Not Covered
Minor diagnostics- X-ray and lab	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Orthotics	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
	Maximum Benefit: 1 custom-molded shoe insert while covered by this Plan		
Physical Therapy Services			
Facility	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Physician	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
	Medical necessity review after 30 visits per benefit period.		
Podiatry Services	Paid according to service provided	Paid according to service provided	Paid according to service provided
<b>Preadmission Testing</b>	Paid the same as other diagnostic services	Paid the same as other diagnostic services	Paid the same as other diagnostic services
Pregnancy			
Initial pre-natal visit and urinalysis	100% deductible waived	100% deductible waived	50% after deductible
Subsequent routine pre-natal visits	100% deductible waived	100% deductible waived	50% after deductible
Post-natal care	100% deductible waived	100% deductible waived	50% after deductible
Delivery			
Facility	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Physician	Not Applicable	80% after deductible	50% after deductible

MEDICAL BENEFITS	SGMC PROVIDER	ANTHEM GA PREFERRED PROVIDER	NON- PREFERRED PROVIDER
Prescription Drugs			
Drugs Other than Retail Pharmacy	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
	SGMC Provider	Participating Pharmacy	Non- Participating Pharmacy
Retail Pharmacy			
Drugs as required by the <i>Affordable Care Act</i>	100% deductible waived	100% deductible waived	Not Covered
Generic Drugs:			
34-Day Supply	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
60-Day Supply	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Single Source Brand Name:			
34-Day Supply	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
60-Day Supply	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Multiple Source Brand Name:			
34-Day Supply	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
60-Day Supply	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Specialty Drugs (limited to a 34-day supply)	90% after deductible	90% after deductible	80% after deductible
Preventive Care	100% deductible waived	100% deductible waived	Not Covered
Prostate Examinations	100% deductible waived	100% deductible waived	Not Covered
Prostheses	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Radiation Therapy (pre-certification required)			
Facility	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Physician	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible

MEDICAL BENEFITS	SGMC PROVIDER	ANTHEM GA PREFERRED PROVIDER	NON- PREFERRED PROVIDER
Respiratory Therapy			
Facility	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Physician	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Retail Clinic Visit	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Second Surgical Opinion	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Speech Therapy Services			
Facility	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Physician	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
	Medical necessity review after 30 visits per benefit period.		
Temporomandibular Joint Syndrome (TMJ) Treatment (includes intraoral orthotics, prosthetics and therapy)	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Transplants (Organ or Tissue) (pre-certification required)			
Facility	Paid according to service provided	Paid according to service provided	Paid according to service provided
Physician	Paid according to service provided	Paid according to service provided	Paid according to service provided
Travel, lodging and meals	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Urgent Care Center	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible
Vision – Routine Services (Routine vision services required by the Affordable Care Act shall be covered under the Routine Preventive Care benefit)	Not Covered	Not Covered	Not Covered
Weight Loss Services			
Surgical treatment	Not Covered	Not Covered	Not Covered
Non-surgical treatment and programs	Not Covered	Not Covered	Not Covered
Wigs	Not Applicable	80% after deductible	80% after deductible
	Maximum benefit: 1 Wig while covered by this Plan		
Women's Preventive Care	100% deductible waived	100% deductible waived	Not Covered

MEDICAL BENEFITS	SGMC PROVIDER	ANTHEM GA PREFERRED PROVIDER	NON- PREFERRED PROVIDER
All Other Covered Expenses	90% after deductible	80% after deductible	50% after deductible

Refer to Medical Expense Benefit for complete details.

# PREFERRED PROVIDER OR NONPREFERRED PROVIDER

Covered persons have the choice of using either a preferred provider or a nonpreferred provider.

## PREFERRED PROVIDER

A preferred provider is a physician, hospital or ancillary service provider which has an agreement in effect with the Preferred Provider Organization (PPO) to accept a negotiated rate for services rendered to covered persons. In turn, the PPO has an agreement with the plan administrator or claims processor to allow access to negotiated rates for services rendered to covered persons. The PPO's name and/or logo is shown on the front of the covered person's ID card. The preferred provider cannot bill the covered person for any amount in excess of the negotiated rate for covered expenses. Covered persons should contact the employer's Human Resources Department, contact the claims processor, or review the PPO's website for a current listing of preferred providers.

# NONPREFERRED PROVIDER

A nonpreferred provider does not have an agreement in effect with the Preferred Provider Organization. The Plan will allow only the customary and reasonable amount as a covered expense. The Plan will pay its percentage of the customary and reasonable amount for the nonpreferred provider covered expenses. The covered person is responsible for the remaining balance. This results in greater out-of-pocket expenses to the covered person.

Covered expenses for emergency services by a nonpreferred provider shall be paid at the greatest of the following three amounts: the amount negotiated with preferred providers for such covered expenses, the amount determined as the customary and reasonable amount, or the amount that would be paid under Medicare for such emergency services.

# REFERRALS

Referrals to a *nonpreferred provider* are covered as *nonpreferred provider* services, supplies and treatments. It is the responsibility of the *covered person* to assure services to be rendered are performed by *preferred providers* in order to receive the *preferred provider* level of benefits.

#### **EXCEPTIONS**

The following listing of exceptions represents services, supplies or treatments rendered by a *nonpreferred provider* where *covered expenses* shall be payable at the *preferred provider* level of benefits.

- 1. **Emergency services** rendered at a **nonpreferred provider facility** or at a **preferred provider facility** by a **nonpreferred provider**. If the **covered person** is admitted to the **hospital** on an **emergency** basis, **covered expenses** shall be payable at the **preferred provider** level. The in-network benefit will continue for the duration of the hospitalization.
- 2. Nonpreferred anesthesiologist when the facility where such services are rendered is a preferred provider.
- 3. *Nonpreferred* assistant surgeon if the operating surgeon is a *preferred provider*.
- 4. Radiologist or pathologist services for interpretation of x-rays and diagnostic laboratory and surgical pathology tests rendered by a *nonpreferred provider* when the *facility* where such services are rendered is a *preferred provider*.

- 5. Diagnostic laboratory and surgical pathology tests referred to a *nonpreferred provider* by a *preferred provider*.
- 6. While the *covered person* is confined to a *preferred provider hospital*, the *preferred provider physician* requests a consultation from a *nonpreferred provider* or a newborn visit is performed by a *nonpreferred provider*.
- 7. *Medically necessary* specialty services, supplies or treatments which are not available from a provider within the *Preferred Provider Organization*.
- 8. When a covered *dependent* resides outside the service area of the *Preferred Provider Organization*.
- 9. *Covered persons* who do not have access to *preferred providers* within sixty (60) miles of their place of residence, or forty-five (45) miles for maternity care.
- 10. Treatment rendered at a *facility* of the uniformed services.
- 11. Transportation by a *nonpreferred provider* ambulance for a condition that meets the definition of *emergency*.
- 12. Lactation counseling providers.

# TRANSITION OF CARE

In the event that a *covered person* is undergoing treatment from a provider of service that is not in the *preferred provider* network on the date in which the *preferred provider* network was integrated into this *Plan*, then the charges resulting from treatment rendered by that provider will be deemed as having been rendered by a *preferred provider* until the earlier of: the date treatment is concluded (or diagnosis changes); or, the end of ninety (90) days from the date of network integration or change.

If a *covered person* is receiving services for maternity care from a network provider that is not in the *preferred provider* network on the date that the network was integrated into this *Plan*, the charges resulting from services rendered by that provider will be deemed as having been rendered by a *preferred provider* until the date treatment is concluded.

# MEDICAL EXPENSE BENEFIT

This section describes the *covered expenses* of the *Plan*. All *covered expenses* are subject to applicable *Plan* provisions including, but not limited to: deductible, *coinsurance* and *Essential Health Benefits*/non-*Essential Health Benefits* maximum benefit provisions as shown on the *Schedule of Benefits*, unless otherwise indicated. Any portion of an expense *incurred* by the *covered person* for services, supplies or treatment that is greater than the *customary and reasonable amount* for *nonpreferred providers* or *negotiated rate* for *preferred providers* will not be considered a *covered expense* by the *Plan*. Specified preventive care expenses will be considered to be *covered expenses*.

# **DEDUCTIBLES**

The individual deductible is the dollar amount of *covered expense* which each *covered person* must have *incurred* during each calendar year before the *Plan* pays applicable benefits. The individual deductible amount is shown on the *Schedule of Benefits*.

# **COINSURANCE**

The *Plan* pays a specified percentage of *covered expenses* at the *customary and reasonable amount* for *nonpreferred providers*, or the percentage of the *negotiated rate* for *preferred providers*. That percentage is specified on the *Schedule of Benefits*. For *nonpreferred providers*, the *covered person* is responsible for the difference between the percentage the *Plan* paid and one hundred percent (100%) of the billed amount. The *covered person's* portion of the *coinsurance* is applied to the out-of-pocket expense limit.

# OUT-OF-POCKET EXPENSE LIMIT

After the *covered person* has incurred an amount equal to the out-of-pocket expense limit listed on the *Schedule of Benefits* for *covered expenses*, the *Plan* will begin to pay one hundred percent (100%) of *covered expenses* for the remainder of the calendar year.

Out-of-Pocket Expense Limit Exclusions

The following items do not apply toward satisfaction of the calendar year out-of-pocket expense limit and will not be payable at one hundred percent (100%), even if the out-of-pocket expense limit has been satisfied:

- 1. Expenses for services, supplies and treatments not covered by the *Plan*, including charges in excess of the *customary and reasonable amount* or *negotiated rate*, as applicable.
- 2. Nonpreferred provider covered expenses.
- 3. Expenses incurred as a result of a failure to obtain pre-certification.

# MAXIMUM BENEFIT

The maximum benefit for all non-Essential Health Benefits payable on behalf of a covered person is shown on the Schedule of Benefits. The non-Essential Health Benefits maximum benefit applies to the entire time the covered person is covered under the Plan, either as an employee, dependent, alternate recipient or under COBRA. If the covered person's coverage under the Plan terminates and at a later date he again becomes covered under the Plan, the non-Essential Health Benefits maximum benefit will include all benefits paid by the Plan for the covered person during any period of coverage.

The Schedule of Benefits may also contain separate maximum benefit limitations for specified conditions and/or services. Any separate maximum benefit will include all such benefits paid by the Plan for the covered person during

any and all periods of coverage under the *Plan*. No more than the *Essential Health Benefits*/non-*Essential Health Benefits maximum benefit* will be paid for any *covered person* while covered by the *Plan*.

Notwithstanding any provision of the *Plan* to the contrary, all benefits received by an individual under any benefit option, package or coverage under the *Plan* shall be applied toward the applicable *maximum benefit* paid by the *Plan* for any one *covered person* for such option, package or coverage under the *Plan*, and also toward the *maximum benefit* under any other options, packages or coverages under the *Plan* in which the individual may participate in the future.

# HOSPITAL/AMBULATORY SURGICAL FACILITY

### Covered expenses shall include:

- 1. Room and board for treatment in a hospital, including intensive care units, cardiac care units and similar medically necessary accommodations. Covered expenses for room and board shall be limited to the hospital's semiprivate rate. Covered expenses for intensive care or cardiac care units shall be the customary and reasonable amount for nonpreferred providers and the percentage of the negotiated rate for preferred providers. A full private room rate is covered if the private room is necessary for isolation purposes and is not for the convenience of the covered person.
- 2. Miscellaneous *hospital* services, supplies, and treatments including, but not limited to:
  - a. Admission fees, and other fees assessed by the *hospital* for rendering services, supplies and treatments;
  - b. Use of operating, treatment or delivery rooms;
  - c. Anesthesia, anesthesia supplies and its administration by an employee of the *hospital*;
  - d. Medical and surgical dressings and supplies, casts and splints;
  - e. Blood transfusions, including the cost of whole blood, the administration of blood, blood processing and blood derivatives (to the extent blood or blood derivatives are not donated or otherwise replaced):
  - f. Drugs and medicines (except drugs not used or consumed in the *hospital*);
  - g. X-ray and diagnostic laboratory procedures and services;
  - h. Oxygen and other gas therapy and the administration thereof;
  - i. Therapy services.
- 3. Services, supplies and treatments described above furnished by an *ambulatory surgical facility*, including follow-up care provided within seventy-two (72) hours of a procedure.
- 4. Charges for pre-admission testing (x-rays and lab tests) performed within seven (7) days prior to a *hospital* admission which are related to the condition which is necessitating the *confinement*. Such tests shall be payable even if they result in additional medical treatment prior to *confinement* or if they show that *hospital confinement* is not *medically necessary*. Such tests shall not be payable if the same tests are performed again after the *covered person* has been admitted.

# AMBULANCE SERVICES

# Covered expenses shall include:

- 1. Ambulance services for air or ground transportation for the *covered person* from the place of *injury* or serious medical incident to the nearest *hospital* where treatment can be given. Air transportation does not include commercial airline.
- 2. Ambulance service is covered in a non-emergency situation only to transport the *covered person* to or from a *hospital* or between *hospitals* for required treatment when such transportation is certified by the attending *physician* as *medically necessary*. Such transportation is covered only from the initial *hospital* to the nearest *hospital* qualified to render the special treatment.

3. **Emergency** services actually provided by an advance life support unit, even though the unit does not provide transportation.

# EMERGENCY SERVICES/EMERGENCY ROOM SERVICES

**Covered expenses** for **emergency services** in the emergency department of a **hospital** shall be paid in accordance with the *Schedule of Benefits*. **Emergency services** by a **nonpreferred provider** shall be paid as specified in the section, *Preferred Provider or Nonpreferred Provider*, under the subsection, *Nonpreferred Provider*.

Emergency room treatment for conditions that do not meet the definition of *emergency* will be considered non-*emergency* use of the emergency room and will be subject to the terms as shown on the *Schedule of Benefits*.

# URGENT CARE CENTER

**Covered expenses** shall include charges for treatment in an **urgent care center**, payable as specified on the *Schedule* of *Benefits*.

# PHYSICIAN SERVICES AND PROFESSIONAL PROVIDER SERVICES

Covered expenses shall include the following services when performed by a physician or a professional provider:

- 1. Medical treatment, services and supplies including, but not limited to: office visits, *inpatient* visits, *retail clinic visits*, and home visits.
- 2. Surgical treatment. Separate payment will not be made for *inpatient* pre-operative or post-operative care normally provided by a surgeon as part of the surgical procedure.
  - For related operations or procedures performed through the same incision or in the same operative field, *covered expenses* shall include the surgical allowance for the highest paying procedure, plus fifty percent (50%) of the surgical allowance for each additional procedure.
  - When two (2) or more unrelated operations or procedures are performed at the same operative session, *covered expenses* shall include the surgical allowance for each procedure.
- 3. Surgical assistance provided by a *physician* or *professional provider* if it is determined that the condition of the *covered person* or the type of surgical procedure requires such assistance. *Covered expenses* for the services of an assistant surgeon are limited to twenty percent (20%) of the surgical allowance.
- 4. Furnishing or administering anesthetics, other than local infiltration anesthesia, by other than the surgeon or his assistant. However, benefits will be provided for anesthesia services administered by oral and maxillofacial surgeons when such services are rendered in the surgeon's office.
- 5. Consultations requested by the attending *physician* during a *hospital confinement*. Consultations do not include staff consultations that are required by a *hospital's* rules and regulations.
- 6. Radiologist or pathologist services for interpretation of x-rays and laboratory tests necessary for diagnosis and treatment.
- 7. Radiologist or pathologist services for diagnosis or treatment, including radiation therapy and chemotherapy.
- 8. Allergy testing consisting of percutaneous, intracutaneous and patch tests and allergy injections.
- 9. Telemedicine Telephone or internet consultations made by a *covered person* to a *physician*.

# SECOND SURGICAL OPINION

Benefits for a second surgical opinion will be payable according to the *Schedule of Benefits* if an elective surgical procedure (non-emergency surgery) is recommended by the *physician*.

The *physician* rendering the second opinion regarding the *medical necessity* of such surgery must be a board certified specialist in the treatment of the *covered person's illness* or *injury* and must not be affiliated in any way with the *physician* who will be performing the actual surgery.

In the event of conflicting opinions, a third opinion may be obtained. The *Plan* will consider payment for a third opinion the same as a second surgical opinion.

The second surgical opinion benefit includes *physician* services only. Any diagnostic services will be payable under the standard provisions of the *Plan*.

# DIAGNOSTIC SERVICES AND SUPPLIES

**Covered expenses** shall include services and supplies for diagnostic laboratory tests, electronic tests, pathology, ultrasound, nuclear medicine, magnetic imaging and x-rays.

Advanced diagnostic procedures are subject to pre-certification. Failure to obtain pre-certification will result in a denial of benefits as specified in the *Medical Claim Filing Procedure* section of this document. The following procedures require precertification: CAT scan, EGD, MRI and PET scans.

# TRANSPLANT

Transplant procedures are subject to pre-certification. Failure to obtain pre-certification will result in a denial of benefits for the *hospital confinement* as specified in the *Medical Claim Filing Procedure* section of this document.

Services, supplies and treatments in connection with human-to-human organ and tissue transplant procedures will be considered *covered expenses* subject to the following conditions:

- 1. When the recipient is covered under the *Plan*, the *Plan* will pay the recipient's *covered expenses* related to the transplant.
- 2. When the donor is covered under the *Plan*, the *Plan* will pay the donor's *covered expenses* related to the transplant provided the recipient is also covered under the *Plan*. *Covered expenses incurred* by each person will be considered separately for each person.
- 3. Expenses *incurred* by the donor who is not ordinarily covered under the *Plan* according to eligibility requirements will be *covered expenses* to the extent that such expenses are not payable by any other form of health coverage, including any government plan or individual policy of health coverage, and provided the recipient is covered under the *Plan*. The donor's expenses shall be applied to the recipient's *maximum benefit*. In no event will benefits for be payable in excess of the *maximum benefit*.
- 4. Surgical, storage and transportation costs directly related to procurement of an organ or tissue used in a transplant procedure will be covered for each procedure completed. If an organ or tissue is sold rather than donated, the purchase price of such organ or tissue shall not be considered a *covered expense* under the *Plan*.

If a *covered person's* transplant procedure is not performed as scheduled due to the intended recipient's medical condition or death, benefits will be paid for organ or tissue procurement as described above.

Centers of Medical Excellence Program

### **Types of Providers**

The *claims processor* is providing access to the following separate *Centers of Medical Excellence* (CME) networks. The facilities included in each of these *CME* networks are selected to provide the following specified medical services:

**Transplant Facilities.** Transplant facilities have been organized to provide services for the following specified transplants: heart, liver, lung, combination heart-lung, kidney, pancreas, simultaneous pancreas-kidney, or bone marrow/stem cell and similar procedures. Subject to any applicable co-payments or deductibles, *CME* have agreed to a rate they will accept as payment in full for covered services.

## **Definitions**

Centers of Medical Excellence (CME) are health care providers designated by the *claims processor* as a selected facility for specified medical services. A provider participating in a CME network has an agreement in effect with the *claims processor* at the time services are rendered or is available through their affiliate companies or their relationship with the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association. CME agree to accept the maximum allowed amount as payment in full for covered services. A participating provider in the Prudent Buyer Plan network is not necessarily a *CME*.

**Transplant Centers of Medical Excellence maximum allowed amount (CME maximum allowed amount)** is the fee *CME* agree to accept as payment for covered services. It is usually lower than their normal charge. CME maximum allowed amounts are determined by Centers of Medical Excellence Agreements.

#### **Travel Expenses**

Covered expenses include transportation, lodging and meals for the covered recipient and one (1) other person (two (2) other persons if the recipient is an eligible *dependent* child) to accompany the recipient to and from a Centers of Medical Excellence *facility* and for lodging and meals at or near the *facility* where the recipient is confined, provided the recipient resides more than one hundred (100) miles from the Centers of Medical Excellence *facility*.

# **PREGNANCY**

Covered expenses shall include services, supplies and treatment related to pregnancy or complications of pregnancy for a covered female employee or a covered female spouse of a covered employee.

In the event of early discharge from a *hospital* or *birthing center* following delivery, the *Plan* will cover two (2) Registered Nurse home visits.

The *Plan* shall cover services, supplies and treatments for *medically necessary* abortions when the life of the mother would be endangered by continuation of the *pregnancy*; or when the *pregnancy* is a result of rape or incest for a covered female *employee* or a covered female spouse of a covered *employee*.

Complications from an abortion for a covered female *employee* or a covered female spouse of an *employee* shall be a *covered expense* whether or not the abortion is a *covered expense*.

# BIRTHING CENTER

**Covered expenses** shall include services, supplies and treatments rendered at a **birthing center** provided the **physician** in charge is acting within the scope of his license and the **birthing center** meets all legal requirements. Services of a midwife acting within the scope of his license or registration are a **covered expense** provided that the state in which such service is performed has legally recognized midwife delivery.

# **STERILIZATION**

**Covered expenses** shall include elective surgical sterilization procedures for the covered male **employee** or covered male spouse. **Covered expenses** for elective surgical sterilization procedures for women shall be considered under the subsection, **Women's Preventive Services**. Reversal of surgical sterilization is not a **covered expense**.

# INFERTILITY SERVICES

Covered expenses shall include expenses for infertility testing for employees and their covered spouse.

**Covered expenses** for infertility testing are limited to the actual testing for a diagnosis of infertility. Any outside intervention procedures (e.g., artificial insemination) will not be considered a **covered expense**.

### CONTRACEPTIVES

FDA approved contraceptive methods shall be considered under the subsection, *Women's Preventive Services*. Charges for contraceptives that require a prescription and are dispensed by a pharmacy are covered under the subsection *Medical Expense Benefit, Prescription Drugs*.

# WELL NEWBORN CARE

The *Plan* shall cover well newborn care. *Covered expenses* for services, supplies or treatment of the newborn child shall be considered charges of the child and as such, subject to a separate deductible and *coinsurance* from the mother.

Such care shall include, but is not limited to:

- 1. **Physician** services
- 2. *Hospital* services
- 3. Circumcision

# ROUTINE PREVENTIVE CARE/WELLNESS BENEFITS

Routine Preventive Care/Wellness Benefits shall include:

- 1. Evidence-based supplies or services that have in effect a rating of A or B in the current recommendations of the United States Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF).
- 2. Annual routine mammograms for women age forty (40) and over.
- 3. Colonoscopies, including pre-procedure consultation, bowel preparation kits and pathology exam, for adults age fifty (50) and over. *Covered expenses* shall also include Cologuard® as an alternative to colonoscopy, when prescribed by a *physician*.
- 4. Routine immunizations, as recommended by the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices of the Centers of Disease Control and Prevention for infants and children through age six (6); children and adolescents age seven (7) through eighteen (18) years and adults age nineteen (19) years and older.
- 5. Evidence-informed Routine Preventive Care and screenings as provided by the Health Resources Services Administration for infants, children, adolescents and adult women, unless included in the USPSTF recommendations.
- 6. Screening for tobacco use and two (2) tobacco cessation attempts per year and tobacco cessation medications for a ninety (90) day treatment regimen when prescribed by a *physician*.
- 7. Annual routine prostate examination and prostate specific antigen (PSA) test.

The *Plan* will apply reasonable medical management techniques to determine the appropriate frequency, method, treatment, or setting for a preventive item or service to the extent that such techniques are not specified in the recommendations or guidelines.

The *Plan* will not provide coverage for the above referenced routine preventive care/wellness services, immunizations, screenings or supplies until the *Plan* year that begins on or after one year after the date such recommendation or guideline referenced above is issued.

# WOMEN'S PREVENTIVE SERVICES

*Covered expenses* shall include the following preventive services recommended in guidelines issued by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services' Health Resources and Services Administration:

- 1. Annual well-woman office visits to obtain preventive care;
- 2. Screening for gestational diabetes in a pregnant woman;
- 3. Human papillomavirus (HPV) DNA testing no more frequently than every three (3) years for a woman age thirty (30) and above;
- 4. Annual counseling for sexually transmitted infections for a sexually active woman;
- 5. Annual counseling and screening for human immune deficiency virus for a sexually active woman;
- 6. FDA approved contraceptive methods, sterilization procedures and patient education and counseling for a woman with reproductive capacity. Charges for contraceptives that require a prescription and are dispensed by a pharmacy are covered under the subsection *Medical Expense Benefit*, *Prescription Drugs*, including but not limited to, oral contraceptives (birth control pills), injectable contraceptives (Depo-Provera), patch and vaginal contraceptives, diaphragms;
- 7. Breastfeeding support, supplies and counseling, to include the cost of rental or purchase, whichever is less costly, of breastfeeding equipment; and
- 8. Annual screening and counseling for interpersonal and domestic violence.
- 9. Genetic counseling for women identified to be at higher risk of having a potentially harmful gene mutation, and, if indicated, BRCA testing for harmful BRCA mutations.

The *Plan* will apply reasonable medical management techniques to determine the appropriate frequency, method, treatment, or setting for a preventive item or service to the extent that such techniques are not specified in the recommendations or guidelines.

The *Plan* will not provide coverage for the above referenced women's preventive services until the *Plan* year that begins on or after one year after the date such recommendation or guideline referenced above is issued.

# THERAPY SERVICES

Therapy services must be ordered by a *physician* to aid restoration of normal function lost due to *illness* or *injury*, for congenital anomaly.

#### Covered expenses shall include:

- 1. Services of a *professional provider* for physical therapy, occupational therapy or speech therapy.
- 2. Respiratory therapy.
- 3. Radiation therapy and chemotherapy, subject to pre-certification.
- 4. Dialysis therapy or treatment, subject to pre-certification.

- 5. Infusion therapy, subject to pre-certification.
- 6. Psoralen and Ultraviolet A (PUVA) therapy.

Covered expenses includes habilitative services, limited to physical, occupational and speech therapy, performed for a covered person with developmental delays.

# AUTISM SPECTRUM DISORDERS

Covered expenses includes Applied Behavior Analysis (ABA) prescribed or ordered by a *physician*. Applied Behavior Analysis means the design, implementation, and evaluation of environmental modifications, using behavioral stimuli and consequences, to produce socially significant improvement in human behavior, including the use of direct observation, measurement, and functional analysis of the relationship between environment and behavior for children with autism spectrum disorder. Autism spectrum disorder means a physical, mental, or cognitive illness or disorder which includes any of the pervasive developmental disorders as defined by the most recent edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders ("DSM") published by the American Psychiatric Association, including Autistic disorder, Asperger's disorder, Pervasive Developmental Disorder not otherwise specified, childhood disintegrative disorder and Rett syndrome.

# ATTENTION DEFICIT DISORDER (ADD) / ATTENTION DEFICIT HYPERKINETIC SYNDROME

Covered expenses shall be limited as follows:

- 1. Medical services including office visits and laboratory studies, related to the ongoing monitoring of drug therapy is eligible for coverage as a medical benefit.
- 2. Psychological diagnostic testing which leads to the diagnosis of ADD/ADHD is eligible for benefit coverage under the *outpatient* mental disorders benefits provision.
- 3. Mental health services (psychiatric therapy, social skills training, behavioral management or remedial/special education) for the treatment of the established diagnosis of ADD/ADHD is not covered.

# EXTENDED CARE FACILITY

**Extended care facility** services, supplies and treatments shall be a **covered expense** provided the **covered person** is under a **physician**'s continuous care and the **physician** certifies that the **covered person** must have twenty-four (24) hours-per-day nursing care.

## Covered expenses shall include:

- 1. **Room and board** (including regular daily services, supplies and treatments furnished by the **extended care facility**) limited to the **facility**'s average **semiprivate** room rate; and
- 2. Other services, supplies and treatment ordered by a *physician* and furnished by the *extended care facility* for *inpatient* medical care.

Extended care facility benefits are subject to the Essential Health Benefits maximum benefit specified on the Schedule of Benefits.

# HOME HEALTH CARE

Home health care enables the *covered person* to receive treatment in his home for an *illness* or *injury* instead of being confined in a *hospital* or *extended care facility*. *Covered expenses* shall include the following services and supplies provided by a *home health care agency*:

- 1. Part-time or intermittent nursing care by a *nurse*;
- 2. Physical, respiratory, occupational or speech therapy;
- 3. Part-time or intermittent *home health aide services* for a *covered person* who is receiving covered nursing or therapy services;
- 4. Medical social service consultations;
- 5. Nutritional guidance by a registered dietitian and nutritional supplements such as diet substitutes administered intravenously or through hyperalimentation as determined to be *medically necessary*.

Covered expenses shall be subject to the Essential Health Benefits maximum benefit specified on the Schedule of Benefits.

A visit by a member of a home health care team and four (4) hours of *home health aide service* will each be considered one (1) home health care visit.

No home health care benefits will be provided for dietitian services (except as may be specifically provided herein), homemaker services, maintenance therapy, dialysis treatment, food or home delivered meals, rental or purchase of *durable medical equipment* or prescription or non-prescription drugs or biologicals.

# HOSPICE CARE

**Hospice** care is a health care program providing a coordinated set of services rendered at home, in *outpatient* settings, or in *facility* settings for a *covered person* suffering from a condition that has a terminal prognosis.

Hospice care will be covered only if the covered person's attending physician certifies that:

- 1. The *covered person* is terminally ill, and
- 2. The *covered person* has a life expectancy of six (6) months or less.

## Covered expenses shall include:

- 1. *Confinement* in a *hospice* to include ancillary charges and *room and board*.
- 2. Services, supplies and treatment provided by a *hospice* to a *covered person* in a home setting.
- 3. **Physician** services and/or nursing care by a **nurse**.
- 4. Physical therapy, occupational therapy, speech therapy or respiratory therapy.
- 5. Nutrition services to include nutritional advice by a registered dietitian, and nutritional supplements such as diet substitutes administered intravenously or through hyperalimentation as determined to be *medically necessary*.
- 6. Counseling services provided through the *hospice*.
- 7. Respite care by an aide who is employed by the *hospice* for up to four (4) hours per day. (Respite care provides care of the *covered person* to allow temporary relief to family members or friends from the duties of caring for the *covered person*).
- 8. Bereavement counseling as a supportive service to *covered persons* in the terminally ill *covered person's* immediate family. Benefits will be payable, provided on the date immediately before death, the terminally ill person was covered under the *Plan* and receiving *hospice* care benefits.

Charges *incurred* during periods of remission are not eligible under this provision of the *Plan*. Any *covered expense* paid under *hospice* benefits will not be considered a *covered expense* under any other provision of the *Plan*.

# **DURABLE MEDICAL EQUIPMENT**

**Durable medical equipment** with a purchase or rental fee of \$500 or more in is subject to pre-certification. Failure to obtain pre-certification shall result in a denial of benefits as specified in the *Medical Claim Filing Procedure* section of this document

Rental or purchase, whichever is less costly (except as noted below for oxygen concentrators), of *medically necessary durable medical equipment* which is prescribed by a *physician* and required for therapeutic use by the *covered person* shall be a *covered expense*.

A charge for the purchase or rental of *durable medical equipment* is considered *incurred* on the date the equipment is received/delivered. *Durable medical equipment* that is received/delivered after the termination date of a *covered person's* coverage under the *Plan* is not covered. Repair or replacement of purchased *durable medical equipment* which is *medically necessary* due to normal use or a physiological change in the patient's condition will be considered a *covered expense*.

Equipment containing features of an aesthetic nature or features of a medical nature which are not required by the *covered person's* condition, or where there exists a reasonably feasible and medically appropriate alternative piece of equipment which is less costly than the equipment furnished, will be covered based on the usual charge for the equipment which meets the *covered person's* medical needs.

Ongoing rental charges for oxygen concentrators shall be a *covered expense*, provided the equipment is determined to be *medically necessary* for the treatment of chronic conditions or upon diagnosis of severe lung disease or other hypoxia related symptoms or findings.

Covered expenses for the rental of breastfeeding equipment shall be considered under the subsection, Women's Preventive Services.

# **PROSTHESES**

The initial purchase of a prosthesis (other than dental) provided for functional reasons when replacing all or part of a missing body part (including contiguous tissue) or to replace all or part of the function of a permanently inoperative or malfunctioning body organ shall be a *covered expense*. A charge for the purchase of a prosthesis is considered *incurred* on the date the prosthesis is received/delivered. A prosthesis that is received/delivered after the termination date of a *covered person's* coverage under the *Plan* is not covered. Repair or replacement of a prosthesis which is *medically necessary* due to normal use or a physiological change in the patient's condition will be considered a *covered expense*.

# **ORTHOTICS**

Orthotic devices and appliances (a rigid or semi-rigid supportive device, including custom/molded foot orthotics, which restricts or eliminates motion for a weak or diseased body part), including initial purchase, fitting and repair shall be a *covered expense*. Orthopedic shoes or corrective shoes, unless they are an integral part of a leg brace, and other supportive devices for the feet shall not be covered.

Custom-molded shoe inserts are limited to one (1) while covered by this *Plan*.

# DENTAL SERVICES

**Covered expenses** shall include repair of sound natural teeth or surrounding tissue provided it is the result of an *injury*. Damage to the teeth as a result of chewing or biting shall not be considered an *injury* under this benefit.

Covered expenses shall include charges for oral surgery such as the excision of partially or completely unerupted impacted teeth, excision of the entire tooth, closed or open reduction of fractures or dislocations of the jaw, and other incision or excision procedures performed on the gums and tissues of the mouth when not performed in conjunction with the extraction of teeth.

Covered expenses shall include removal of all teeth at an *inpatient* or *outpatient hospital* or dentist's office, if removal of the teeth is part of standard medical treatment that is required before the *covered person* can undergo radiation therapy for a covered medical condition.

**Facility** charges for oral surgery or dental treatment that ordinarily could be performed in the provider's office will be covered only if the **covered person** has a concurrent hazardous medical condition that prohibits performing the treatment safely in an office setting.

# TEMPOROMANDIBULAR JOINT DYSFUNCTION

Surgical and non-surgical treatment of temporomandibular joint dysfunction (TMJ) or myofascial pain syndrome shall be a *covered expense*, but shall not include orthodontia even if prescribed by a *physician* or *dentist*.

# ORTHOGNATHIC DISORDERS

Surgical and non-surgical treatment of orthogonathic disorders shall be a *covered expense*, but shall not include orthodontia or prosthetic devices prescribed by a *physician* or *dentist*.

# SPECIAL EQUIPMENT AND SUPPLIES

Covered expenses shall include medically necessary special equipment and supplies including, but not limited to: casts; splints; braces; trusses; surgical and orthopedic appliances; colostomy and ileostomy bags and supplies required for their use; catheters; blood sugar measurement devices; allergy serums; crutches; electronic pacemakers; oxygen and the administration thereof; the initial pair of eyeglasses or contact lenses due to cataract surgery; soft lenses or sclera shells intended for use in the treatment of illness or injury of the eye; support stockings, such as Jobst stockings; a wig or hairpiece when required due to chemotherapy, limited to one (1) while covered by the Plan; surgical dressings and other medical supplies ordered by a professional provider in connection with medical treatment, but not common first aid supplies.

# COSMETIC/RECONSTRUCTIVE SURGERY

Cosmetic surgery or reconstructive surgery shall be a covered expense provided:

- 1. A *covered person* receives an *injury* as a result of an *accident* and as a result requires surgery. *Cosmetic* or *reconstructive surgery* and treatment must be for the purpose of restoring the *covered person* to his normal function immediately prior to the *accident*.
- 2. It is required to correct a congenital anomaly, for example, a birth defect, for a child.

#### GENDER DYSPHORIA

Covered expenses shall include treatment provided by a professional provider for gender dysphoria, a disorder characterized by the specific diagnostic criteria classified in the current edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders published by the American Psychiatric Association. Treatment includes medically necessary psychotherapy, hormone therapy, prescription drugs and surgery. Cosmetic services, including the following, are not covered:

- 1. Abdominoplasty;
- 2. Blepharoplasty;

- 3. Breast enlargement, including augmentation mammoplasty and breast implants;
- 4. Body contouring such as lipoplasty or liposuction;
- 5. Brow lift;
- 6. Calf implants;
- 7. Cheek, chin, nose implants;
- 8. Electrolysis;
- 9. Injection of fillers or neurotoxins;
- 10. Face lift, forehead lift or neck tightening;
- 11. Facial bone remodeling;
- 12. Hair removal;
- 13. Hair transplantation;
- 14. Jaw reduction or jaw contouring;
- 15. Laryngoplasty;
- 16. Lip augmentation;
- 17. Lip reduction;
- 18. Mastopexy;
- 19. Pectoral implants for chest masculinization;
- 20. Removal of redundant skin;
- 21. Rhinoplasty;
- 22. Skin resurfacing;
- 23. Thyroid cartilage reduction;
- 24. Voice modification surgery;
- 25. Voice lessons and voice therapy.

# MASTECTOMY (WOMEN'S HEALTH AND CANCER RIGHTS ACT OF 1998)

The *Plan* intends to comply with the provisions of the federal law known as the Women's Health and Cancer Rights Act of 1998.

Covered expenses will include eligible charges related to medically necessary mastectomy.

For a *covered person* who elects breast reconstruction in connection with such mastectomy, *covered expenses* will include:

- reconstruction of a surgically removed breast, including nipple and areola reconstruction and repigmentation;
   and
- 2. surgery and reconstruction of the other breast to produce a symmetrical appearance.

Prostheses (and *medically necessary* replacements) and physical complications from all stages of mastectomy, including lymphedemas will also be considered *covered expenses* following all *medically necessary* mastectomies.

# MENTAL & NERVOUS DISORDERS AND SUBSTANCE USE DISORDER

The Plan will pay for medically necessary covered expenses for inpatient and outpatient treatment, of mental and nervous disorders and substance use disorder in a hospital or treatment center by a physician or professional provider.

### Covered expenses shall include:

- 1. Inpatient hospital confinement;
- 2. Individual psychotherapy;
- 3. Group psychotherapy;
- 4. Psychological testing;
- 5. Electro-Convulsive therapy (electroshock treatment) or convulsive drug therapy, including anesthesia when administered concurrently with the treatment by the same *professional provider*.
- 6. Partial confinement.

# PRESCRIPTION DRUGS

The *Plan* shall cover prescription drugs as specified on the *Schedule of Benefits*. Such drugs must be approved by the Food and Drug Administration and must be dispensed by a licensed pharmacist, *physician* or *dentist*, and *medically necessary* in the treatment of an *illness* or *injury*.

Pharmacy Option

Participating pharmacies have contracted with the Plan to charge covered persons reduced fees for covered prescription drugs.

The *deductible* and/or *coinsurance* is applied to each covered pharmacy drug charge and is shown on the *Schedule of Benefits*. Any one prescription is limited to a thirty-four (34) day supply or sixty (60) day supply. Maintenance drugs (drugs which are prescribed for long-term usage) may be dispensed in a ninety (90) day supply.

If a drug is purchased from a *nonparticipating pharmacy* or a *participating pharmacy* when the *covered person's* ID card is not used, the *covered person* must pay the entire cost of the prescription, and then submit the receipt to the *pharmacy benefit manager* for reimbursement. If a *nonparticipating pharmacy* is used, the *covered person* will be responsible for the difference in cost between the *participating pharmacy* and *nonparticipating pharmacy*.

When the out-of-pocket expense limit is reached, prescription drugs will be paid at 100%.

#### Covered Prescription Drugs

- 1. Drugs prescribed by a *physician* that require a prescription either by federal or state law, including injectables and insulin, except drugs excluded by the *Plan*.
- 2. Compounded prescriptions containing at least one prescription ingredient with a therapeutic quantity. All non-sterile compounds must be filled at Orchard Compound Program. Non-sterile compounds will be reviewed if greater than \$300 per 30 day supply (or any high cost ingredient over \$500). Sterile compounds can be filled at Retail Pharmacies.
- 3. Insulin, insulin needles and syringes, lancets and devices, glucose testing strips, urine testing strips, glucagon injectable and diabetic supplies, however *covered expenses* shall not include blood monitoring units.

- 4. Contraceptives except contraceptive devices such as IUDs and implants, female condoms and over-the-counter contraceptives such as spermicides, sponges and condoms.
- 5. Routine preventive drugs as required by the *Affordable Care Act*.
- 6. Breast cancer prevention drugs including Tamoxifen, Raloxifen and Evista.
- 7. Vaccinations and toxoids.
- 8. Smoking deterrents including Zyban, Nicotrol, Chantix.
- 9. Acne medications including Tazarotene (Tazorac) and Tretinoins (Retin A and Tretin-X), for *covered persons* age twenty-one (21) and under.
- 10. Acne medication including Benzoyl Peroxide, Minocycline, Tetracycline, Adapalenes (Differin), and Isotretinoins (Accutane, Amnesteem).
- 11. Prilosec OTC (over-the-counter).
- 12. ADD and ADHD medication.
- 13. Anticoagulants (blood thinners).
- 14. AIDs and HIV medications.
- 15. Allergens and Allergy injections.
- 16. Emergency allergic reaction kits.
- 17. Growth hormones.
- 18. Immunosuppressants.
- 19. Migraine medications.
- 20. Injectable B12.
- 21. Injectable Testosterone.
- Any other drug which, under the applicable state law, may be dispensed only upon the written prescription of a *qualified prescriber*.

#### Limits To This Benefit

This benefit applies only when a *covered person* incurs a covered prescription drug charge. The covered drug charge for any one prescription will be limited to:

- 1. Refills only up to the number of times specified by a *physician*.
- 2. Refills up to one year from the date of order by a *physician*.

# Expenses Not Covered

- 1. A drug or medicine that can legally be purchased without a written prescription. This does not apply to injectable insulin or routine preventive drugs as required by the *Affordable Care Act*.
- 2. Devices of any type, even though such devices may require a prescription. These include, but are not limited to: therapeutic devices, artificial appliances, braces, support garments, or any similar device.
- 3. Immunization agents or biological sera, blood or blood plasma.
- 4. A drug or medicine labeled: "Caution limited by federal law to *investigational* use."

- 5. Experimental drugs and medicines, even though a charge is made to the covered person.
- 6. Any charge for the administration of a covered prescription drug.
- 7. Any drug or medicine that is consumed or administered at the place where it is dispensed.
- 8. A drug or medicine that is to be taken by the *covered person*, in whole or in part, while *hospital* confined. This includes being confined in any institution that has a *facility* for dispensing drugs.
- 9. A charge for prescription drugs which may be properly received without charge under local, state or federal programs.
- 10. A charge for hypodermic syringes and/or needles (other than insulin).
- 11. A charge for infertility medication.
- 12. A charge for contraceptive devices such as IUDs and implants, female condoms and over-the-counter contraceptives such as spermicides, sponges and condoms.
- 13. A charge for legend vitamins, except Mephyton.
- 14. A charge for minerals.
- 15. A charge for fluoride supplements, except as required by the United States Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) A & B recommendations.
- 16. A charge for medications that are cosmetic in nature (*i.e.*, treating hair loss, wrinkles, etc.).
- 17. A charge for weight loss drugs.
- 18. A charge for Levonorgestrel (Norplant implants).
- 19. A charge for Hematinics.
- 20. A charge for drugs used in the treatment of erectile dysfunction (*i.e.*, Viagra).
- 21. A charge for Abortifacients.
- 22. A charge for nutrients and dietary supplements such as Deplin.
- A charge for non-legend drugs, other than as specifically listed herein or as required by the United States Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) A & B recommendations.

# Specialty Pharmacy Program

*Employees* and their covered *dependents* who take specialty biotech injectables and oral medications must enroll in the Specialty Pharmacy Program to receive continued coverage for their specialty drugs. Specialty drugs include select injectable and oral medications for the following conditions:

- 1. Allergic Asthma
- 2. Crohn's disease
- 3. Enzyme replacement for Lysosomal Storage Disorder
- 4. Gaucher disease
- 5. Growth hormone disorders
- 6. Hematopoietics

- 7. Hemophilia, Von Willebrand disease and related bleeding disorders
- 8. Hepatitis C
- 9. Hormonal therapies
- 10. Immune deficiencies
- 11. Multiple Sclerosis
- 12. Oncology
- 13. Osteoarthritis
- 14. Psoriasis
- 15. Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension
- 16. Pulmonary disease
- 17. Renal disease
- 18. Respiratory Syncytial Virus
- 19. Rheumatoid Arthritis
- 20. Other Disorders

To take advantage of this program, the *covered person* will need to transfer the related prescription to South Georgia Medical Center Pharmacy or Orchard Specialty Pharmacy.

Specialty drugs may be subject to prior authorization. For detailed information on the prior authorization process, refer to the subsection, *Prior Authorization Program* below.

Notice of Authorized Representative

The *covered person* may provide the *plan administrator* (or its designee) with a written authorization for an authorized representative to represent and act on behalf of a *covered person* and consent to release of information related to the *covered person* to the authorized representative with respect to a claim for benefits or an appeal. Authorization forms may be obtained from the Human Resource Department.

Appealing an Adverse Benefit Determination on a Post-Service Prescription Drug Claim

A *covered person*, or the *covered person's* authorized representative, may request a review of a denied claim by making written request to the *claims processor* within one hundred eighty (180) calendar days from receipt of notification of the *adverse benefit determination* and stating the reasons the *covered person* feels the claim should not have been denied.

The following describes the review process and rights of the *covered person* for a full and fair review:

- 1. The *covered person* has the right to submit documents, information and comments and to present evidence and testimony.
- 2. The *covered person* has the right to access, free of charge, *relevant information* to the claim for benefits.
- 3. Before a final *adverse benefit determination* on appeal is rendered, the *covered person* will be provided, free of charge, with any new or additional rationale or evidence considered, relied upon, or generated by the *Plan* in connection with the claim. Such information will be provided as soon as possible and sufficiently in advance of the notice of final internal *adverse benefit determination* to give the *covered person* an opportunity to respond. The period for providing notice of final determination on appeal will be tolled until the earliest of the following dates:
  - a. The date the *covered person* responds to the new or additional rationale or evidence; or

- b. Three (3) weeks from the date the new or additional rationale or evidence was mailed to the *covered person*.
- 4. The review takes into account all information submitted by the *covered person*, even if it was not considered in the initial benefit determination.
- 5. The review by the *claims processor* will not afford deference to the original *adverse benefit determination*.
- 6. The *claims processor* will not be:
  - a. The individual who originally denied the claim, nor
  - b. Subordinate to the individual who originally denied the claim.
- 7. If the original *adverse benefit determination* was, in whole or in part, based on medical judgment:
  - a. The *claims processor* will consult with a *professional provider* who has appropriate training and experience in the field involving the medical judgment; and
  - b. The *professional provider* utilized by the *claims processor* will be neither:
    - (i.) An individual who was consulted in connection with the original *adverse benefit determination*, nor
    - (ii.) A subordinate of any other *professional provider* who was consulted in connection with the original *adverse benefit determination*.
- 8. If requested, the *claims processor* will identify the medical or vocational expert(s) who gave advice in connection with the original *adverse benefit determination*, whether or not the advice was relied upon.

Notice of Benefit Determination on a Post-Service Prescription Drug Claim Appeal

The *plan administrator* (or its designee) shall provide the *covered person* (or authorized representative) with a written notice of the appeal decision within sixty (60) calendar days of receipt of a written request for the appeal.

If the appeal is denied, the Notice of Appeal Decision will contain an explanation of the Decision, including:

- 1. The specific reasons for the *adverse benefit determination*.
- 2. Reference to specific *Plan* provisions on which the *adverse benefit determination* is based.
- 3. A statement that the *covered person* has the right to access, free of charge, *relevant information* to the claim for benefits.
- 4. A statement of the *covered person's* right to request an external review and a description of the process for requesting such a review.
- 5. If an internal rule, guideline, protocol or other similar criterion was relied upon, the Notice of Appeal Decision will contain either:
  - a. A copy of that criterion, or
  - A statement that such criterion was relied upon and will be supplied free of charge, upon request.
- 6. If the *adverse benefit determination* was based on *medical necessity*, *experimental/investigational* treatment or similar exclusion or limit, the *plan administrator* (or its designee) will supply either:
  - a. An explanation of the scientific or clinical judgment, applying the terms of the *Plan* to the claimant's medical circumstances, or
  - b. A statement that such explanation will be supplied free of charge, upon request.

#### ROUTINE PATIENT COSTS FOR APPROVED CLINICAL TRIALS

**Covered expenses** shall include charges for "routine patient costs" incurred by a "qualified individual" participating in an *approved clinical trial*. "Routine patient costs" do not include:

- 1. An investigational item, device or service;
- 2. An item or service provided solely to satisfy data collection and analysis needs, which are not used in the direct clinical management of the patient; or,
- 3. A service that is clearly inconsistent with widely accepted and established standards of care for a particular diagnosis.

"Life-threatening disease or condition" means any disease or condition from which the likelihood of death is probable unless the course of the disease or condition is interrupted.

"Qualified Individual" means a *covered person* who is eligible to participate in an *approved clinical trial* according to the trial protocol with respect to the treatment of cancer or another "life-threatening disease or condition" and either;

- 1. The referring health care professional is a participating health care *provider* and has concluded that the *covered person's* participation in such trial would be appropriate; or,
- 2. The *covered person* provides medical and scientific information establishing that the *covered person's* participation in such trial would be appropriate.

"Routine patient costs" include all items and services consistent with the coverage provide by the *Plan* that is typically covered for a covered person who is not enrolled in a clinical trial.

#### OFF-LABEL DRUG USE

**Covered expenses** shall include charges for the use of an FDA-approved drug for a purpose other than that for which it is approved, but only when the drug is not excluded by the **Plan** and the **plan sponsor** determines in its sole discretion that the drug is appropriate and generally accepted for the condition being treated.

#### PODIATRY SERVICES

**Covered expenses** shall include surgical podiatry services, including incision and drainage of infected tissues of the foot, removal of lesions of the foot, removal or débridement of infected toenails, surgical removal of nail root, and treatment of fractures or dislocations of bones of the foot.

#### HEARING AID BENEFIT

Covered expenses shall include hearing aids for covered persons eighteen (18) years of age or younger as follows:

- 1. Coverage subject to the non-Essential Health Benefits maximum benefit as specified on the Schedule of Benefits.
- 2. If the hearing aid or aids is inadequate for the needs of the *covered person* and the hearing aids cannot be adequately repaired or adjusted, the hearing aid or aids may be replaced. Coverage for the replacement shall be offered within two (2) months from the date it is determined that the hearing aid or aids cannot be repaired or adjusted.
- 3. Coverage includes medically necessary services and supplies, including: the initial hearing aid evaluation, fitting, dispensing, programming, servicing, repairs, follow-up maintenance, adjustments, ear molds, ear mold impressions, auditory training, probe microphone measurements to ensure appropriate gain and output, and verifying benefit from the system selected according to accepted professional standards. Such services shall be covered on a continuous basis, as needed, during each 48 month coverage period not to exceed the non-Essential Health Benefits maximum benefit as specified on the Schedule of Benefits per hearing impaired ear or for the duration of the hearing aid warranty, whichever period is longer.
- 4. The *covered person* may choose a higher priced hearing aid or aids and to pay the difference between the price of the hearing aid or aids and the benefit amount without financial penalty to the *covered person* or to the provider of the hearing aid.
- 5. The *covered person* may purchase his or her hearing aid or aids through any licensed audiologist or licensed hearing aid dealer or dispenser in Georgia.

#### PRIVATE DUTY NURSING

**Medically necessary** services of a private duty **nurse** on an **outpatient** basis through home health care shall be a **covered expense**. **Outpatient** private duty nursing care on a twenty-four (24) hour shift basis is not covered.

#### CHIROPRACTIC CARE

Covered expenses include initial consultation, x-rays and treatment (but not maintenance care), subject to the non-Essential Health Benefits maximum benefit shown on the Schedule of Benefits.

#### PATIENT EDUCATION

Covered expenses shall include medically necessary patient education programs including, but not limited to diabetic education and ostomy care.

Diabetic self-management education is limited to visits for the diagnosis of diabetes, when a *physician* diagnoses a significant change in the *covered person's* symptoms or conditions that necessitates changes in the *covered person's* self-management, or where reeducation or refresher education is necessary. Coverage includes home visits when *medically necessary*.

The diabetic education must be provided by a *physician* or other licensed health care provider, or his or her staff, as part of an office visit for diabetes diagnosis or treatment, or by a certified diabetes nurse educator, certified nutritionist, certified dietitian or registered dietitian, upon the referral of a physician or other licensed health care provider.

Covered expenses for patient education for contraception or lactation training shall be considered under the subsection, Women's Preventive Services.

#### **SURCHARGES**

Any surcharge or assessment (by whatever name called) on *covered expenses*, required by state or federal law to be paid by the *Plan* for services, supplies and/or treatments rendered by a health care provider shall be a *covered expense* subject to the *covered person's* obligations under the *Plan*.

#### OUTPATIENT CARDIAC/PULMONARY REHABILITATION PROGRAMS

**Covered expenses** shall include charges for qualified **medically necessary outpatient** cardiac/pulmonary rehabilitation programs.

Cardiac rehabilitation services must be rendered:

- a. under the supervision of a *physician*;
- b. in connection with a myocardial infarction, coronary, occlusion or coronary bypass surgery;
- c. initiated within twelve (12) weeks after other treatment for the medical condition ends; and
- d. in a medical care *facility* as defined by this *Plan*.

#### SLEEP DISORDERS

*Covered expenses* shall include *medically necessary* charges for sleep studies and treatment of sleep apnea and other sleep disorders, including charges for sleep apnea monitors.

#### MEDICAL FOODS

Covered expenses shall include the following, provided it is the sole source of nutrition for the covered person:

- Infant formula administered through a tube.
- Supplies related to enteral and parenteral feedings, provided the feedings are prescribed by a *physician*.

Ketogenic diets for epilepsy, nutritional-based therapy for substance abuse disorder, IV iron therapy, and non-prescription medicines, shall not be *a covered expense*, even if prescribed by or administered by a *physician*.

# PLAN EXCLUSIONS

The *Plan* will not provide benefits for any of the items listed in this section, regardless of *medical necessity* or recommendation of a *physician* or *professional provider*.

- 1. Charges for services, supplies or treatment for the reversal of surgical sterilization procedures.
- 2. Charges for services, supplies or treatment related to the treatment of infertility and artificial reproductive procedures, including, but not limited to: artificial insemination, invitro fertilization, surrogate mother (unless the surrogate is a *covered person*, in which case expenses under subsection *Woman's Preventive Services* and/or *Pregnancy*, will be covered in accordance with this *Plan's* provisions), fertility drugs, embryo implantation, or gamete intrafallopian transfer (GIFT).
- 3. Charges for treatment or surgery for sexual dysfunction or inadequacies unless related to or organic *illness*.
- 4. Charges for *hospital* admission on Friday, Saturday or Sunday unless the admission is an *emergency* situation, or surgery is scheduled within twenty-four (24) hours. If neither situation applies, *hospital* expenses will be payable commencing on the date of actual surgery.
- 5. Charges for *inpatient room and board* in connection with a *hospital confinement* primarily for diagnostic tests, unless it is determined by the *Plan* that *inpatient* care is *medically necessary*.
- 6. Except as specified in the section *Medical Expense Benefit, Attention Deficit Disorder (ADD) / Attention Deficit Hyperkinetic Syndrome*, charges for services, supplies or treatment for attention deficit disorders.
- 7. Charges for services, supplies or treatment for developmental or learning disorders and delays, including but not limited to autistic disease. However, speech therapy, physical therapy, and occupational therapy for certain developmental delays shall be a *covered expense*.
- 8. Charges for biofeedback therapy.
- 9. Except as specified herein, charges for services, supplies or treatments which are primarily educational in nature, charges for services for educational or vocational testing or training and work hardening programs regardless of diagnosis or symptoms; charges for self-help training or other forms of non-medical self-care.
- 10. Charges for marriage, career, legal or financial counseling.
- 11. Except as specifically stated in *Medical Expense Benefit, Dental Services*, charges for or in connection with: treatment of *injury* or disease of the teeth; oral surgery; treatment of gums or structures directly supporting or attached to the teeth; removal or replacement of teeth; or dental implants.
- 12. Charges for routine vision examinations and eye refractions; vision therapy (orthoptics); eyeglasses or contact lenses, except as specified herein; dispensing optician's services.
- 13. Charges for any eye surgery solely for the purpose of correcting refractive defects of the eye, such as near-sightedness (myopia) and astigmatism including radial keratotomy by whatever name called; contact lenses and eyeglasses required as a result of such surgery.
- 14. Except as *medically necessary* for the treatment of metabolic or peripheral-vascular *illness*, charges for routine, palliative or cosmetic foot care, including, but not limited to: treatment of weak, unstable, flat, strained or unbalanced feet; subluxations of the foot; treatment of corns or calluses; non-surgical care of toenails.

- 15. Charges for services, supplies or treatment which constitute personal comfort or beautification items, whether or not recommended by a *physician*, such as: television, telephone, air conditioners, air purifiers, humidifiers, electric heating units, orthopedic mattresses, blood pressure instruments, scales, elastic bandages, non-hospital adjustable beds, exercise equipment.
- 16. Charges for nonprescription drugs, such as vitamins, cosmetic dietary aids, and nutritional supplements, except as provided in, *Routine Preventive Care/Wellness Benefits* United States Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) recommendations, *Medical Foods* and *Prescription Drugs*.
- 17. Charges for orthopedic shoes (except when they are an integral part of a leg brace and the cost is included in the orthotist's charge).
- 18. Expenses for a *cosmetic surgery* or procedure and all related services, except as specifically stated in *Medical Expense Benefit, Cosmetic/Reconstructive Surgery*.
- 19. Charges *incurred* as a result of, or in connection with, any procedure or treatment excluded by the *Plan* which has resulted in medical complications, except for complications from a non-covered abortion as specified herein.
- 20. Charges *incurred* as a result of, or in connection with, the *pregnancy* of a *dependent* child, including *complications of pregnancy*, except as specified in the subsection, *Women's Preventive Services*.
- 21. Charges for services provided to a *covered person* for an elective abortion (See *Medical Expense Benefit, Pregnancy* for specifics regarding the coverage of abortions). However, complications from such procedure shall be a *covered expense* for a covered female *employee* or the covered female spouse of an *employee*.
- 22. Charges for services, supplies or treatment primarily for weight reduction or treatment of obesity, including, but not limited to: exercise programs or use of exercise equipment; special diets or diet supplements; appetite suppressants; Nutri/System, Weight Watchers or similar programs; and *hospital confinements* for weight reduction programs, except as specifically provided herein or as required by the United States Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) A & B recommendations.
- 23. Charges for surgical weight reduction procedures and all related charges, even if resulting from morbid obesity.
- 24. Charges for services, supplies and treatment for smoking cessation programs, or related to the treatment of nicotine addiction, including smoking deterrent patches, except as required by the United States Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) A & B recommendations.
- 25. Except as specifically stated in *Medical Expense Benefit*, *Hearing Aid Benefit*, charges for examination to determine hearing loss or the fitting, purchase, repair or replacement of a hearing aid; or for a cochlear implant bone-anchored hearing aid, auditory brainstem implant, or any other surgically implantable device to correct hearing loss, or surgery to implant such a device.
- 26. Charges for services required by a third party, including but not limited to, physical examinations, diagnostic services and immunizations in connection with obtaining or continuing employment, obtaining or maintaining any license issued by a municipality, state, or federal government, securing insurance coverage, travel, school admissions or attendance, including examinations required to participate in athletics, except when such examinations are considered to be part of an appropriate schedule of wellness services.
- 27. Charges related to acupuncture treatment.
- 28. Except as specifically stated in *Medical Expense Benefit, Temporomandibular Joint Dysfunction*, charges for treatment of temporomandibular joint dysfunction and myofascial pain syndrome including, but not limited to: charges for treatment to alter vertical dimension or to restore abraded dentition or orthodontia.

- 29. Charges for *custodial care*, domiciliary care or rest cures.
- 30. Charges for travel or accommodations, whether or not recommended by a *physician*, except as specifically provided herein.
- 31. Charges for wigs, artificial hairpieces, artificial hair transplants, or any drug prescription or otherwise -used to eliminate baldness or stimulate hair growth, except as specified herein.
- 32. Charges for expenses related to hypnosis.
- 33. Charges for the expenses of the donor of an organ or tissue for transplant to a recipient who is not a *covered person* under the *Plan*.
- 34. Charges for professional services billed by a *professional provider* who is an employee of a *hospital* or any other *facility* and who is paid by the *hospital* or other *facility* for the service provided.
- 35. Charges for environmental change including *hospital* or *physician* charges connected with prescribing an environmental change.
- 36. Charges for *room and board* in a *facility* for days on which the *covered person* is permitted to leave (a weekend pass, for example).
- 37. Charges for chelation therapy, except as treatment of heavy metal poisoning.
- 38. Charges for massage therapy, unless applied in conjunction with other active physical therapy modalities, for a specific *illness* or *injury*.
- 39. Charges for sex therapy, diversional therapy or recreational therapy.
- 40. Charges for procurement and storage of one's own blood, unless *incurred* within three (3) months prior to a scheduled surgery.
- 41. Charges for holistic medicines or providers of naturopathy.
- 42. Charges for or related to the following types of treatment:
  - a. primal therapy;
  - b. rolfing;
  - c. psychodrama;
  - d. megavitamin therapy;
  - e. visual perceptual training;
  - f. educational therapies (such as hobbies, arts and crafts, dance) and any related testing;
  - g. developmental, primal or perceptual therapy;
  - h. milieu therapy primarily director toward self-enhancement or to change or control one's environment.
- 43. Charges for structural changes to a house or vehicle.
- 44. Charges for exercise programs for treatment of any condition, except for *professional provider*-supervised cardiac rehabilitation, occupational or physical therapy covered by the *Plan*.
- 45. Charges for immunizations required for travel.
- 46. Charges for drugs, devices, supplies, treatments, procedures or services that are considered *experimental/investigational* by the *Plan*. The *Plan* will consider a drug, device, supply, treatment, procedure or service to be "*experimental*" or "*investigational*":

- a. if, in the case of a device or supply, the device or supply cannot be lawfully marketed without approval of the U.S. Food and Drug Administration and approval for marketing has not been given at the time the device or supply is furnished; or
- b. if the drug, device, supply, treatment, procedure or service, or the patient's informed consent document utilized with respect to the drug, device, supply, treatment, procedure or service was reviewed and approved by the treating *facility's* institutional review board or other body serving a similar function, or if federal law requires such review or approval; or
- c. if the *plan sponsor* (or its designee) determines in its sole discretion that the drug, device, supply, treatment, procedure or service is the subject of on-going Phase I or Phase II clinical trials; is the research, *experimental* study or *investigational* arm of on-going Phase III clinical trials, or is otherwise under study to determine maximum tolerated dose, toxicity, safety or efficacy, however, a drug that meets the standards set in the section *Medical Expense Benefit*, *Off-Label Drug Use* will not be deemed *experimental* or *investigational* solely by reason of this subparagraph; or
- d. if the *plan sponsor* (or its designee) determines in its sole discretion based on documentation in one of the standard reference compendia or in substantially accepted peer-reviewed medical literature that the prevailing opinion among experts regarding the drug, device, supply, treatment, procedure or service is that further studies or clinical trials are necessary to determine its maximum tolerated dose, toxicity, safety or efficacy.
- 47. Charges for augmentation communication devices and related instruction or therapy.
- 48. Charges for court-ordered treatment or testing, unless *medically necessary* and approved by the *plan administrator*.
- 49. Charges for home births, and associated costs.
- 50. All charges in connection with treatments of medications where the patient either is in non-compliance with or is discharged from a *hospital* or *extended care facility* against medical advice.
- Any loss due to an intentionally self-inflicted *injury*. This exclusion does not apply if the *injury* is due to a medical condition (physical or mental) or domestic violence.
- 52. Charges for *inpatient* private duty nursing.
- 53. Charges for any services, supplies or treatment not specifically provided herein.
- 54. Charges for services, supplies or treatment from any *hospital* owned or operated by the United States government or any agency thereof or any government outside the United States, or charges for services, treatment or supplies furnished by the United States government or any agency thereof or any government outside the United States, unless payment is legally required.
- 55. Charges for an *injury* sustained or *illness* contracted while on active duty in military service, unless payment is legally required.
- Charges for services, treatment or supplies for treatment of *illness* or *injury* which is caused by or attributed to by war or any act of war, participation in a riot, civil disobedience or insurrection. "War" means declared or undeclared war, whether civil or international, or any substantial armed conflict between organized forces of a military nature.
- 57. Any condition for which benefits of any nature are payable or are found to be eligible, either by adjudication or settlement, under any Workers' Compensation law, Employer's liability law, or occupational disease law, even though the *covered person* fails to claim rights to such benefits or fails to enroll or purchase such coverage. This does not include a *covered person* that is a sole proprietor, partner or executive officer that is not required by law to have workers' compensation or similar coverage and does not have such coverage.

- 58. Charges in connection with any *illness* or *injury* arising out of or in the course of any employment intended for wage or profit, including self-employment.
- 59. Charges made for services, supplies and treatment which are not *medically necessary* for the treatment of *illness* or *injury*, or which are not recommended and approved by the attending *physician*, except as specifically stated herein, or to the extent that the charges exceed *customary and reasonable amount* or exceed the *negotiated rate*, as applicable.
- 60. Charges in connection with any *illness* or *injury* of the *covered person* resulting from or occurring during commission or attempted commission of a criminal battery or felony by the *covered person*. This exclusion will not apply to an *illness* and/or *injury* sustained due to a medical condition (physical or mental) or domestic violence.
- To the extent that payment under the *Plan* is prohibited by any law of any jurisdiction in which the *covered person* resides at the time the expense is *incurred*.
- 62. Charges for services rendered and/or supplies received prior to the *effective date* or after the termination date of a person's coverage.
- 63. Any services, supplies or treatment for which the *covered person* is not legally required to pay; or for which no charge would usually be made; or for which such charge, if made, would not usually be collected if no coverage existed; or to the extent the charge for the care exceeds the charge that would have been made and collected if no coverage existed.
- 64. Charges *incurred* outside the United States if the *covered person* traveled to such a location for the sole purpose of obtaining services, supplies or treatment.
- 65. Charges for services, supplies or treatment rendered by any individual who is a *close relative* of the *covered person* or who resides in the same household as the *covered person*.
- 66. Charges for services, supplies or treatment rendered by *physicians* or *professional providers* beyond the scope of their license; for any treatment, *confinement* or service which is not recommended by or performed by an appropriate *professional provider*.
- 67. Charges for *illnesses* or *injuries* suffered by a *covered person* due to the action or inaction of any party if the *covered person* fails to provide information as specified in the section, *Subrogation/Reimbursement*.
- 68. Claims not submitted within the *Plan's* filing limit deadlines as specified in the section, *Medical Claim Filing Procedure*.
- 69. Except as specified in *Medical Expense Benefit, Physician Services and Professional Provider Services*, charges for telephone or e-mail consultations.
- 70. Charges for completion of claim forms and charges associated with missed appointments.
- 71. If the primary plan has a restricted list of healthcare providers and the *covered person* chooses not to use a provider from the primary plan's restricted list, this *Plan* will not pay for any charges disallowed by the primary plan due to the use of such provider, if shown on the primary carrier's explanation of benefits.
- 72. If the primary plan provides coverage through the services of an HMO and the *covered person* chooses not to use the HMO, this *Plan* will not pay for any charges disallowed by the primary plan due to failure to utilize the HMO, if shown on the primary carrier's explanation of benefits.
- 73. Services, supplies, care or treatment to a *covered person* for *injury* or *illness* resulting from that *covered person's* voluntary taking of or being under the influence of any controlled substance, drug, hallucinogen or

narcotic not administered on the advice of a *physician*. Expenses will be covered for injured *covered persons* other than the person using controlled substances and expenses will be covered for *substance use disorder* treatment as specified on the *Schedule of Benefits*. This exclusion does not apply if the *injury* resulted from an act of domestic violence or an underlying medical condition.

# ELIGIBILITY, ENROLLMENT AND EFFECTIVE DATE

This section identifies the *Plan's* requirements for a person to participate in the *Plan*.

#### EMPLOYEE ELIGIBILITY

All *full-time employees* regularly scheduled to work at least thirty (30) hours per work week shall be eligible to enroll for coverage under the *Plan*.

Retired *employees* (*retirees*) age sixty (60) or older with a total of years of service with Hospital Authority of Valdosta and Lowndes County, Georgia, plus age, equal to eight-seven (87) or greater and who were continuously covered under the *Plan* preceding retirement with Hospital Authority of Valdosta and Lowndes County, Georgia shall be eligible to enroll for coverage under the *Plan*. The *retiree* remains eligible for coverage under the *Plan* until the first of the month in which the *retiree* reaches his or her sixtieth (65th) birthday. While the *employer* expects *retiree* coverage to continue, the *employer* reserves the right to modify or discontinue *retiree* coverage or any other provision of the *Plan* at any time.

Any other *employees*, including but not limited to seasonal *employees*, who are not regular *full-time employees* to the extent that such *employees* average 30 hours of service per week over the *employee's* applicable initial *measurement period*. Coverage for such *employees* will be effective on the first day of the qualifying *part-time employee's* new employee *stability period*, provided the *employee* has enrolled for coverage as described in *Employee Enrollment*. A qualifying *part-time employee* will remain eligible throughout the new employee *stability period* to the extent that the *employee* remains employed, subject to the *Plan's* break in service rules. Note: if there is a gap between the end of the qualifying *part-time employee's* new employee *stability period* and the start of the qualifying *part-time employee's* first ongoing *employee stability period* (see below), the qualifying *part-time employee* will remain eligible under the *Plan* until the day preceding the start of the ongoing *employee stability period* to the extent the *employee* remains employed, subject to the *Plan's* break in service rules.

Once an *employee* has completed the *Plan's* standard *measurement period*, eligibility will be based solely on the *employee's* hours of service during the *Plan's* standard *measurement period*. Any *employee* who averages thirty (30) hours of service per week during the *Plan's* standard *measurement period* ("ongoing *employees*") will be eligible for coverage under the *Plan* during the *Plan's* next ongoing *employee stability period* to the extent that the ongoing *employee* remains employed, subject to the *Plan's* break in service rules. Such coverage, if elected, will be effective on the first day of the *Plan's* ongoing *employee stability period*. Whether an *employee* averages thirty (30) hours of service per week will be determined in accordance with policies and procedures adopted by the *plan administrator*.

The *plan administrator* will determine a qualifying *part-time employee's* and an ongoing *employee's* eligibility for coverage under the *Plan* in accordance with the following requirements:

- (a) An *employee's* hours of service during the applicable *measurement period* will be considered in determining eligibility for coverage under the *Plan* to the extent not preceded by a break in service.
- (b) For payroll periods that are one week, two weeks, or semi-monthly in duration, the *employer* is permitted to treat as a *measurement period* a period that ends on the last day of the payroll period preceding the payroll period that includes the date that would otherwise be the last day of the *measurement period*, provided that the *measurement period* begins on the first day of the payroll period that includes the date that would otherwise be the first day of the *measurement period*. The *employer* may also treat as a *measurement period* a period that begins on the first day of the payroll period that follows the payroll period that includes the date that would otherwise be the first day of the *measurement period*, provided that the *measurement period* ends on the last day of the payroll period that includes the date that would otherwise be the last day of the *measurement period*.

- (c) If the *employee* experiences a break in service during a *measurement period* and then again resumes hours of service following a break in service, such *employee* will be treated as a new *employee* upon the date that the *employee* resumes hours of service for the *employer*.
- (d) Impact of special unpaid leaves of absence: If the *employee* takes a special unpaid leave of absence during a *measurement period*, the *employer* will disregard all consecutive weeks of such unpaid leave when determining the average hours of service during the applicable *measurement period*.
- (e) Each *employee's* hours of service will be determined in a manner consistent with Internal Revenue Code Section 4980H and the regulations issued thereunder.

For the purpose of this provision, the following terms are defined:

"Break in Service" means a period of at least thirteen (13) consecutive weeks during which the *employee* has no hours of service, as defined herein. A break in service may also include any period for which the *employee* has no hours of service that is at least four (4) consecutive weeks in duration and longer than the prior period of employment (determined after application of the procedures applicable to special unpaid leaves absence prescribed herein).

"Hours of Service" means each hour for which the *employee* is paid or entitled to payment for performance of services for the *employer* and any hour for which the *employee* is paid or entitled to payment by the *employer* for a period of time during which no duties are performed due to any of the following, consistent with 29 C.F.R. 2530.200b-2(a)(i):

- Vacation
- Holiday
- *Illness* or incapacity
- Layoff
- Jury duty
- Military duty or *leave of absence*

"Initial *Measurement Period*" means the 11th calendar month period beginning on the first day of the calendar month coinciding with or next following the *employee*'s date of hire. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the *employer* may make adjustments to the standard *measurement period* with respect to *employees* on payroll periods that are weekly, biweekly or semi-monthly in duration, as set forth herein.

"Month" means the period that begins on any date following the first day of a calendar month and that ends on the immediately preceding date in the immediately following calendar month (for example, from February 2 to March 1 or from December 15 to January 14).

"New *Employee Stability Period*" means the twelve (12) calendar month period that begins on the first day of the calendar month following the calendar month that begins on or after the *employee's* anniversary date.

"Ongoing *Employee Stability Period*" means the twelve (12) calendar month period that begins on the first day of each *plan year* following the end of the *Plan's* standard *measurement period*.

"Seasonal Employee" means an *employee* hired by the *employer* into a position that is typically no longer in duration than six (6) months and begins at the same time of the year each year.

"Special Unpaid *Leave of Absence*" means any of the following types of unpaid leaves of absence that do not constitute a break in service: (i) Leave protected by the Family and Medical Leave Act, (ii) leave protected by the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act or (iii) Jury Duty (as reasonably defined by the *employer*).

"Standard *Measurement Period*" means the twelve (12) month period that begins each January 1st. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the *employer* may make adjustments to the standard *measurement period* with respect to *employees* on payroll periods that are weekly, bi-weekly or semi-monthly in duration, as set forth herein.

"Week" means any seven (7) consecutive calendar-day period.

#### EMPLOYEE ENROLLMENT

An *employee* must file a written application (or electronic, if applicable) with the *employer* for coverage hereunder for himself within thirty (30) days becoming eligible for coverage. The *employee* shall have the responsibility of timely forwarding to the *employee* all applications for enrollment hereunder. If the *employee* failed to make timely enrollment, the *employee* is considered a late enrollee and not eligible for coverage under the *Plan* until the next open enrollment period unless the *employee* otherwise qualifies for special enrollment during the *Plan* year.

#### EMPLOYEE(S) EFFECTIVE DATE

An *employer* may require new *employees* to complete a one (1) month, less one (1) day, "reasonable and bona fide" orientation period before the eligibility waiting period begins for the *employer*'s group health plan.

Eligible *employees*, as described in *Employee Eligibility*, are covered under the *Plan* on the first day of the month following the date of hire provided the *employee* has enrolled for coverage as described in *Employee Enrollment*.

#### DEPENDENT(S) ELIGIBILITY

The following describes *dependent* eligibility requirements. The *employer* will require proof of *dependent* status.

- 1. The term "spouse" means the spouse of the *employee* under a legally valid existing marriage, as defined by the state in which the *employee* lives or was legally married, unless court ordered separation exists. A spouse does not include common law spouses for the purpose of this *Plan*.
- 2. The *employee's* natural child, stepchild, *foster child*, legally adopted child, child *placed for adoption*, and a child for whom the *employee* or covered spouse has been appointed legal guardian, through the end of the month in which the child reaches twenty-six (26) years of age.
- 3. An eligible child shall also include any other child of an *employee* or their spouse who is recognized in a Qualified Medical Child Support Order (QMCSO) or National Medical Support Notice (NMSN) which has been issued by any court judgment, decree, or order as being entitled to enrollment for coverage under the *Plan*. Such child shall be referred to as an *alternate recipient*. *Alternate recipients* are eligible for coverage only if the *employee* is also covered under the *Plan*. An application for enrollment must be submitted to the *employer* for coverage under the *Plan*. The *employer/plan administrator* shall establish written procedures for determining whether a medical child support order is a QMCSO or NMSN and for administering the provision of benefits under the *Plan* pursuant to a valid QMCSO or NMSN. Within a reasonable period after receipt of a medical child support order, the *employer/plan administrator* shall determine whether such order is a QMCSO, as defined in Section 609 of ERISA, or a NMSN, as defined in 42 U.S.C.A §666 of the Child Support Performance and Incentive Act of 1998.

The *employer/plan administrator* reserves the right, waivable at its discretion, to seek clarification with respect to the order from the court or administrative agency which issued the order, up to and including the right to seek a hearing before the court or agency.

4. A *dependent* child who was covered under the *Plan* prior to the end of the month in which the child reached twenty-six (26) years of age and who is unmarried, incapable of self-sustaining employment and dependent upon the *employee* for support due to a mental and/or physical disability, will remain eligible for coverage under the *Plan* beyond the date coverage would otherwise terminate.

Proof of incapacitation must be provided within thirty-one (31) days of the child's loss of eligibility and thereafter as requested by the *employer* or *claims processor*, but not more than once every two (2) years. Eligibility may not be continued beyond the earliest of the following:

a. Cessation of the mental and/or physical disability;

b. Failure to furnish any required proof of mental and/or physical disability or to submit to any required examination.

Every eligible *employee* may enroll eligible *dependents*. However, if both the husband and wife are *employees*, each individual may be covered as an *employee*. An *employee* cannot be covered as an *employee* and a *dependent*. Eligible children may be enrolled as *dependents* of one spouse, but not both.

#### DEPENDENT ENROLLMENT

An *employee* must file a written application (or electronic, if applicable) with the *employer* for coverage hereunder for his eligible *dependents* within thirty (30) days of becoming eligible for coverage; and within thirty (30) days of marriage or the acquiring of children or birth of a child. The *employee* shall have the responsibility of timely forwarding to the *employer* all applications for enrollment hereunder. If the *employee* failed to make timely enrollment for his eligible *dependents*, the *dependents* are considered late enrollees and not eligible for coverage under the *Plan* until the next open enrollment period, unless the *dependent* otherwise qualifies for a special enrollment during the *Plan* year.

However, if *dependent* coverage is already in force at the time of birth, a newborn child will be automatically added for coverage. Notification of the newborn must be provided to the *employer* as soon as is reasonably possible. If the *employee* does not have *dependent* coverage in effect and the newborn child is not enrolled on a timely basis, there will be no payment from the *Plan* and the parent will be responsible for all costs.

#### DEPENDENT(S) EFFECTIVE DATE

Eligible *dependent(s)*, as described in *Dependent(s) Eligibility*, will become covered under the *Plan* on the later of the dates listed below, provided the *employee* has enrolled them in the *Plan* within thirty (30) days of meeting the *Plan's* eligibility requirements and any required contributions are made.

- 1. The date the *employee's* coverage becomes effective.
- 2. The date the *dependent* is acquired, provided the *employee* has applied for *dependent* coverage within thirty (30) days of the date acquired.
- 3. Newborn children shall be covered from birth, provided the *employee* has applied for *dependent* coverage within thirty (30) days of birth.
- 4. Coverage for a newly adopted or to be adopted child shall be effective on the date the child is *placed for adoption*, provided the *employee* has applied for *dependent* coverage within thirty (30) days of the date the child is *placed for adoption*.

## SPECIAL ENROLLMENT PERIOD (OTHER COVERAGE)

An *employee* or *dependent* who did not enroll for coverage under this *Plan* because he was covered under other group coverage or had health insurance coverage at the time he was initially eligible for coverage under this *Plan*, may request a special enrollment period if he is no longer eligible for the other coverage. Special enrollment periods will be granted if the individual's loss of eligibility is due to:

- 1. Termination of the other coverage (including exhaustion of COBRA benefits).
- 2. Cessation of employer contributions toward the other coverage.
- 3. Legal separation or divorce.
- 4. Termination of other employment or reduction in number of hours of other employment.

- 5. Death of *dependent* or spouse.
- 6. Cessation of other coverage because *employee* or *dependent* no longer resides or works in the service area and no other benefit package is available to the individual.
- 7. Cessation of *dependent* status under other coverage and *dependent* is otherwise eligible under *employee's Plan*

Notwithstanding any provision of the *Plan* to the contrary, all benefits received by an individual under any benefit option, package or coverage under the *Plan* shall be applied toward the applicable *maximum benefit* paid by the *Plan* for any one *covered person* for such option, package or coverage under the *Plan*, and also toward the *maximum benefit* under any other options, packages or coverages under the *Plan* in which the individual may participate in the future.

The end of any extended benefits period, which has been provided due to any of the above, will also be considered a loss of eligibility.

However, loss of eligibility does not include a loss due to failure of the individual to pay premiums or contributions on a timely basis or termination of coverage for cause (such as making a fraudulent claim or an intentional misrepresentation of a material fact in connection with the other coverage).

The *employee* or *dependent* must request the special enrollment and enroll no later than thirty (30) days from the date of loss of other coverage.

The *effective date* of coverage as the result of a special enrollment shall be the date of loss of other coverage.

# SPECIAL ENROLLMENT PERIOD (DEPENDENT ACQUISITION)

An *employee* who is currently covered or not covered under the *Plan*, but who acquires a new *dependent* may request a special enrollment period for himself, if applicable, his newly acquired *dependent* and his spouse, if not already covered under the *Plan* and otherwise eligible for coverage.

For the purposes of this provision, the acquisition of a new *dependent* includes:

- marriage
- birth of a *dependent* child
- adoption or *placement for adoption* of a *dependent* child
- legal guardianship of a *dependent* child
- a *foster child* being placed with the *employee*

The *employee* must request the special enrollment within thirty (30) days of the acquisition of the *dependent*.

The *effective date* of coverage as the result of a special enrollment shall be:

- 1. in the case of marriage, the date of such marriage;
- 2. in the case of a *dependent's* birth, the date of such birth;
- 3. in the case of adoption or *placement for adoption*, the date of such adoption or *placement for adoption*.
- 4. in the case of legal guardianship, the date on which such child is placed in the covered *employee's* home pursuant to a court order appointing the covered *employee* as legal guardian for the child;
- 5. in the case of a *foster child* being placed with the *employee*, on the date on which such child is placed with the *employee* by an authorized placement agency or by judgement, decree or other order of a court of competent jurisdiction.

# SPECIAL ENROLLMENT PERIOD (CHILDREN'S HEALTH INSURANCE PROGRAM (CHIP) REAUTHORIZATION ACT OF 2009)

The *Plan* intends to comply with the Children's Health Insurance Program Reauthorization Act of 2009.

An *employee* who is currently covered or not covered under the *Plan* may request a special enrollment period for himself, if applicable, and his *dependent*. Special enrollment periods will be granted if the individual's loss of eligibility is due to termination of coverage under a state children's health insurance program or Medicaid.

The *employee* or *dependent* must request the special enrollment and enroll no later than sixty (60) days from the date of loss of other coverage.

#### OPEN ENROLLMENT

Open enrollment is the period designated by the *employer* during which the *employee* may change benefit plans or enroll in the *Plan* if he did not do so when first eligible or does not qualify for a special enrollment period. An open enrollment will be permitted once in each calendar year as designated by the *employer*.

During this open enrollment period, an *employee* and his *dependents* who are covered under the *Plan* or covered under any *employer* sponsored health plan may elect coverage or change coverage under the *Plan* for himself and his eligible *dependents*. An *employee* must make written application (or electronic, if applicable) as provided by the *employer* during the open enrollment period to change benefit plans.

The effective date of coverage as the result of an open enrollment period will be the following January 1st.

The *employer* offers a Section 125 Cafeteria Plan that allows *employees* to make pre-tax contributions to this *Plan*. For this reason, covered *employees* are generally not permitted to make a change in the *Plan* coverage options they elected at the initial enrollment period for a *plan year*. However, the *Plan* may allow additional changes to enrollment due to change in status events under the Employer's Section 125 Cafeteria Plan. Refer to the Employer's Section 125 Cafeteria Plan for more information.

# TERMINATION OF COVERAGE

Except as provided in the *Plan's Continuation of Coverage* (COBRA) provision, coverage will terminate on the earliest of the following dates:

#### TERMINATION OF EMPLOYEE COVERAGE

- 1. The date the *employer* terminates the *Plan* and offers no other group health plan.
- 2. The last day of the month in which the *employee* ceases to meet the eligibility requirements of the *Plan*.
- 3. The last day of the month in which employment terminates, as defined by the *employer's* personnel policies.
- 4. The date the *employee* becomes a full-time, active duty member of the armed forces of any country.
- 5. The last day of the month in which the *employee* made his or her last required contribution, if he or she failed to make any required contribution toward the cost of coverage when due.
- 6. The first of the month in which a covered *retiree* reaches his or her sixty-fifth (65<sup>th</sup>) birthday.
- 7. The earlier of four (4) years after a retired CEO's retirement date or the date a covered retired CEO requests termination of coverage.

#### TERMINATION OF DEPENDENT(S) COVERAGE

- 1. The date the *employer* terminates the *Plan* and offers no other group health plan.
- 2. The date the *employee's*, *retiree's* or retired CEO's coverage terminates for any reason including death.
- 3. The date such person ceases to meet the eligibility requirements of the *Plan*, except that for a *dependent* child, termination shall be the last day of the month in which the *dependent* child reaches age twenty-six (26).
- 4. The end of the period for which the *employee* made his or her last required contribution on the *dependent's* behalf, if he or she failed to make any required contribution toward the cost of coverage when due.
- 5. The date the *employee's dependent* spouse becomes a full-time, active duty member of the armed forces of any country.
- 6. The date the *Plan* discontinues *dependent* coverage for any and all *dependents*.

#### LEAVE OF ABSENCE

A person may remain eligible for a limited time if full-time work ceases due to disability or *leave of absence* and the *employee* continues to make required contributions towards coverage. This continuance will end at the end of the month following twelve (12) weeks after the *employee's* last day of full-time work. Continuation of coverage during these periods runs concurrently with any Family and Medical Leave Act leave.

While continued, coverage will be that which was in force on the last day worked as an *employee*. However, if benefits reduce for others in the class, they will also reduce for the continued person.

#### FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE ACT (FMLA)

#### Eligible Leave

An *employee* who is eligible for unpaid leave and benefits under the terms of the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993 (FMLA), as amended, has the right to continue coverage under the *Plan* for up to twelve (12) weeks, or (twenty-six (26) weeks in certain circumstances). *Employees* should contact the *employer* to determine whether they are eligible under FMLA.

#### Contributions

During this leave, the *employer* will continue to pay the same portion of the *employee's* contribution for the *Plan*. The *employee* shall be responsible to continue payment for eligible *dependent's* coverage and any remaining *employee* contributions. If the covered *employee* fails to make the required contribution during a FMLA leave within thirty (30) days after the date the contribution was due, the coverage will terminate effective on the date the contribution was due.

#### Reinstatement

If coverage under the *Plan* was terminated during an approved FMLA leave, and the *employee* returns to active work immediately upon completion of that leave, *Plan* coverage will be reinstated on the date the *employee* returns to active work as if coverage had not terminated, provided the *employee* makes any necessary contributions and enrolls for coverage within thirty (30) days of his return to active work.

#### Repayment Requirement

The *employer* may require *employees* who fail to return from a leave under FMLA to repay any contributions paid by the *employee's* on the *employee's* behalf during an unpaid leave. This repayment will be required only if the *employee's* failure to return from such leave is not related to a "serious health condition," as defined in FMLA, or events beyond the *employee's* control.

#### EMPLOYEE REINSTATEMENT

**Employees** and eligible **dependents** who lost coverage due to an approved **leave of absence**, **layoff**, or termination of employment with the **employer** are eligible for reinstatement of coverage as follows:

- 1. Reinstatement of coverage is available to *employees* and *dependents* who were previously covered under the *Plan*.
- 2. Rehire or return to active service must occur within thirteen (13) weeks of the last day worked.
- 3. The *employee* must submit the completed application for enrollment to the *employer* within thirty (30) days of rehire or return to work.
- 4. Coverage shall be effective from the date of rehire or return to work. Prior benefits and limitations, such as deductible, *Essential Health Benefits*/non-*Essential Health Benefits* maximum benefit shall be applied with no break in coverage.

If the provisions of (1) through (3) above are not met, the *Plan's* provisions for eligibility and application for enrollment shall apply.

An *employee* who returns to work more than thirteen (13) weeks following an approved *leave of absence*, *layoff*, or termination of employment will be considered a new *employee* for purposes of eligibility and will be subject to all eligibility requirements, including all requirements relating to the *effective date* of coverage.

# CONTINUATION OF COVERAGE

In order to comply with federal regulations, the *Plan* includes a continuation of coverage option for certain individuals whose coverage would otherwise terminate. The following is intended to comply with the Public Health Services Act. This continuation of coverage may be commonly referred to as "COBRA coverage" or "continuation coverage."

The coverage which may be continued under this provision consists of health coverage. It does not include life insurance benefits, accidental death and dismemberment benefits, or income replacement benefits. Health coverage includes medical and prescription drug benefits as provided under the *Plan*.

#### **QUALIFYING EVENTS**

Qualifying events are any one of the following events that would cause a *covered person* to lose coverage under the *Plan* or cause an increase in required contributions, even if such loss of coverage or increase in required contributions does not take effect immediately, and allow such person to continue coverage beyond the date described in *Termination of Coverage*:

- 1. Death of the *employee*.
- 2. The *employee's* termination of employment (other than termination for gross misconduct), or reduction in work hours to less than the minimum required for coverage under the *Plan*. This event is referred to below as an "18-Month Qualifying Event."
- 3. Divorce or legal separation from the *employee*.
- 4. The *employee's* entitlement to *Medicare* benefits under Title XVIII of the Social Security Act, if it results in the loss of coverage under this *Plan*.
- 5. A *dependent* child no longer meets the eligibility requirements of the *Plan*.
- 6. A covered *retiree* and their covered *dependents* whose benefits were substantially eliminated within one (1) year of the *employer* filing for Chapter 11 bankruptcy.

# NOTIFICATION REQUIREMENTS

- 1. When eligibility for continuation of coverage results from a spouse being divorced or legally separated from a covered *employee*, or a child's loss of *dependent* status, the *employee* or *dependent* must submit a completed Qualifying Event Notification form to the *plan administrator* (or its designee) within sixty (60) days of the latest of:
  - a. The date of the event;
  - b. The date on which coverage under the *Plan* is or would be lost as a result of that event; or
  - The date on which the *employee* or *dependent* is furnished with a copy of this Plan Document.

A copy of the Qualifying Event Notification form is available from the *plan administrator* (or its designee). In addition, the *employee* or *dependent* may be required to promptly provide any supporting documentation as may be reasonably requested for purposes of verification. Failure to provide such notice and any requested supporting documentation will result in the person forfeiting their rights to continuation of coverage under this provision.

Within fourteen (14) days of the receipt of a properly completed Qualifying Event Notification, the *plan administrator* (or its designee) will notify the *employee* or *dependent* of his rights to continuation of coverage, and what process is required to elect continuation of coverage. This notice is referred to below as "Election Notice."

- 2. When eligibility for continuation of coverage results from any qualifying event under the *Plan* other than the ones described in Paragraph 1 above, the *plan administrator* (or its designee) will furnish an Election Notice to the *employee* or *dependent* not later than forty-four (44) days after the date on which the *employee* or *dependent* loses coverage under the *Plan* due to the qualifying event.
- 3. In the event it is determined that an individual seeking continuation of coverage (or extension of continuation coverage) is not entitled to such coverage, the *plan administrator* (or its designee) will provide to such individual an explanation as to why the individual is not entitled to continuation coverage. This notice is referred to here as the "Non-Eligibility Notice." The Non-Eligibility Notice will be furnished in accordance with the same time frame as applicable to the furnishing of the Election Notice.
- 4. In the event an Election Notice is furnished, the eligible *employee* or *dependent* has sixty (60) days to decide whether to elect continued coverage. Each person who is described in the Election Notice and was covered under the *Plan* on the day before the qualifying event has the right to elect continuation of coverage on an individual basis, regardless of family enrollment. If the *employee* or *dependent* chooses to have continuation coverage, he must advise the *plan administrator* (or its designee) of this choice by returning to the *plan administrator* (or its designee) a properly completed Election Notice not later than the last day of the sixty (60) day period. If the Election Notice is mailed to the *plan administrator* (or its designee), it must be postmarked on or before the last day of the sixty (60) day period. This sixty (60) day period begins on the later of the following:
  - a. The date coverage under the *Plan* would otherwise end; or
  - b. The date the person receives the Election Notice from the *plan administrator* (or its designee).
- 5. Within forty-five (45) days after the date the person notifies the *plan administrator* (or its designee) that he has chosen to continue coverage, the person must make the initial payment. The initial payment will be the amount needed to provide coverage from the date continued benefits begin, through the last day of the month in which the initial payment is made. Thereafter, payments for the continuation coverage are to be made monthly, and are due in advance, on the first day each month.

#### COST OF COVERAGE

- 1. The *Plan* requires that *covered persons* pay the entire costs of their continuation coverage, plus a two percent (2%) administrative fee. Except for the initial payment (see above), payments must be remitted to the *plan administrator* (or its designee) by or before the first day of each month during the continuation period. The payment must be remitted on a timely basis in order to maintain the coverage in force.
- 2. For a person originally covered as an *employee* or as a spouse, the cost of coverage is the amount applicable to an *employee* if coverage is continued for himself alone. For a person originally covered as a child and continuing coverage independent of the family unit, the cost of coverage is the amount applicable to an *employee*.

#### WHEN CONTINUATION COVERAGE BEGINS

When continuation coverage is elected and the initial payment is made within the time period required, coverage is reinstated back to the date of the loss of coverage, so that no break in coverage occurs. Coverage for *dependents* acquired and properly enrolled during the continuation period begins in accordance with the enrollment provisions of the *Plan*.

# FAMILY MEMBERS ACQUIRED DURING CONTINUATION

A spouse or *dependent* child newly acquired during continuation coverage is eligible to be enrolled as a *dependent*. The standard enrollment provision of the *Plan* applies to enrollees during continuation coverage. A *dependent* acquired and enrolled after the original qualifying event, other than a child born to or *placed for adoption* with a covered *employee* during a period of COBRA continuation coverage, is not eligible for a separate continuation if a subsequent event results in the person's loss of coverage.

#### EXTENSION OF CONTINUATION COVERAGE

- 1. In the event any of the following events occur during the period of continuation coverage resulting from an 18-Month Qualifying Event, it is possible for a *dependent's* continuation coverage to be extended:
  - a. Death of the *employee*.
  - b. Divorce or legal separation from the *employee*.
  - c. The child's loss of *dependent* status.

Written notice of such event must be provided by submitting a completed Additional Extension Event Notification form to the *plan administrator* (or its designee) within sixty (60) days of the latest of:

- (i.) The date of that event;
- (ii.) The date on which coverage under the *Plan* would be lost as a result of that event if the first qualifying event had not occurred; or
- (iii.) The date on which the *employee* or *dependent* is furnished with a copy of the Plan Document.

A copy of the Additional Extension Event Notification form is available from the *plan administrator* (or its designee). In addition, the *dependent* may be required to promptly provide any supporting documentation as may be reasonably required for purposes of verification. Failure to properly provide the Additional Extension Event Notification and any requested supporting documentation will result in the person forfeiting their rights to extend continuation coverage under this provision. In no event will any extension of continuation coverage extend beyond thirty-six (36) months from the later of the date of the first qualifying event or the date as of which continuation coverage began.

Only a person covered prior to the original qualifying event or a child born to or *placed for adoption* with a covered *employee* during a period of COBRA coverage may be eligible to continue coverage through an extension of continuation coverage as described above. Any other *dependent* acquired during continuation coverage is not eligible to extend continuation coverage as described above.

- 2. A person who loses coverage on account of an 18-Month Qualifying Event may extend the maximum period of continuation coverage from eighteen (18) months to up to twenty-nine (29) months in the event both of the following occur:
  - a. That person (or another person who is entitled to continuation coverage on account of the same 18-Month Qualifying Event) is determined by the Social Security Administration, under Title II or Title XVI of the Social Security Act, to have been disabled before the sixtieth (60<sup>th</sup>) day of continuation coverage; and
  - b. The disability status, as determined by the Social Security Administration, lasts at least until the end of the initial eighteen (18) month period of continuation coverage.

The disabled person (or his representative) must submit written proof of the Social Security Administration's disability determination to the *plan administrator* (or its designee) within the initial eighteen (18) month period of continuation coverage and no later than sixty (60) days after the latest of:

- (i.) The date of the disability determination by the Social Security Administration;
- (ii.) The date of the 18-Month Qualifying Event;
- (iii.) The date on which the person loses (or would lose) coverage under the *Plan* as a result of the 18-Month Qualifying Event; or
- (iv.) The date on which the person is furnished with a copy of the Plan Document.

Should the disabled person fail to notify the *plan administrator* (or its designee) in writing within the time frame described above, the disabled person (and others entitled to disability extension on account of that person) will then be entitled to whatever period of continuation he or they would otherwise be entitled to, if any. The *Plan* may require that the individual pay one hundred and fifty percent (150%) of the cost of

continuation coverage during the additional eleven (11) months of continuation coverage. In the event the Social Security Administration makes a final determination that the individual is no longer disabled, the individual must provide notice of that final determination no later than thirty (30) days after the later of:

- (A.) The date of the final determination by the Social Security Administration; or
- (B.) The date on which the individual is furnished with a copy of the Plan Document.

#### END OF CONTINUATION

Continuation of coverage under this provision will end on the earliest of the following dates:

- 1. Eighteen (18) months (or twenty-nine (29) months if continuation coverage is extended due to certain disability status as described above) from the date continuation began because of an 18-Month Qualifying Event or the last day of leave under the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993.
- 2. Twenty-four (24) months from the date continuation began because of the call-up to military duty.
- 3. Thirty-six (36) months from the date continuation began for *dependents* whose coverage ended because of the death of the *employee*, divorce or legal separation from the *employee*, or the child's loss of *dependent* status.
- 4. The end of the period for which contributions are paid if the *covered person* fails to make a payment by the date specified by the *plan administrator* (or its designee). In the event continuation coverage is terminated for this reason, the individual will receive a notice describing the reason for the termination of coverage, the effective date of termination, and any rights the individual may have under the *Plan* or under applicable law to elect an alternative group or individual coverage, such as a conversion right. This notice is referred to below as an "Early Termination Notice."
- 5. The date coverage under the *Plan* ends and the *employer* offers no other group health benefit plan. In the event continuation coverage is terminated for this reason, the individual will receive an Early Termination Notice.
- 6. The date the *covered person* first becomes entitled, after the date of the *covered person's* original election of continuation coverage, to *Medicare* benefits under Title XVIII of the Social Security Act. In the event continuation coverage is terminated for this reason, the individual will receive an Early Termination Notice.
- 7. The date the *covered person* first becomes covered under any other employer's group health plan after the original date of the *covered person's* election of continuation coverage.
- 8. For the spouse or *dependent* child of a covered *employee* who becomes entitled to *Medicare* prior to the spouse's or *dependent's* election for continuation coverage, thirty-six (36) months from the date the covered *employee* becomes entitled to *Medicare*.
- 9. **Retirees**, and widows or widowers of **retirees** who died before substantial elimination of coverage within one (1) year of the **employer's** bankruptcy, are entitled to lifetime continuation coverage. However, if a **retiree** dies after substantial elimination of coverage within one (1) year of the **employer's** bankruptcy, the surviving spouse and **dependent** children may only elect an additional thirty-six (36) months of continuation coverage after the death.

#### SPECIAL RULES REGARDING NOTICES

1. Any notice required in connection with continuation coverage under the *Plan* must, at minimum, contain sufficient information so that the *plan administrator* (or its designee) is able to determine from such notice the *employee* and *dependent(s)* (if any), the qualifying event or disability, and the date on which the qualifying event occurred.

- 2. In connection with continuation coverage under the *Plan*, any notice required to be provided by any individual who is either the *employee* or a *dependent* with respect to the qualifying event may be provided by a representative acting on behalf of the *employee* or the *dependent*, and the provision of the notice by one individual shall satisfy any responsibility to provide notice on behalf of all related eligible individuals with respect to the qualifying event.
- 3. As to an Election Notice, Non-Eligibility Notice or Early Termination Notice:
  - a. A single notice addressed to both the *employee* and the spouse will be sufficient as to both individuals if, on the basis of the most recent information available to the *Plan*, the spouse resides at the same location as the *employee*; and
  - b. A single notice addressed to the *employee* or the spouse will be sufficient as to each *dependent* child of the *employee* if, on the basis of the most recent information available to the *Plan*, the *dependent* child resides at the same location as the individual to whom such notice is provided.

#### **MILITARY MOBILIZATION**

If an *employee* is called for active duty by the United States Armed Services (including the Coast Guard, the National Guard or the Public Health Service), the *employee* and the *employee's dependent* may continue their health coverages, pursuant to the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA).

When the leave is less than thirty-one (31) days, the *employee* and the *employee's dependent* may not be required to pay more than the *employee's* share, if any, applicable to that coverage. If the leave is thirty-one (31) days or longer, then the *plan administrator* (or its designee) may require the *employee* and the *employee's dependent* to pay no more than one hundred and two percent (102%) of the full contribution.

The maximum length of the continuation coverage required under the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA) is the lesser of:

- 1. Twenty-four (24) months beginning on the day that the leave commences, or
- 2. A period beginning on the day that the leave began and ending on the day after the *employee* fails to return to employment within the time allowed.

The period of continuation coverage under USERRA will be counted toward any continuation coverage period concurrently available under COBRA. Upon return from active duty, the *employee* and the *employee's dependent* will be reinstated without a waiting period, regardless of their election of COBRA continuation coverage.

#### PLAN CONTACT INFORMATION

Questions concerning the *Plan*, including any available continuation coverage, can be directed to the *plan administrator* (or its designee).

#### ADDRESS CHANGES

In order to help ensure the appropriate protection of rights and benefits under the *Plan*, *covered persons* should keep the *plan administrator* (or its designee) informed of any changes to their current addresses.

# MEDICAL CLAIM FILING PROCEDURE

A "pre-service claim" is a claim for a *Plan* benefit that is subject to the pre-certification rules, as described in the section, *Pre-Service Claim Procedure*. All other claims for *Plan* benefits are "post-service claims" and are subject to the rules described in the section, *Post-Service Claim Procedure*.

#### POST-SERVICE CLAIM PROCEDURE

#### FILING A CLAIM

- 1. A claim form is to be completed for each covered family member at the beginning of the calendar year and for each claim involving an *injury*. Appropriate claim forms are available from the Human Resource Department.
- 2. Claims should be submitted to the address shown on the ID card.

The date of receipt will be the date the claim is received by the *claims processor*.

- 3. All claims submitted for benefits must contain all of the following:
  - a. Name of patient.
  - b. Patient's date of birth.
  - c. Name of *employee*.
  - d. Address of *employee*.
  - e. Name of *employer* and group number.
  - f. Name, address and tax identification number of provider.
  - g. *Employee* Trustmark Health Benefits, Inc. Member Identification Number.
  - h. Date of service.
  - i. Diagnosis and diagnosis code.
  - j. Description of service and procedure number.
  - k. Charge for service.
  - 1. The nature of the *accident*, *injury* or *illness* being treated.
- 4. Claims submitted for prescriptions must contain all of the following:
  - a. Name of patient.
  - b. Name of *employee*.
  - c. Name of *employer* and group number.
  - d. *Employee* Trustmark Health Benefits, Inc. Member Identification Number.
  - e. Name and address of the pharmacy.
  - f. Date of purchase.
  - g. The cost.
  - h. Prescription number and name of prescription drug.
  - i. Prescription reference number.

Cash register receipts, credit card copies, labels from containers and cancelled checks are not acceptable.

5. All claims not submitted within three hundred sixty-five (365) days from the date the services were rendered will not be a *covered expense* and will be denied.

The *covered person* may ask the health care provider to submit the claim directly to the *Preferred Provider Organization* as outlined above, or the *covered person* may submit the bill with a claim form. However, it is ultimately the *covered person's* responsibility to make sure the claim for benefits has been filed.

#### NOTICE OF AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

The *covered person* may provide the *plan administrator* (or its designee) with a written authorization for an authorized representative to represent and act on behalf of a *covered person* and consent to the release of information related to the *covered person* to the authorized representative with respect to a claim for benefits or an appeal. Authorization forms may be obtained from the Human Resource Department.

#### **NOTICE OF CLAIM**

A claim for benefits should be submitted to the *claims processor* within ninety (90) calendar days after the occurrence or commencement of any services by the *Plan*, or as soon thereafter as reasonably possible.

Failure to file a claim within the time provided shall not invalidate or reduce a claim for benefits if: (1) it was not reasonably possible to file a claim within that time; and (2) that such claim was furnished as soon as possible, but no later than three hundred sixty-five (365) days after the loss occurs or commences, unless the claimant is legally incapacitated.

Notice given by or on behalf of a *covered person* or his beneficiary, if any, to the *plan administrator* or to any authorized agent of the *Plan*, with information sufficient to identify the *covered person*, shall be deemed notice of claim.

#### TIME FRAME FOR BENEFIT DETERMINATION

After a completed claim has been submitted to the *claims processor*, and no additional information is required, the *claims processor* will generally complete its determination of the claim within thirty (30) calendar days of receipt of the completed claim unless an extension is necessary due to circumstances beyond the *Plan's* control.

After a completed claim has been submitted to the *claims processor*, and if additional information is needed for determination of the claim, the *claims processor* will provide the *covered person* (or authorized representative) with a notice detailing information needed. The notice will be provided within thirty (30) calendar days of receipt of the completed claim and will state the date as of which the *Plan* expects to make a decision. The *covered person* will have forty-five (45) calendar days to provide the information requested, and the *Plan* will complete its determination of the claim within fifteen (15) calendar days of receipt by the *claims processor* of the requested information. Failure to respond in a timely and complete manner will result an *adverse benefit determination*.

#### NOTICE OF ADVERSE BENEFIT DETERMINATION

If the claim for benefits is denied, the *plan administrator* (or its designee) shall provide the *covered person* (or authorized representative) with a written Notice of Benefit Adverse Benefit Determination within the time frames described immediately above.

The Notice of Adverse Benefit Determination shall include an explanation of the denial, including:

- 1. Information sufficient to identify the claim involved.
- 2. The specific reasons for the *adverse benefit determination*, to include:
  - a. The denial code and its specific meaning, and
  - b. A description of the *Plan's* standards, if any, used when denying the claim.
- 3. Reference to the *Plan* provisions on which the *adverse benefit determination* is based.
- 4. A description of any additional material or information needed and an explanation of why such material or information is necessary.
- 5. A description of the *Plan's* claim appeal procedure and applicable time limits.
- 6. If an internal rule, guideline, protocol or other similar criterion was relied upon, the Notice of Adverse Benefit Determination will contain either:

- a. A copy of that criterion, or
- b. A statement that such criterion was relied upon and will be supplied free of charge, upon request.
- 7. If the *adverse benefit determination* was based on *medical necessity*, *experimental/investigational* treatment or similar exclusion or limit, the *plan administrator* (or its designee) will supply either:
  - a. An explanation of the scientific or clinical judgment, applying the terms of the *Plan* to the *covered person's* medical circumstances, or
  - b. A statement that such explanation will be supplied free of charge, upon request.

### APPEALING AN ADVERSE BENEFIT DETERMINATION ON A POST-SERVICE CLAIM

A covered person, or the covered person's authorized representative, may request a review of a denied claim by making written request to the claims processor within one hundred eighty (180) calendar days from receipt of notification of the adverse benefit determination and stating the reasons the covered person feels the claim should not have been denied.

Providers of medical service are not *covered persons* unless specifically appointed in writing as the *covered person's* authorized representative. However, the *Plan* will reply to requests for reconsideration from medical providers that are made in a timely manner (see *Provider Reconsideration Requests* below).

The following describes the review process and rights of the *covered person*, for a full and fair review:

- 1. The *covered person* has the right to submit documents, information and comments and to present evidence and testimony.
- 2. The *covered person* has the right to access, free of charge, *relevant information* to the claim for benefits.
- 3. Before a final *adverse benefit determination* on appeal is rendered, the *covered person* will be provided, free of charge, with any new or additional rationale or evidence considered, relied upon, or generated by the *Plan* in connection with the claim. Such information will be provided as soon as possible and sufficiently in advance of the notice of final internal *adverse benefit determination*. However there could be circumstances where the new or additional evidence or rationale could be received so late that it would be impossible to provide the *covered person* in time to have a reasonable opportunity to respond. In these circumstances, the period for providing notice of final determination on appeal will be tolled until the earliest of the following dates:
  - a. The date the *covered person* responds to the new or additional rationale or evidence; or
  - b. Three (3) weeks from the date the new or additional rationale or evidence was mailed to the *covered person*.
- 4. The review takes into account all information submitted by the *covered person*, even if it was not considered in the initial benefit determination.
- 5. The review by the *claims processor* will not afford deference to the original *adverse benefit determination*.
- 6. The *claims processor* will not be:
  - a. The individual who originally denied the claim, nor
  - b. Subordinate to the individual who originally denied the claim.
- 7. If the original *adverse benefit determination* was, in whole or in part, based on medical judgment:
  - a. The *claims processor* will consult with a *professional provider* who has appropriate training and experience in the field involving the medical judgment; and
  - b. The *professional provider* utilized by the *claims processor* will be neither:
    - (i.) An individual who was consulted in connection with the original *adverse benefit determination*, nor
    - (ii.) A subordinate of any other *professional provider* who was consulted in connection with the original *adverse benefit determination*.
- 8. If requested, the *claims processor* will identify the medical or vocational expert(s) who gave advice in connection with the original *adverse benefit determination*, whether or not the advice was relied upon.

#### PROVIDER RECONSIDERATION REQUESTS

When a provider of medical service receives a copy of the adverse benefit determination, the provider may request a reconsideration of the decision. The request must be in writing and must be sent to the *claims processor* (attention Appeals Unit) within 180 days after the date of the determination. The request must include the claim number, the reason for the request (i.e., an explanation of why the provider thinks the claim was processed incorrectly), and supporting documentation that was not included with the initial claim submission. Provider reconsideration requests sent later than 180 days after the date of the determination will not be considered. A provider does not have the same rights as a *covered person*.

#### NOTICE OF BENEFIT DETERMINATION ON APPEAL

The *plan administrator* (or its designee) shall provide the *covered person* (or authorized representative) with a written notice of the appeal decision within sixty (60) calendar days of receipt of a written request for the appeal.

If the appeal is denied, the Notice of Appeal Decision will contain an explanation of the Decision, including:

- 1. The specific reasons for the *adverse benefit determination*.
- 2. Reference to specific *Plan* provisions on which the *adverse benefit determination* is based.
- 3. A statement that the *covered person* has the right to access, free of charge, *relevant information* to the claim for benefits.
- 4. A statement of the *covered person's* right to request an external review and a description of the process for requesting such a review.
- 5. If an internal rule, guideline, protocol or other similar criterion was relied upon, the Notice of Appeal Decision will contain either:
  - a. A copy of that criterion, or
  - b. A statement that such criterion was relied upon and will be supplied free of charge, upon request.
- 6. If the *adverse benefit determination* was based on *medical necessity*, *experimental/investigational* treatment or similar exclusion or limit, the *plan administrator* (or its designee) will supply either:
  - a. An explanation of the scientific or clinical judgment, applying the terms of the *Plan* to the claimant's medical circumstances, or
  - b. A statement that such explanation will be supplied free of charge, upon request.

#### FOREIGN CLAIMS

In the event a *covered person* incurs a *covered expense* in a foreign country, the *covered person* shall be responsible for providing the following information to the *claims processor* before payment of any benefits due are payable:

- 1. The claim form, provider invoice and any documentation required to process the claim must be submitted in the English language.
- 2. The charges for services must be converted into U.S. dollars.
- 3. A current published conversion chart, validating the conversion from the foreign country's currency into U.S. dollars, must be submitted with the claim.

#### PRE-SERVICE CLAIM PROCEDURE

#### HEALTH CARE MANAGEMENT

**Health care management** is the process of evaluating whether proposed services, supplies or treatments are **medically necessary** and appropriate to help ensure quality, cost-effective care.

Certification of *medical necessity* and appropriateness by the *Health Care Management Organization* does not establish eligibility under the *Plan* nor guarantee benefits.

#### FILING A PRE-CERTIFICATION CLAIM

This pre-certification provision will be waived by the *Health Care Management Organization* if the *covered expense* is rendered/provided outside of the continental United States of America or any U.S. Commonwealth, Territory or Possession.

All inpatient admissions, including extended care facility confinements and admissions for mental and nervous disorders and substance use disorder, partial confinements, home health care (excluding supplies and durable medical equipment), inpatient hospice care, and diagnostic and surgical procedures as outlined below are to be certified by the Health Care Management Organization. For non-urgent care, the covered person (or their authorized representative) must call the Health Care Management Organization prior to initiation of services. If the Health Care Management Organization is not called prior to initiation of services for non-urgent care, benefits may be reduced. For urgent care, the covered person (or their authorized representative) must call the Health Care Management Organization within forty-eight (48) hours or the next business day, whichever is later, after the initiation of services. Please note that if the covered person needs medical care that would be considered as urgent care, then there is no requirement that the Plan be contacted for prior approval.

#### Covered persons shall contact the Health Care Management Organization by calling:

#### 1-800-480-6658

When a *covered person* (or authorized representative) calls the *Health Care Management Organization*, he or she should be prepared to provide all of the following information:

- 1. *Employee's* name, address, phone number and Trustmark Health Benefits, Inc. Member Identification Number.
- 2. *Employer's* name.
- 3. If not the *employee*, the patient's name, address, phone number.
- 4. Admitting *physician*'s name and phone number.
- 5. Name of *facility*, *home health care agency* or *hospice*.
- 6. Date of admission or proposed date of admission.
- 7. Condition for which patient is being admitted.
- 8. Notification of the following diagnostic and surgical procedures:
  - a. Blepharoplasty
  - b. CAT scan
  - c. Chemotherapy
  - d. Dialysis
  - e. **Durable medical equipment** with a purchase or rental cost of \$500 or more
  - f. EGD
  - g. Heart Catheterizations
  - h. Home IV infusion
  - i. Hysterectomy
  - j. MRI
  - k. Organ or Tissue Transplant (refer to Medical Expense Benefit, Transplant for additional information)
  - 1. PET Scans
  - m. Radiation therapy
  - n. Rhinoplasty
  - o. Septoplasty

Group health plans generally may not, under federal law, restrict benefits for any hospital length of stay in connection with childbirth for the mother or newborn child to less than forty-eight (48) hours following a normal vaginal delivery, or less than ninety-six (96) hours following a cesarean section. However, federal law generally does not prohibit the mother's or newborn's attending provider, after consulting with the mother, from discharging the mother or her newborn earlier than forty-eight (48) hours (or ninety-six (96) hours as applicable). In any case, plans may not, under federal law, require that a provider obtain authorization from the **Plan** for prescribing a length of stay not in excess of the above periods.

However, *hospital* maternity stays in excess of forty-eight (48) or ninety-six (96) hours as specified above must be pre-certified.

If the *covered person* (or authorized representative) fails to contact the *Health Care Management Organization* prior to the services and procedures listed above and within the timelines detailed above, benefits shall be denied. If the *Health Care Management Organization* declines to grant the full pre-certification requested, benefits for days not certified as *medically necessary* by the *Health Care Management Organization* shall be denied. (Refer to *Post-Service Claim Procedure* discussion above.)

#### NOTICE OF AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

The *covered person* may provide the *plan administrator* (or its designee) with a written authorization for an authorized representative to represent and act on behalf of a *covered person* and consent to release of information related to the *covered person* to the authorized representative with respect to a claim for benefits or an appeal. Authorization forms may be obtained from the Human Resource Department. Notwithstanding the foregoing, requests for pre-certification and other pre-service claims or requests by a person or entity other than the *covered person* may be processed without a written authorization if the request or claim appears to the *plan administrator* (or its designee) to come from a reasonably appropriate and reliable source (*e.g.*, *physician's* office, individuals identifying themselves as immediate relatives, etc.).

#### TIME FRAME FOR PRE-SERVICE CLAIM DETERMINATION

- 1. In the event the *Plan* receives from the *covered person* (or authorized representative) a communication that fails to follow the pre-certification procedure as described above but communicates at least the name of the *covered person*, a specific medical condition or symptom, and a specific treatment, service or product for which prior approval is requested, the *covered person* (or the authorized representative) will be orally notified (and in writing if requested), within five (5) calendar days of the failure of the proper procedure to be followed.
- 2. After a completed pre-certification request for non-urgent care has been submitted to the *Plan*, and if no additional information is required, the *Plan* will generally complete its determination of the claim within a reasonable period of time, but no later than fifteen (15) calendar days from receipt of the request.
- 3. After a pre-certification request for non-urgent care has been submitted to the *Plan*, and if an extension of time to make a decision is necessary due to circumstances beyond the control of the *Plan*, the *Plan* will, within fifteen (15) calendar days from receipt of the request, provide the *covered person* (or authorized representative) with a notice detailing the circumstances and the date by which the *Plan* expects to render a decision. If the circumstances include a failure to submit necessary information, the notice will specifically describe the needed information. The *covered person* will have forty-five (45) calendar days to provide the information requested, and the *Plan* will complete its determination of the claim no later than fifteen (15) calendar days after receipt by the *Plan* of the requested information. Failure to respond in a timely and complete manner will result in an *adverse benefit determination*.

#### **CONCURRENT CARE CLAIMS**

If an extension beyond the original certification is required, the *covered person* (or authorized representative) shall call the *Health Care Management Organization* for continuation of certification.

If a *covered person* (or authorized representative) requests to extend a previously approved hospitalization or an ongoing course of treatment, and;

- 1. The request involves non-*urgent care*, then the extension request must be processed within fifteen (15) calendar days after the request was received.
- 2. The *inpatient* admission or ongoing course of treatment involves *urgent care*, and

- a. The request is received at least twenty-four (24) hours before the scheduled end of a hospitalization or course of treatment, then the request must be ruled upon and the *covered person* (or authorized representative) notified as soon as possible taking into consideration medical exigencies but no later than twenty-four (24) hours after the request was received; or
- b. The request is received less than twenty-four (24) hours before the scheduled end of the hospitalization or course of treatment, then the request must be ruled upon and the *covered person* (or authorized representative) notified as soon as possible but no later than seventy-two (72) hours after the request was received; or
- c. The request is received less than twenty-four (24) hours before the scheduled end of the hospitalization or course of treatment and additional information is required, the *covered person* (or authorized representative) will be notified within twenty-four (24) hours of the additional information required. The *covered person* (or authorized representative) has forty-eight (48) hours to provide such information (may be oral unless written is requested). Upon timely response, the *covered person* (or authorized representative) will be notified as soon as possible but no later than forty-eight (48) hours after receipt of additional information. Failure to submit requested information timely will result in an *adverse benefit determination* of such request.

If the *Health Care Management Organization* determines that the *hospital* stay or course of treatment should be decreased or terminated before the end of the fixed number of days and/or treatments, or the fixed time period that was previously approved, then the *Health Care Management Organization* shall:

- 1. Notify the *covered person* of the proposed change, and
- 2. Allow the *covered person* to file an appeal and obtain a decision, before the end of the fixed number of days and/or treatments, or the fixed time period that was previously approved.

If, at the end of a previously approved hospitalization or course of treatment, the *Health Care Management Organization* determines that continued *confinement* is no longer *medically necessary*, additional days will not be certified. (Refer to *Appealing a Denied Pre-Service Claim* discussion below.)

### NOTICE OF ADVERSE BENEFIT DETERMINATION ON A PRE-SERVICE CLAIM

If a pre-certification request is denied in whole or in part, the *plan administrator* (or its designee) shall provide the *covered person* (or authorized representative) with a written Notice of an Adverse Benefit Determination on a Pre-Service Claim within the time frames above.

The Notice of an Adverse Benefit Determination on a Pre-Service Claim shall include an explanation of the denial, including:

- 1. Information sufficient to identify the claim involved.
- 2. The specific reasons for the denial, to include:
  - a. The denial code and its specific meaning, and
  - A description of the *Plan's* standards, if any, used when denying the claim.
- 3. Reference to the *Plan* provisions on which the *adverse benefit determination* is based.
- 4. A description of any additional material or information needed and an explanation of why such material or information is necessary.
- 5. A description of the *Plan's* claim appeal procedure and applicable time limits.
- 6. If an internal rule, guideline, protocol or other similar criterion was relied upon, the Notice of Adverse Benefit Determination on a Pre-Service Claim will contain either:
  - a. A copy of that criterion, or
  - A statement that such criterion was relied upon and will be supplied free of charge, upon request.
- 7. If the *adverse benefit determination* was based on *medical necessity*, *experimental/investigational* treatment or similar exclusion or limit, the *plan administrator* (or its designee) will supply either:

- a. An explanation of the scientific or clinical judgment, applying the terms of the *Plan* to the *covered person's* medical circumstances, or
- b. A statement that such explanation will be supplied free of charge, upon request.

# APPEALING AN ADVERSE BENEFIT DETERMINATION OF A DENIED PRE-SERVICE CLAIM

A *covered person* (or authorized representative) may request a review of an Adverse Benefit Determination of a Pre-Service claim by making a verbal or written request to the *claims processor* within one hundred eighty (180) calendar days from receipt of notification of the *adverse benefit determination* and stating the reasons the *covered person* feels the claim should not have been denied. If the *covered person* (or authorized representative) wishes to appeal the *adverse benefit determination* when the services in question have already been rendered, such an appeal will be considered as a separate post-service claim. (Refer to *Post-Service Claim Procedure* discussion above.)

The following describes the review process and rights of the *covered person* for a full and fair review:

- 1. The *covered person* has the right to submit documents, information and comments and to present testimony.
- 2. The *covered person* has the right to access, free of charge, *relevant information* to the claim for benefits.
- 3. Before a final determination on appeal is rendered, the *covered person* will be provided, free of charge, with any new or additional rationale or evidence considered, relied upon, or generated by the *Plan* in connection with the claim. Such information will be provided as soon as possible and sufficiently in advance of the notice of final internal determination to give the *covered person* an opportunity to respond. The period for providing notice of final determination on appeal will be tolled until the earliest of the following dates:
  - a. The date the *covered person* responds to the new or additional rationale or evidence; or
  - b. Three (3) weeks from the date the new or additional rationale or evidence was mailed to the *covered person*.
- 4. The review takes into account all information submitted by the *covered person*, even if it was not considered in the initial benefit determination.
- 5. The review by the *claims processor* will not afford deference to the original *adverse benefit determination*.
- 6. The *claims processor* will not be:
  - a. The individual who originally denied the claim, nor
  - b. Subordinate to the individual who originally denied the claim.
- 7. If the original *adverse benefit determination* was, in whole or in part, based on medical judgment:
  - a. The *claims processor* will consult with a *professional provider* who has appropriate training and experience in the field involving the medical judgment.
  - b. The *professional provider* utilized by the *claims processor* will be neither:
    - (i.) An individual who was consulted in connection with the original *adverse benefit determination*, nor
    - (ii.) A subordinate of any other *professional provider* who was consulted in connection with the original *adverse benefit determination*.
- 8. If requested, the *claims processor* will identify the medical or vocational expert(s) who gave advice in connection with the original *adverse benefit determination*, whether or not the advice was relied upon.

#### NOTICE OF PRE-SERVICE DETERMINATION ON APPEAL

The *plan administrator* (or its designee) shall provide the *covered person* (or authorized representative) with a written Notice of Appeal Decision as soon as possible, but not later than thirty (30) calendar days from receipt of the appeal (not applicable to *urgent care* claims).

If the appeal is denied, the Notice of Appeal Decision will contain an explanation of the decision, including:

- 1. The specific reasons for the *adverse benefit determination*.
- 2. Reference to specific *Plan* provisions on which the *adverse benefit determination* is based.
- 3. A statement that the *covered person* has the right to access, free of charge, *relevant information* to the claim for benefits.

- 4. A statement of the *covered person's* right to request an external review and a description of the process for requesting such a review.
- 5. If an internal rule, guideline, protocol or other similar criterion was relied upon, the Notice of Appeal Decision will contain either:
  - a. A copy of that criterion, or
  - b. A statement that such criterion was relied upon and will be supplied free of charge, upon request.
- 6. If the *adverse benefit determination* was based on *medical necessity*, *experimental/investigational* treatment or similar exclusion or limit, the *plan administrator* (or its designee) will supply either:
  - a. An explanation of the scientific or clinical judgment, applying the terms of the *Plan* to the claimant's medical circumstances, or
  - b. A statement that such explanation will be supplied free of charge, upon request.

#### CASE MANAGEMENT

In cases where the *covered person*'s condition is expected to be or is of a serious nature, the *Health Care Management Organization* may arrange for review and/or case management services from a professional qualified to perform such services. The *plan administrator* shall have the right to alter or waive the normal provisions of the *Plan* when it is reasonable to expect a cost-effective result without a sacrifice to the quality of care.

In addition, the *Health Care Management Organization* may recommend (or change) alternative:

- methods of medical care or treatment;
- equipment; or
- supplies;

that differ from the medical care or treatment, equipment or supplies that are considered *covered expenses* under the *Plan*.

The recommended alternatives will be considered as *covered expenses* under the *Plan* provided the expenses can be shown to be viable, *medically necessary*, and are included in a written case management report or treatment plan proposed by the *Health Care Management Organization*.

Case management will be determined on the merits of each individual case, and any care or treatment provided will not be considered as setting any precedent or creating any future liability with respect to that *covered person* or any other *covered person*.

# POST-SERVICE AND PRE-SERVICE CLAIM EXTERNAL APPEALS PROCEDURE

#### EXTERNAL APPEAL

A covered person, or the covered person's authorized representative, may request a review of an adverse benefit determination appeal if the claim determination involves medical judgment or a rescission by making written request to the claims processor within four (4) months of receipt of notification of the final internal adverse benefit determination. Medical judgment includes, but is not limited to:

- 1. *Medical necessity*;
- 2. Appropriateness:
- 3. *Experimental* or *investigational* treatment;
- 4. Health care setting;
- 5. Level of care; and
- 6. Effectiveness of a *covered expense*.

If there is no corresponding date four (4) months after the date of receipt of such a notice, then the request must be made by the first day of the fifth month following the receipt of the notice of final internal *adverse benefit determination*. {Note: If the date of receipt of the notice is October 30, because there is no February 30, the request must be filed by March 1, or the next day if March 1st falls on a Saturday, Sunday or Federal holiday.}

#### RIGHT TO EXTERNAL APPEAL

Within five (5) business days of receipt of the request, the *claims processor* will perform a preliminary review of the request to determine if the request is eligible for external review, based on confirmation that the final internal *adverse benefit determination* was the result of:

- 1. Medical judgment; or
- 2. Rescission of coverage under this *Plan*.

#### NOTICE OF RIGHT TO EXTERNAL APPEAL

The *plan administrator* (or its designee) shall provide the *covered person* (or authorized representative) with a written notice of the decision as to whether the claim is eligible for external review within one (1) business day after completion of the preliminary review.

The Notice of Right to External Appeal shall include the following:

- 1. The reason for ineligibility and the availability of the Employee Benefits Security Administration at 1-866-444-3272, if the request is complete but not eligible for external review.
- 2. If the request is incomplete, the information or materials necessary to make the request complete and the opportunity for the *covered person* to perfect the external review request by the later of the following:
  - a. The four (4) month filing period; or
  - b. Within the forty-eight (48) hour time period following the *covered person*'s receipt of notification.

#### INDEPENDENT REVIEW ORGANIZATION

For external reviews by an Independent Review Organization (IRO), such IRO shall be accredited by URAC or a similar nationally recognized accrediting organization and shall be assigned to conduct the external review. The assigned IRO will timely notify the *covered person* in writing of the request's eligibility and acceptance for external review.

#### NOTICE OF EXTERNAL REVIEW DETERMINATION

The assigned IRO shall provide the *plan administrator* (or its designee) and the *covered person* (or authorized representative) with a written notice of the final external review decision within forty-five (45) days after receipt of the external review request.

The Notice of Final External Review Decision from the IRO is binding on the *covered person*, the *Plan* and *claims processor*, except to the extent that other remedies may be available under State or Federal law.

#### EXPEDITED EXTERNAL REVIEW

The *plan administrator* (or its designee) shall provide the *covered person* (or authorized representative) the right to request an expedited external review upon the *covered person's* receipt of either of the following:

1. An *adverse benefit determination* involving a medical condition for which the timeframe noted above for completion of an internal appeal would seriously jeopardize the health or life of the *covered person* or the *covered person*'s ability to regain maximum function and the *covered person* has filed an internal appeal request.

- 2. A final internal *adverse benefit determination* of benefits involving a medical condition for which the timeframe for completion of a standard external review would seriously jeopardize the health or life of the *covered person* or the *covered person*'s ability to regain maximum function or if the final internal *adverse benefit determination* involves any of the following:
  - a. An admission,
  - b. Availability of care,
  - c. Continued stay, or
  - d. A health care item or service for which the *covered person* received *emergency services*, but has not yet been discharged from a *facility*.

Immediately upon receipt of the request for Expedited External Review, the Plan will do all of the following:

- 1. Perform a preliminary review to determine whether the request meets the requirements in the subsection, *Right to External Appeal*.
- 2. Send notice of the *Plan's* decision, as described in the subsection, *Notice of Right to External Appeal*.

Upon determination that a request is eligible for external review, the *Plan* will do all of the following:

- 1. Assign an IRO as described in the subsection, *Independent Review Organization*.
- 2. Provide all necessary documents or information used to make the *adverse benefit determination* or final *adverse benefit determination* to the IRO either by telephone, facsimile, electronically or other expeditious method.

The assigned IRO will provide notice of final external review decision as expeditiously as the *covered person's* medical condition or circumstances require, but in no event more than seventy-two (72) hours after receipt of the expedited external review request. The notice shall follow the requirements in the subsection, *Notice of External Review Determination*. If the notice of the expedited external review determination was not in writing, the assigned IRO shall provide the *plan administrator* (or its designee) and the *covered person* (or authorized representative) written confirmation of its decision within forty-eight (48) hours after the date of providing that notice.

# **COORDINATION OF BENEFITS**

The *Coordination of Benefits* provision is intended to prevent duplication of benefits. It applies when the *covered person* is also covered by any Other Plan(s). When more than one coverage exists, one plan normally pays its benefits in full, referred to as the primary plan. The Other Plan(s), referred to as secondary plan, pays a reduced benefit. When coordination of benefits occurs, the total benefit payable by all plans will not exceed one hundred percent (100%) of "allowable expenses." Only the amount paid by this *Plan* will be charged against the *Essential Health Benefits*/non-*Essential Health Benefits maximum benefit*.

The *Coordination of Benefits* provision applies whether or not a claim is filed under the Other Plan(s). If another plan provides benefits in the form of services rather than cash, the reasonable value of the service rendered shall be deemed the benefit paid.

### DEFINITIONS APPLICABLE TO THIS PROVISION

"Allowable Expenses" means any reasonable, necessary, and customary expenses *incurred* while covered under this *Plan*, part or all of which would be covered under this *Plan*. Allowable Expenses do not include expenses contained in the "Exclusions" sections of this *Plan*.

When this *Plan* is secondary, "Allowable Expense" will include any deductible or *coinsurance* amounts not paid by the Other Plan(s).

This *Plan* is not eligible to be elected as primary coverage in lieu of automobile benefits. Payments from automobile insurance will always be primary and this *Plan* shall be secondary only.

When this *Plan* is secondary, "Allowable Expense" shall <u>not</u> include any amount that is not payable under the primary plan as a result of a contract between the primary plan and a provider of service in which such provider agrees to accept a reduced payment and not to bill the *covered person* for the difference between the provider's contracted amount and the provider's regular billed charge.

"Other Plan" means any plan, policy or coverage providing benefits or services for, or by reason of medical, dental or vision care. Such Other Plan(s) do not include flexible spending accounts (FSA), health reimbursement accounts (HRA), health savings accounts (HSA), or individual medical, dental or vision insurance policies. "Other Plan" also does not include Tricare, *Medicare*, Medicaid or a state child health insurance program (CHIP). Such Other Plan(s) may include, without limitation:

- 1. Group insurance or any other arrangement for coverage for *covered persons* in a group, whether on an insured or uninsured basis, including, but not limited to, *hospital* indemnity benefits and *hospital* reimbursement-type plans;
- 2. *Hospital* or medical service organization on a group basis, group practice, and other group prepayment plans or on an individual basis having a provision similar in effect to this provision;
- 3. A licensed Health Maintenance Organization (HMO);
- 4. Any coverage for students which is sponsored by, or provided through, a school or other educational institution;
- 5. Any coverage under a government program and any coverage required or provided by any statute;
- 6. Group automobile insurance;
- 7. Individual automobile insurance coverage;

- 8. Individual automobile insurance coverage based upon the principles of "No-fault" coverage;
- 9. Any plan or policies funded in whole or in part by an employer, or deductions made by an employer from a person's compensation or retirement benefits;
- 10. Labor/management trusteed, union welfare, employer organization, or employee benefit organization plans.

"This *Plan*" shall mean that portion of the *employer's Plan* which provides benefits that are subject to this provision.

"Claim Determination Period" means a calendar year or that portion of a calendar year during which the *covered person* for whom a claim is made has been covered under this *Plan*.

## EFFECT ON BENEFITS

This provision shall apply in determining the benefits for a *covered person* for each claim determination period for the Allowable Expenses. If this *Plan* is secondary, the benefits paid under this *Plan* may be reduced so that the sum of benefits paid by all plans does not exceed 100% of total Allowable Expenses.

If the rules set forth below would require this *Plan* to determine its benefits before such Other Plan, then the benefits of such Other Plan will be ignored for the purposes of determining the benefits under this *Plan*.

## ORDER OF BENEFIT DETERMINATION

Except as provided below in *Coordination with Medicare*, each plan will make its claim payment according to the first applicable provision in the following list of provisions which determine the order of benefit payment:

#### 1. No Coordination of Benefits Provision

If the Other Plan contains no provisions for coordination of benefits, then its benefits shall be paid before all Other Plan(s).

#### 2. Member/Dependent

The plan which covers the claimant directly pays before a plan that covers the claimant as a dependent.

## 3. <u>Dependent Children of Parents not Separated or Divorced</u>

The plan covering the parent whose birthday (month and day) occurs earlier in the year pays first. The plan covering the parent whose birthday falls later in the year pays second. If both parents have the same birthday, the plan that covered a parent longer pays first. A parent's <u>year</u> of birth is <u>not relevant</u> in applying this rule.

### 4. <u>Dependent Children of Separated or Divorced Parents</u>

When parents are separated or divorced, the birthday rule does not apply, instead:

- a. If a court decree has given one parent financial responsibility for the child's health care, the plan of that parent pays first. The plan of the stepparent married to that parent, if any, pays second. The plan of the other natural parent pays third. The plan of the spouse of the other natural parent, if any, pays fourth.
- b. In the absence of such a court decree, the plan of the parent with custody pays first. The plan of the stepparent married to the parent with custody, if any, pays second. The plan of the parent without custody pays third. The plan of the spouse of the parent without custody, if any, pays fourth.

#### 5. Active/Inactive

The plan covering a person as an active (not laid off or retired) employee or as that person's dependent pays first. The plan covering that person as a laid off or retired employee, or as that person's dependent pays second.

6. <u>Longer/Shorter Length of Coverage</u>

If none of the above rules determine the order of benefits, the plan covering a person longer pays first. The plan covering that person for a shorter time pays second.

## COORDINATION WITH MEDICARE

Individuals may be eligible for *Medicare* Part A at no cost if they: (i) are age 65 or older, (ii) have been determined by the Social Security Administration to be disabled, or (iii) have end stage renal disease. Participation in *Medicare* Part B and D is available to all individuals who make application and pay the full cost of the coverage.

- 1. When an *employee* becomes entitled to *Medicare* coverage (due to age or disability) and is still actively at work, the *employee* may continue health coverage under this *Plan* at the same level of benefits and contribution rate that applied before reaching *Medicare* entitlement.
- 2. When a *dependent* becomes entitled to *Medicare* coverage (due to age or disability) and the *employee* is still actively at work, the *dependent* may continue health coverage under this *Plan* at the same level of benefits and contribution rate that applied before reaching *Medicare* entitlement.
- 3. If the *employee* and/or *dependent* are also enrolled in *Medicare* (due to age or disability), this *Plan* shall pay as the primary plan. If, however, the *Medicare* enrollment is due to end stage renal disease, the *Plan's* primary payment obligation will end at the end of the thirty (30) month "coordination period" as provided in *Medicare* law and regulations. If the *employee* and/or *dependent* does not elect *Medicare*, but is otherwise eligible due to end stage renal disease, benefits will be paid as if *Medicare* has been elected and this *Plan* will pay secondary benefits upon completion of the thirty (30) month "coordination period."
- 4. Notwithstanding Paragraphs 1 to 3 above, if the *employer* (including certain affiliated entities that are considered the same employer for this purpose) has fewer than one hundred (100) *employees*, when a covered *dependent* becomes entitled to *Medicare* coverage due to *total disability*, as determined by the Social Security Administration, and the *employee* is actively-at-work, *Medicare* will pay as the primary payer for claims of the *dependent* and this *Plan* will pay secondary.
- 5. If the *employee* and/or *dependent* elect to discontinue health coverage under this *Plan* and enroll under the *Medicare* program, no benefits will be paid under this *Plan*. *Medicare* will be the only payor.
- 6. For a *retiree* eligible for *Medicare* due to age, *Medicare* shall be the primary payor and this *Plan* shall be secondary.

This section is subject to the terms of the *Medicare* laws and regulations. Any changes in these related laws and regulations will apply to the provisions of this section.

## LIMITATIONS ON PAYMENTS

In no event shall the *covered person* recover under this *Plan* and all Other Plan(s) combined more than the total Allowable Expenses offered by this *Plan* and the Other Plan(s). Nothing contained in this section shall entitle the *covered person* to benefits in excess of the total *Essential Health Benefits*/non-*Essential Health Benefits* maximum benefit of this *Plan* during the claim determination period. The *covered person* shall refund to the *employer* any excess it may have paid.

## RIGHT TO RECEIVE AND RELEASE NECESSARY INFORMATION

For the purposes of determining the applicability of and implementing the terms of this *Coordination of Benefits* provision, the *Plan* may, without the consent of or notice to any person, release to or obtain from any insurance company or any other organization any information, regarding other insurance, with respect to any *covered person*. Any person claiming benefits under this *Plan* shall furnish to the *employer* such information as may be necessary to implement the *Coordination of Benefits* provision.

## FACILITY OF BENEFIT PAYMENT

Whenever payments which should have been made under this *Plan* in accordance with this provision have been made under any Other Plan, the *employer* shall have the right, exercisable alone and in its sole discretion, to pay over to any organization making such other payments any amounts it shall determine to be warranted in order to satisfy the intent of this provision. Amounts so paid shall be deemed to be benefits paid under this *Plan* and, to the extent of such payments, the *employer* shall be fully discharged from liability.

## AUTOMOBILE ACCIDENT BENEFITS

The *Plan's* liability for expenses arising out of an automobile accident shall always be secondary to any automobile insurance, irrespective of the type of automobile insurance law that is in effect in the *covered person's* state of residence. Currently, there are three (3) types of state automobile insurance laws.

- 1. No-fault automobile insurance laws
- 2. Financial responsibility laws
- 3. Other automobile liability insurance laws

No Fault Automobile Insurance Laws. In no event will the *Plan* pay any claim presented by or on behalf of a *covered person* for medical benefits that would have been payable under an automobile insurance policy but for an election made by the principal named insured under the automobile policy that reduced covered levels and/or subsequent premium. This is intended to exclude, as a *covered expense*, a *covered person's* medical expenses arising from an automobile accident that are payable under an automobile insurance policy or that would have been payable under an automobile insurance policy but for such an election.

- 1. In the event a *covered person* incurs medical expenses as a result of *injuries* sustained in an automobile accident while "covered by an automobile insurance policy," as an operator of the vehicle, as a passenger, or as a pedestrian, benefits will be further limited to medical expenses, that would in no event be payable under the automobile insurance.
- 2. For the purposes of this section the following people are deemed "covered by an automobile insurance policy."
  - a. An owner or principal named insured individual under such policy.
  - b. A family member of an insured person for whom coverage is provided under the terms and conditions of the automobile insurance policy.
  - c. Any other person who, except for the existence of the *Plan*, would be eligible for medical expense benefits under an automobile insurance policy.

<u>Financial Responsibility Laws.</u> The *Plan* will be secondary to any potentially applicable automobile insurance even if the state's "financial responsibility law" does not allow the *Plan* to be secondary.

Other Automobile Liability Insurance. If the state does not have a no-fault automobile insurance law or a "financial responsibility" law, the *Plan* is secondary to automobile insurance coverage or to any other person or entity who caused the *accident* or who may be liable for the *covered person's* medical expenses pursuant to the general rule for *Subrogation/Reimbursement*.

# SUBROGATION/REIMBURSEMENT

The *Plan* is designed to only pay *covered expenses* for which payment is not available from anyone else, including any insurance company or another health plan. In order to help a *covered person* in a time of need, however, the *Plan* may pay *covered expenses* that may be or become the responsibility of another person, provided that the *Plan* later receives reimbursement for those payments (hereinafter called "Reimbursable Payments").

Therefore, by enrolling in the *Plan*, as well as by applying for payment of *covered expenses*, a *covered person* is subject to, and agrees to, the following terms and conditions with respect to the amount of *covered expenses* paid by the *Plan*:

- 1. Assignment of Rights (Subrogation). The covered person automatically assigns to the Plan any rights the covered person may have to recover all or part of the same covered expenses from any party, including an insurer or another group health program (except flexible spending accounts, health reimbursement accounts and health savings accounts), but limited to the amount of Reimbursable Payments made by the Plan. This assignment includes, without limitation, the assignment of a right to any funds paid by a third party to a covered person or paid to another for the benefit of the covered person. This assignment applies on a first-dollar basis (i.e., has priority over other rights), applies whether the funds paid to (or for the benefit of) the covered person constitute a full or a partial recovery, and even applies to funds actually or allegedly paid for non-medical or dental charges, attorney fees, or other costs and expenses. This assignment also allows the Plan to pursue any claim that the covered person may have, whether or not the covered person chooses to pursue that claim. By this assignment, the Plan's right to recover from insurers includes, without limitation, such recovery rights against no-fault auto insurance carriers in a situation where no third party may be liable, and from any uninsured or underinsured motorist coverage.
- 2. Equitable Lien and other Equitable Remedies. The *Plan* shall have an equitable lien against any rights the *covered person* may have to recover the same *covered expenses* from any party, including an insurer or another group health program, but limited to the amount of Reimbursable Payments made by the *Plan*. The equitable lien also attaches to any right to payment from workers' compensation, whether by judgment or settlement, where the *Plan* has paid *covered expenses* prior to a determination that the *covered expenses* arose out of and in the course of employment. Payment by workers' compensation insurers or the employer will be deemed to mean that such a determination has been made.

This equitable lien shall also attach to any money or property that is obtained by anybody (including, but not limited to, the *covered person*, the *covered person's* attorney, and/or a trust) as a result of an exercise of the *covered person's* rights of recovery (sometimes referred to as "proceeds"). The *Plan* shall also be entitled to seek any other equitable remedy against any party possessing or controlling such proceeds. At the discretion of the *plan administrator*, the *Plan* may reduce any future *covered expenses* otherwise available to the *covered person* under the *Plan* by an amount up to the total amount of Reimbursable Payments made by the *Plan* that is subject to the equitable lien.

This and any other provisions of the *Plan* concerning equitable liens and other equitable remedies are intended to meet the standards for enforcement under ERISA that were enunciated in the United States Supreme Court's decision entitled, <u>Great-West Life & Annuity Insurance Co. v. Knudson</u>, 534 US 204 (2002). The provisions of the *Plan* concerning subrogation, equitable liens and other equitable remedies are also intended to supercede the applicability of the federal common law doctrines commonly referred to as the "make whole" rule and the "common fund" rule.

3. <u>Assisting in *Plan's* Reimbursement Activities</u>. The *covered person* has an obligation to assist the *Plan* to obtain reimbursement of the Reimbursable Payments that it has made on behalf of the *covered person*, and to provide the *Plan* with any information concerning the *covered person's* other insurance coverage (whether through automobile insurance, other group health program, or otherwise) and any other person or entity (including their insurer(s)) that may be obligated to provide payments or benefits to or for the benefit of the *covered person*. The *covered person* is required to (a) cooperate fully in the *Plan's* (or any *Plan* fiduciary's)

enforcement of the terms of the *Plan*, including the exercise of the *Plan's* right to subrogation and reimbursement, whether against the *covered person* or any third party, (b) not do anything to prejudice those enforcement efforts or rights (such as settling a claim against another party without including the *Plan* as a co-payee for the amount of the Reimbursable Payments and notifying the *Plan*), (c) sign any document deemed by the *plan administrator* to be relevant to protecting the *Plan's* subrogation, reimbursement or other rights, and (d) provide relevant information when requested. The term "information" includes any documents, insurance policies, police reports, or any reasonable request by the *plan administrator* or *claims processor* to enforce the *Plan's* rights.

The *plan administrator* has delegated to the *claims processor* for medical claims the right to perform ministerial functions required to assert the *Plan's* rights with regard to such claims and benefits; however, the *plan administrator* shall retain discretionary authority with regard to asserting the *Plan's* recovery rights.

# **GENERAL PROVISIONS**

## ADMINISTRATION OF THE PLAN

The *Plan* is administered through the Human Resources Department of the *employer*. The *employer* is the *plan* administrator. The *plan* administrator shall have full charge of the operation and management of the *Plan*. The *employer* has retained the services of an independent *claims processor* experienced in claims review.

The *employer* is the sponsor of the *Plan*. The *employer* maintains authority to review all denied claims under appeal for benefits under the *Plan*. The *employer* maintains authority to interpret the terms of the *Plan*, including but not limited to, determination of eligibility for and entitlement to *Plan* benefits in accordance with the terms of the *Plan*; any interpretation or determination made pursuant to such authority shall be given full force and effect, unless it can be shown that the interpretation or determination was arbitrary and capricious.

## APPLICABLE LAW

Except to the extent preempted by federal law, all provisions of the *Plan* shall be construed and administered in a manner consistent with the requirements under the laws of the State of Georgia.

## ASSIGNMENT

Coverage and the *covered person's* rights under this *Plan* may not be assigned. A direction to pay a provider is not an assignment of any right under this *Plan* or of any legal or equitable right to institute any court proceeding.

#### Payment of Benefits

Benefits will be processed as soon as the necessary proof to support the claim is received. Written proof must be provided for all benefits. All covered health benefits are payable to the *covered person*. However, the *Plan* has the right to pay any health benefits to the service provider. This will be done unless the *covered person* has told the *claims processor* otherwise by the time the *covered person* files the claim and a reasonable amount of time for the *claims processor* to process the *covered person*'s request.

**Preferred providers** normally bill the **Plan** directly. If services, supplies or treatments have been received from such a provider, benefits are automatically paid to that provider. The **covered person's** portion of the **negotiated rate**, after the **Plan's** payment, will then be billed to the **covered person** by the **preferred provider**.

The *Plan* will pay benefits to the responsible party of an *alternate recipient* as designated in a Qualified Medical Child Support Order (QMCSO) or National Medical Support Notice (NMSN).

#### Additional Provisions

The *Plan's*, *Plan Sponsor's*, *claim processor's* failure to implement or insist upon compliance with any provision of this *Plan* at any given time or times, shall not constitute a waiver of the right to implement or insist upon compliance with that provision at any other time or times.

## BENEFITS NOT TRANSFERABLE

Except as otherwise stated herein, no person other than an eligible *covered person* is entitled to receive benefits under the *Plan*. Such right to benefits is not transferable.

## CLERICAL ERROR

No clerical error on the part of the *employer* or *claims processor* shall operate to defeat any of the rights, privileges, services, or benefits of any *employee* or any *dependent(s)* hereunder, nor create or continue coverage which would not otherwise validly become effective or continue in force hereunder. An equitable adjustment of contributions and/or benefits will be made when the error or delay is discovered. However, if more than six (6) months has elapsed prior to discovery of any error, any adjustment of contributions shall be waived. No party shall be liable for the failure of any other party to perform.

## **CONFORMITY WITH STATUTE(S)**

Any provision of the *Plan* which is in conflict with statutes which are applicable to the *Plan* is hereby amended to conform to the minimum requirements of said statute(s).

## EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE PLAN

The original *effective date* of this Plan was January 1, 2018. The *effective date* of the modifications contained herein is January 1, 2021.

## FRAUD OR INTENTIONAL MISREPRESENTATION

If the *covered person* or anyone acting on behalf of a *covered person* makes a false statement on the application for enrollment, or withholds information with intent to deceive or affect the acceptance of the enrollment application or the risks assumed by the *Plan*, or otherwise misleads the *Plan*, the *Plan* shall be entitled to recover its damages, including legal fees, from the *covered person*, or from any other person responsible for misleading the *Plan*, and from the person for whom the benefits were provided. Any fraud or intentional misrepresentation of a material fact on the part of the *covered person* or an individual seeking coverage on behalf of the individual in making application for coverage, or any application for reclassification thereof, or for service thereunder is prohibited and shall render the coverage under the *Plan* null and void.

## FREE CHOICE OF HOSPITAL AND PHYSICIAN

Nothing contained in the *Plan* shall in any way or manner restrict or interfere with the right of any person entitled to benefits hereunder to select a *hospital* or to make a free choice of the attending *physician* or *professional provider*. However, benefits will be paid in accordance with the provisions of the *Plan*, and the *covered person* will have higher out-of-pocket expenses if the *covered person* uses the services of a *nonpreferred provider*.

## *INCAPACITY*

If, in the opinion of the *employer*, a *covered person* for whom a claim has been made is incapable of furnishing a valid receipt of payment due him and in the absence of written evidence to the *Plan* of the qualification of a guardian or personal representative for his estate, the *employer* may on behalf of the *Plan*, at his discretion, make any and all such payments to the provider of services or other person providing for the care and support of such person. Any payment so made will constitute a complete discharge of the *Plan's* obligation to the extent of such payment.

## INCONTESTABILITY

All statements made by the *employer* or by the *employee* covered under the *Plan* shall be deemed representations and not warranties. Such statements shall not void or reduce the benefits under the *Plan* or be used in defense to a claim unless they are contained in writing and signed by the *employer* or by the *covered person*, as the case may be. A statement made shall not be used in any legal contest unless a copy of the instrument containing the statement is or has been furnished to the other party to such a contest.

## LEGAL ACTIONS

The decision by the *plan administrator/claims processor* on review will be final, binding, and conclusive, and will be afforded the maximum deference permitted by law. All claim review procedures provided for in this plan document must be exhausted before any legal or equitable action is brought. Notwithstanding any other state or federal law, any and all legal actions to recover benefits, whether against the *Plan*, *plan administrator/claims processor*, any other fiduciary, or their employees, must be filed within two (2) years from the date the expense was incurred or one (1) year from the date the completed claim was filed, whichever occurred first.

## LIMITS ON LIABILITY

Liability hereunder is limited to the services and benefits specified, and the *employer* shall not be liable for any obligation of the *covered person incurred* in excess thereof. The *employer* shall not be liable for the negligence, wrongful act, or omission of any *physician*, *professional provider*, *hospital*, or other institution, or their employees, or any other person. The liability of the *Plan* shall be limited to the reasonable cost of *covered expenses* and shall not include any liability for suffering or general damages.

## LOST DISTRIBUTEES

Any benefit payable hereunder shall be deemed forfeited if the *plan administrator* is unable to locate the *covered person* to whom payment is due, provided, however, that such benefits shall be reinstated if a claim is made by the *covered person* for the forfeited benefits within the time prescribed in the applicable Claim Filing Procedure section of this document.

## MEDICAID ELIGIBILITY AND ASSIGNMENT OF RIGHTS

The *Plan* will not take into account whether an individual is eligible for, or is currently receiving, medical assistance under a state plan for medical assistance as provided under Title XIX of the Social Security Act ("State Medicaid Plan") either in enrolling that individual as a *covered person* or in determining or making any payment of benefits to that individual. The *Plan* will pay benefits with respect to such individual in accordance with any assignment of rights made by or on behalf of such individual as required under a state Medicaid plan pursuant to § 1912(a)(1)(A) of the Social Security Act. To the extent payment has been made to such individual under a state Medicaid Plan and this *Plan* has a legal liability to make payments for the same services, supplies or treatment, payment under the *Plan* will be made in accordance with any state law which provides that the state has acquired the rights with respect to such individual to payment for such services, supplies or treatment under the *Plan*.

## PHYSICAL EXAMINATIONS REQUIRED BY THE PLAN

The *Plan*, at its own expense, shall have the right to require an examination of a person covered under the *Plan* when and as often as it may reasonably require during the pendency of a claim.

## PLAN IS NOT A CONTRACT

The *Plan* shall not be deemed to constitute a contract between the *employer* and any *employee* or to be a consideration for, or an inducement or condition of, the employment of any *employee*. Nothing in the *Plan* shall be deemed to give any *employee* the right to be retained in the service of the *employer* or to interfere with the right of the *employer* to terminate the employment of any *employee* at any time.

## PLAN MODIFICATION AND AMENDMENT

The *employer* may modify or amend the *Plan* from time to time at its sole discretion, and such amendments or modifications which affect *covered persons* will be communicated to the *covered persons*. Any such amendments

shall be in writing, setting forth the modified provisions of the *Plan*, the *effective date* of the modifications, and shall be signed by the *employer's* designee.

Such modification or amendment shall be duly incorporated in writing into the master copy of the *Plan* on file with the *employer*, or a written copy thereof shall be deposited with such master copy of the *Plan*. Appropriate filing and reporting of any such modification or amendment with governmental authorities and to *covered persons* shall be timely made by the *employer*.

## PLAN TERMINATION

The *employer* reserves the right to terminate the *Plan* at any time. Upon termination, the rights of the *covered persons* to benefits are limited to claims *incurred* up to the date of termination. Any termination of the *Plan* will be communicated to the *covered persons*.

Upon termination of this *Plan*, all claims *incurred* prior to termination, but not submitted to either the *employer* or *claims processor* within three (3) months of the *effective date* of termination of this *Plan*, will be excluded from any benefit consideration.

## **PRONOUNS**

All personal pronouns used in the *Plan* shall include either gender unless the context clearly indicates to the contrary.

## RECOVERY FOR OVERPAYMENT

Whenever payments have been made from the *Plan* in excess of the maximum amount of payment necessary, the *Plan* will have the right to recover these excess payments. If the *Plan* makes any payment that, according to the terms of the *Plan*, should not have been made, the *Plan* may recover that incorrect payment, whether or not it was made due to the *Plan's* or the *Plan* designee's own error, from the person or entity to whom it was made or from any other appropriate party.

## STATUS CHANGE

If an *employee* or *dependent* has a status change while covered under this *Plan* (*i.e.*, *dependent* to *employee*, COBRA to active) and no interruption in coverage has occurred, the *Plan* will provide continuous coverage with respect to any deductible(s), *coinsurance* and *Essential Health Benefits*/non-*Essential Health Benefits* maximum benefit.

## TIME EFFECTIVE

The effective time with respect to any dates used in the *Plan* shall be 12:01 a.m. as may be legally in effect at the address of the *plan administrator*.

## WORKERS' COMPENSATION NOT AFFECTED

This *Plan* is not in lieu of, and does not affect any requirement for, coverage by Workers' Compensation Insurance.

# **HIPAA PRIVACY**

The following provisions are intended to comply with applicable *Plan* amendment requirements under Federal regulation implementing Section 264 of the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (*HIPAA*).

## DISCLOSURE BY PLAN TO PLAN SPONSOR

The *Plan* may take the following actions only upon receipt of a *Plan* amendment certification:

- 1. Disclose protected health information to the *plan sponsor*.
- 2. Provide for or permit the disclosure of protected health information to the *plan sponsor* by a health insurance issuer or HMO with respect to the *Plan*.

## USE AND DISCLOSURE BY PLAN SPONSOR

The *plan sponsor* may use or disclose protected health information received from the *Plan* to the extent not inconsistent with the provisions of this *HIPAA Privacy* section or the *privacy rule*.

## OBLIGATIONS OF PLAN SPONSOR

The *plan sponsor* shall have the following obligations:

- 1. Ensure that:
  - a. Any agents (including a subcontractor) to whom it provides protected health information received from the *Plan* agree to the same restrictions and conditions that apply to the *plan sponsor* with respect to such information; and
  - b. Adequate separation between the *Plan* and the *plan sponsor* is established in compliance with the requirement in 45 C.F.R. 164.504(f)(2)(iii).
- 2. Not use or further disclose protected health information received from the *Plan*, other than as permitted or required by the *Plan* documents or as *required by law*.
- 3. Not use or disclose protected health information received from the *Plan*:
  - a. For employment-related actions and decisions; or
  - b. In connection with any other benefit or employee benefit plan of the *plan sponsor*.
- 4. Report to the *Plan* any use or disclosure of the protected health information received from the *Plan* that is inconsistent with the use or disclosure provided for of which it becomes aware.
- 5. Make available protected health information received from the *Plan*, as and to the extent required by the *privacy rule*:
  - a. For access to the individual:
  - b. For amendment and incorporate any amendments to protected health information received from the *Plan*; and
  - c. To provide an accounting of disclosures.
- 6. Make its internal practices, books, and records relating to the use and disclosure of protected health information received from the *Plan* available to the Secretary of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services for purposes of determining compliance by the *Plan* with the *privacy rule*.

- 7. Return or destroy all protected health information received from the *Plan* that the *plan sponsor* still maintains in any form and retain no copies when no longer needed for the purpose for which the disclosure by the *Plan* was made, but if such return or destruction is not feasible, limit further uses and disclosures to those purposes that make the return or destruction of the information infeasible.
- 8. Provide protected health information only to those individuals, under the control of the *plan sponsor* who perform administrative functions for the *Plan*; (*i.e.*, eligibility, enrollment, payroll deduction, benefit determination, claim reconciliation assistance), and to make clear to such individuals that they are not to use protected health information for any reason other than for *Plan* administrative functions nor to release protected health information to an unauthorized individual.
- 9. Provide protected health information only to those entities required to receive the information in order to maintain the *Plan* (*i.e.*, claim administrator, case management vendor, *pharmacy benefit manager*, claim subrogation, vendor, claim auditor, network manager, stop-loss insurance carrier, insurance broker/consultant, and any other entity subcontracted to assist in administering the *Plan*).
- 10. Provide an effective mechanism for resolving issues of noncompliance with regard to the items mentioned in this provision.
- 11. Reasonably and appropriately safeguard electronic protected health information created, received, maintained, or transmitted to or by the *plan sponsor* on behalf of the *Plan*. Specifically, such safeguarding entails an obligation to:
  - a. Implement administrative, physical, and technical safeguards that reasonably and appropriately protect the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of the electronic protected health information that the *plan sponsor* creates, receives, maintains, or transmits on behalf of the *Plan*;
  - b. Ensure that the adequate separation as required by 45 C.F.R. 164.504(f)(2)(iii) is supported by reasonable and appropriate security measures;
  - c. Ensure that any agent, including a subcontractor, to whom it provides this information agrees to implement reasonable and appropriate security measures to protect the information; and
  - d. Report to the *Plan* any security incident of which it becomes aware.

## **EXCEPTIONS**

Notwithstanding any other provision of this *HIPAA Privacy* section, the *Plan* (or a health insurance issuer or HMO with respect to the *Plan*) may:

- 1. Disclose summary health information to the *plan sponsor* if the *plan sponsor* requests it for the purpose of:
  - a. Obtaining premium bids from health plans for providing health insurance coverage under the *Plan*; or
  - b. Modifying, amending, or terminating the *Plan*;
- 2. Disclose to the *plan sponsor* information on whether the individual is participating in the *Plan*, or is enrolled in or has disenrolled from a health insurance issuer or HMO offered by the *Plan*;
- 3. Use or disclose protected health information:
  - a. With (and consistent with) a valid authorization obtained in accordance with the *privacy rule*;
  - b. To carry out treatment, payment, or health care operations in accordance with the *privacy rule*; or
  - c. As otherwise permitted or required by the *privacy rule*.

# **DEFINITIONS**

Certain words and terms used herein shall be defined as follows and are shown in **bold and italics** throughout the document:

#### Accident

An unforeseen event resulting in *injury*.

#### Adverse Benefit Determination

Adverse benefit determination shall mean any of the following:

- 1. A denial in benefits.
- 2. A reduction in benefits.
- 3. A rescission of coverage, even if the rescission does not impact a current claim for benefits.
- 4. A termination of benefits.
- 5. A failure to provide or make payment (in whole or in part) for a benefit, including any such denial, reduction, termination, or failure to provide or make payment that is based on a determination of a e *covered person's* eligibility to participate in the *Plan*.
- 6. A denial, reduction, or termination of, or a failure to provide or make payment (in whole or in part) for, a benefit resulting from the application of any utilization review.
- 7. A failure to cover an item or service for which benefits are otherwise provided because it is determined to be *experimental/investigational* or not *medically necessary* or appropriate.

#### Affordable Care Act

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010 and all applicable regulations and regulatory guidance.

## Alternate Recipient

Any child of an *employee* or their spouse who is recognized in a Qualified Medical Child Support Order (QMCSO) or National Medical Support Notice (NMSN) which has been issued by any court judgment, decree, or order as being entitled to enrollment for coverage under the *Plan*.

#### Ambulatory Surgical Facility

A *facility* provider with an organized staff of *physicians* which has been approved by the Joint Commission on the Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations, or by the Accreditation Association for Ambulatory Health, Inc., or by *Medicare*; or that has a contract with the *Preferred Provider Organization* as a *preferred provider*. An *ambulatory surgical facility* is a *facility* that:

- 1. Has permanent facilities and equipment for the purpose of performing surgical procedures on an *outpatient* basis;
- 2. Provides treatment by or under the supervision of *physicians* and nursing services whenever the *covered person* is in the *ambulatory surgical facility*;
- 3. Does not provide *inpatient* accommodations; and
- 4. Is not, other than incidentally, a *facility* used as an office or clinic for the private practice of a *physician*.

#### Approved Clinical Trial

A Phase II, Phase III, or Phase IV clinical trial that is conducted in relation to the prevention, detection, or treatment of cancer or other "life-threatening disease or condition" and is further described in accordance with federal law and applicable federal regulations.

#### Birthing Center

A *facility* that meets professionally recognized standards and complies with all licensing and other legal requirements that apply.

#### Chiropractic Care

Services as provided by a licensed Chiropractor, M.D., or D.O. for manipulation or manual modalities in the treatment of the spinal column, neck, extremities or other joints, other than for a fracture or surgery.

#### Claims Processor

Refer to the *Facts About The Plan* section of this document.

#### Close Relative

The *employee's* spouse, children, brothers, sisters, or parents; or the children, brothers, sisters or parents of the *employee's* spouse.

#### Coinsurance

The benefit percentage of *covered expenses* payable by the *Plan* for benefits that are provided under the *Plan*. The *coinsurance* is applied to *covered expenses* after the deductible(s) have been met, if applicable.

## Complications of Pregnancy

A disease, disorder or condition which is diagnosed as distinct from *pregnancy*, but is adversely affected by or caused by *pregnancy*. Some examples are:

- 1. Intra-abdominal surgery (but not elective Cesarean Section).
- 2. Ectopic *pregnancy*.
- 3. Toxemia with convulsions (Eclampsia).
- 4. Pernicious vomiting (hyperemesis gravidarum).
- 5. Nephrosis.
- 6. Cardiac Decompensation.
- 7. Missed Abortion.
- 8. Miscarriage.

These conditions are not included: false labor; occasional spotting; rest during *pregnancy* even if prescribed by a *physician*; morning sickness; or like conditions that are not medically termed as *complications of pregnancy*.

#### **Concurrent Care**

A request by a *covered person* (or their authorized representative) to the *Health Care Management Organization* prior to the expiration of a *covered person's* current course of treatment to extend such treatment OR a determination by the *Health Care Management Organization* to reduce or terminate an ongoing course of treatment.

#### Confinement

A continuous stay in a *hospital*, *treatment center*, *extended care facility*, *hospice*, or *birthing center* due to an *illness* or *injury* diagnosed by a *physician*.

#### Copay

A cost sharing arrangement whereby a *covered person* pays a set amount to a provider for a specific service at the time the service is provided.

#### Cosmetic Surgery

Surgery for the restoration, repair, or reconstruction of body structures directed toward altering appearance.

#### Covered Expenses

**Medically necessary** services, supplies or treatments that are recommended or provided by a **physician**, **professional provider** or covered **facility** for the treatment of an **illness** or **injury** and that are not specifically excluded from coverage herein. **Covered expenses** shall include specified preventive care services.

#### Covered Person

A person who is eligible for coverage under the *Plan*, or becomes eligible at a later date, and for whom the coverage provided by the *Plan* is in effect.

#### Custodial Care

Care provided primarily for maintenance of the *covered person* or which is designed essentially to assist the *covered person* in meeting his activities of daily living and which is not primarily provided for its therapeutic value in the treatment of an *illness* or *injury*. *Custodial care* includes, but is not limited to: help in walking, bathing, dressing, feeding, preparation of special diets and supervision over self-administration of medications. Such services shall be considered *custodial care* without regard to the provider by whom or by which they are prescribed, recommended or performed.

**Room and board** and skilled nursing services are not, however, considered *custodial care* (1) if provided during *confinement* in an institution for which coverage is available under the *Plan*, and (2) if combined with other *medically necessary* therapeutic services, under accepted medical standards, which can reasonably be expected to substantially improve the *covered person's* medical condition.

## Customary and Reasonable Amount

Any negotiated fee (where the provider has contracted to accept such fee as payment in full for *covered expenses* of the *Plan*) assessed for services, supplies or treatment by a *nonpreferred provider*, or a fee assessed by a provider of service for services, supplies or treatment which shall not exceed the general level of charges made by others rendering or furnishing such services, supplies or treatment within the area where the charge is *incurred* and is comparable in severity and nature to the *illness* or *injury*. Due consideration shall be given to any medical complications or unusual circumstances which require additional time, skill or experience. Except as to negotiated fees, the *customary and reasonable amount* is determined from a statistical review and analysis of the charges for a given procedure in a given area. The term "area" as it would apply to any particular service, supply or treatment means a county or such greater area as is necessary to obtain a representative cross-section of the level of charges.

#### Dentist

A Doctor of Dental Medicine (D.M.D.), a Doctor of Dental Surgery (D.D.S.), a Doctor of Medicine (M.D.), or a Doctor of Osteopathy (D.O.), other than a *close relative* of the *covered person*, who is practicing within the scope of his license.

#### Dependent

A *dependent* is a spouse or child who meets the eligibility requirements in the *Eligibility, Enrollment and Effective Date, Dependent(s) Eligibility* section of this document.

### **Durable Medical Equipment**

Medical equipment which:

- 1. Can withstand repeated use;
- 2. Is primarily and customarily used to serve a medical purpose;
- 3. Is generally not used in the absence of an *illness* or *injury*;
- 4. Is appropriate for use in the home.

All provisions of this definition must be met before an item can be considered *durable medical equipment*. *Durable medical equipment* includes, but is not limited to: crutches, wheel chairs, *hospital* beds, etc.

#### Effective Date

The date of the *Plan* or the date on which the *covered person's* coverage commences, whichever occurs later.

#### Emergency

An accidental *injury*, or the sudden onset of an *illness* where the acute symptoms are of sufficient severity (including severe pain) so that a prudent layperson, who possesses an average knowledge of health and medicine, could reasonably expect the absence of immediate medical attention to result in:

- 1. Placing the *covered person's* life (or with respect to a pregnant woman, the health of the woman or her unborn child) in serious jeopardy, or
- 2. Causing other serious medical consequences, or
- 3. Causing serious impairment to bodily functions, or
- 4. Causing serious dysfunction of any bodily organ or part.

#### **Emergency Services**

With respect to an *emergency* medical condition, a medical screening examination that is within the capability of the emergency department of a *hospital*, including ancillary services routinely available to the emergency department to evaluate such *emergency* medical condition, and such further medical examination and treatment, to the extent they are within the capabilities of the staff and facilities available at the *hospital*, as are required to stabilize the patient.

## **Employee**

A person directly involved in the regular business of and compensated for services, as reported on the individual's annual W-2 form, by the *employer*, who meets the eligibility requirements in the *Eligibility, Enrollment and Effective Date, Employee Eligibility* section of this document.

## **Employer**

The *employer* is Hospital Authority of Valdosta and Lowndes County, Georgia.

## Essential Health Benefits

Those benefits identified by the U.S. Secretary of Health and Human Services, including benefits for *covered expenses* incurred for the following services:

- 1. Ambulatory patient services;
- 2. Emergency services;
- 3. Hospitalization;
- 4. Maternity and newborn care;
- 5. Mental health and substance use disorder services, including behavioral health treatment (*mental* and *nervous disorder and substance use disorder*);
- 6. Prescription drugs;
- 7. Habilitative services, rehabilitative services and habilitative and rehabilitative devices;
- 8. Laboratory services;
- 9. Preventive and wellness services and chronic disease management;
- 10. Pediatric services, including oral and vision care.

#### Experimental/Investigational

Services, supplies, drugs and treatment which do not constitute accepted medical practice properly within the range of appropriate medical practice under the standards of the case and by the standards of a reasonably substantial, qualified, responsible, relevant segment of the medical community or government oversight agencies at the time services were rendered.

The *claims* processor, *employer/plan administrator*, or their designee must make an independent evaluation of the *experimental*/non-experimental standings of specific technologies. The *claims processor*, *employer/plan administrator* or their designee shall be guided by a reasonable interpretation of *Plan* provisions and information provided by qualified independent vendors who have also reviewed the information provided. The decisions shall be made in good faith and rendered following a factual background investigation of the claim and the proposed treatment. The *claims processor*, *employer/plan administrator* or their designee will be guided by the following examples of *experimental* services and supplies:

- 1. If the drug or device cannot be lawfully marketed without approval of the U.S. Food and Drug Administration and approval for marketing has not been given at the time the drug or device is furnished; or
- 2. If the drug, device, medical treatment or procedure, was not reviewed and approved by the treating facility's institutional review board or other body serving a similar function, or if federal law requires such review or approval; or
- 3. If "reliable evidence" shows that the drug, device, medical treatment or procedure is the subject of on-going Phase I or Phase II clinical trials, is in the research, *experimental*, study or *investigational* arm of on-going Phase III clinical trials, or is otherwise under study to determine its maximum tolerated dose, its toxicity, its safety, or its efficacy as compared with a standard means of treatment or diagnosis; or
- 4. If "reliable evidence" shows that prevailing opinion among experts regarding the drug, device, medical treatment or procedure is that further studies or clinical trials are necessary to determine its maximum

tolerated dose, its toxicity, its safety, or its efficacy as compared with standard means of treatment or diagnosis.

"Reliable evidence" shall mean only published reports and articles in the authoritative medical and scientific literature; the written protocol or protocols used by the treating facility or the protocol(s) of another facility studying substantially the same drug, device, medical treatment or procedure; or the written informed consent used by the treating facility or by another facility studying substantially the same drug, device, medical treatment or procedure.

## Extended Care Facility

An institution, or distinct part thereof, operated pursuant to law and one which meets all of the following conditions:

- It is licensed to provide, and is engaged in providing, on an *inpatient* basis, for persons convalescing from *illness* or *injury*, professional nursing services, and physical restoration services to assist *covered persons* to reach a degree of body functioning to permit self-care in essential daily living activities. Such services must be rendered by a Registered Nurse or by a Licensed Practical Nurse under the direction of a Registered Nurse.
- 2. Its services are provided for compensation from its *covered persons* and under the full-time supervision of a *physician* or Registered Nurse.
- 3. It provides twenty-four (24) hour-a-day nursing services.
- 4. It maintains a complete medical record on each *covered person*.
- 5. It is not, other than incidentally, a place for rest, a place for the aged, a place for drug addicts, a place for alcoholics, a place for custodial or educational care, or a place for the care of *mental and nervous disorders*.
- 6. It is approved and licensed by *Medicare*.

This term shall also apply to expenses *incurred* in an institution referring to itself as a skilled nursing facility, convalescent nursing facility, or any such other similar designation.

#### **Facility**

A healthcare institution which meets all applicable state or local licensure requirements.

#### Final Internal Adverse Benefit Determination

An *adverse benefit determination* that has been upheld by this *Plan* at the conclusion of the internal claim and appeal process, or an *adverse benefit determination* with respect to which the internal claim and appeal process has been deemed exhausted

## Final Post-Service Claim Appeal

A post-service appeal, which constitutes the last internal level of appeal available to the *covered person*, to be filed with the *plan administrator* (or its designee). A *final post-service claim appeal* shall only apply to medical claims. Upon and the conclusion of this level of appeal, this *Plan's* internal appeal process is deemed to be exhausted.

#### Foster Child

A child who is placed with the *employee* or covered spouse by an authorized placement agency or by judgment, decree, or other order of any court of competent jurisdiction.

#### Full-time

*Employees* who are regularly scheduled to work not less than thirty (30) hours per work week as listed in the section titled *Eligibility, Enrollment and Effective Date, Employee Eligibility*.

#### Generic Drug

A prescription drug that is generally equivalent to a higher-priced brand name drug with the same use and metabolic disintegration. The drug must meet all Federal Drug Administration (FDA) bioavailability standards and be dispensed according to the professional standards of a licensed pharmacist or *physician* and must be clearly designated by the pharmacist or *physician* as generic.

#### Habilitative and Rehabilitative Devices

**Medically necessary** devices that are designed to assist a **covered person** in acquiring, improving, or maintaining, partially or fully, skills and functioning for daily living. Such devices include, but are not limited to, **durable medical equipment**, orthotics, prosthetics, and low vision aids.

#### Habilitative Services

**Medically necessary** health care services that help a **covered person** keep, learn or improve skills and functioning for daily living. Examples of **habilitative services** include therapy for a **dependent** child who is not walking or talking at the expected age. These services may include physical and occupational therapy, speech-language pathology and other **medically necessary** services for people with disabilities in a variety of inpatient and/or outpatient settings. **Habilitative services** that are not **medically necessary**, for example when therapy has reached an end point and goals have been reached, will not be a **covered expense**.

#### Health Care Management

A process of evaluating if services, supplies or treatment are *medically necessary* and appropriate to help ensure cost-effective care.

#### Health Care Management Organization

The individual or organization designated by the *employer* for the process of evaluating whether the service, supply, or treatment is *medically necessary*. The *Health Care Management Organization* is Trustmark Health Benefits, Inc.

#### Home Health Aide Services

Services which may be provided by a person, other than a Registered Nurse, which are *medically necessary* for the proper care and treatment of a person.

#### Home Health Care

Includes the following services: skilled nursing visits and IV Infusion therapy for the purposes of pre-service claims only.

#### Home Health Care Agency

An agency or organization which meets fully every one of the following requirements:

- 1. It is primarily engaged in and duly licensed, if licensing is required, by the appropriate licensing authority, to provide skilled nursing and other therapeutic services.
- 2. It has a policy established by a professional group associated with the agency or organization to govern the services provided. This professional group must include at least one *physician* and at least one Registered Nurse. It must provide for full-time supervision of such services by a *physician* or Registered Nurse.
- 3. It maintains a complete medical record on each *covered person*.
- 4. It has a full-time administrator.
- 5. It qualifies as a reimbursable service under *Medicare*.

#### Hospice

An agency that provides counseling and medical services and may provide *room and board* to a terminally ill *covered person* and which meets all of the following tests:

- 1. It has obtained any required state or governmental Certificate of Need approval.
- 2. It provides service twenty-four (24) hours-per-day, seven (7) days a week.
- 3. It is under the direct supervision of a *physician*.
- 4. It has a Nurse coordinator who is a Registered Nurse.
- 5. It has a social service coordinator who is licensed.
- 6. It is an agency that has as its primary purpose the provision of *hospice* services.
- 7. It has a full-time administrator.
- 8. It maintains written records of services provided to the *covered person*.
- 9. It is licensed, if licensing is required.

#### Hospital

An institution which meets the following conditions:

- 1. It is licensed and operated in accordance with the laws of the jurisdiction in which it is located which pertain to *hospitals*.
- 2. It is engaged primarily in providing medical care and treatment to *ill* and *injured* persons on an *inpatient* basis at the *covered person's* expense.
- 3. It maintains on its premises all the facilities necessary to provide for the diagnosis and medical and surgical treatment of an *illness* or *injury*; and such treatment is provided by or under the supervision of a *physician* with continuous twenty-four (24) hour nursing services by or under the supervision of Registered Nurses.
- 4. It qualifies as a *hospital* and is accredited by the Joint Commission on the Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations. This condition may be waived in the case of *emergency* treatment in a *hospital* outside of the United States.
- 5. It must be approved by *Medicare*. This condition may be waived in the case of *emergency* treatment in a *hospital* outside of the United States.

Under no circumstances will a *hospital* be, other than incidentally, a place for rest, a place for the aged, or a nursing home.

*Hospital* shall include a facility designed exclusively for physical *rehabilitative services* where the *covered person* received treatment as a result of an *illness* or *injury*.

The term *hospital*, when used in conjunction with *inpatient confinement* for *mental and nervous disorders* or *substance use disorder*, will be deemed to include an institution which is licensed as a mental *hospital* or *substance use disorder* rehabilitation and/or detoxification *facility* by the regulatory authority having responsibility for such licensing under the laws of the jurisdiction in which it is located.

#### Illness

A bodily disorder, disease, or physical sickness. **Pregnancy** of a covered **employee** or their covered spouse shall be considered an **illness**.

#### Incurred or Incurred Date

With respect to a *covered expense*, the date the services, supplies or treatment are provided.

#### Injury

A physical harm or disability which is the result of a specific incident caused by external means. The physical harm or disability must have occurred at an identifiable time and place. *Injury* does not include *illness* or infection of a cut or wound.

#### Inpatient

A *confinement* of a *covered person* in a *hospital*, *hospice*, or *extended care facility* as a registered bed patient, for twenty-three (23) or more consecutive hours and for whom charges are made for *room and board*.

#### Intensive Care

A service which is reserved for critically and seriously ill *covered persons* requiring constant audio-visual surveillance which is prescribed by the attending *physician*.

#### Intensive Care Unit

A separate, clearly designated service area which is maintained within a *hospital* solely for the provision of *intensive care*. It must meet the following conditions:

- 1. Facilities for special nursing care not available in regular rooms and wards of the *hospital*;
- 2. Special life saving equipment which is immediately available at all times;
- 3. At least two beds for the accommodation of the critically ill; and
- 4. At least one Registered Nurse in continuous and constant attendance twenty-four (24) hours-per-day.

This term does not include care in a surgical recovery room, but does include cardiac care unit or any such other similar designation.

## Intensive Outpatient Treatment

An *outpatient substance use disorder* program that operates a minimum of (3) three hours per day at least (3) three days per week, which includes an individualized treatment plan consisting of assessment, counseling; crisis intervention, and activity therapies or education.

#### Layoff

A period of time during which the *employee*, at the *employer*'s request, does not work for the *employer*, but which is of a stated or limited duration and after which time the *employee* is expected to return to *full-time*, active work. *Layoffs* will otherwise be in accordance with the *employer's* standard personnel practices and policies.

#### Leave of Absence

A period of time during which the *employee* does not work, but which is of a stated duration after which time the *employee* is expected to return to active work.

#### Maximum Benefit [for Essential Health Benefits/non-Essential Health Benefits]

Any one of the following, or any combination of the following *Essential Health Benefits*/non-*Essential Health Benefits*:

- 1. The maximum amount paid by the *Plan* for any one *covered person* during the entire time he is covered by the *Plan*
- 2. The maximum amount paid by the *Plan* for any one *covered person* for a particular *covered expense*. The maximum amount can be for:
  - a. The entire time the *covered person* is covered under the *Plan*, or
  - b. A specified period of time, such as a calendar year.
- 3. The maximum number as outlined in the *Plan* as a *covered expense*. The maximum number relates to the number of:
  - a. Treatments during a specified period of time, or
  - b. Days of *confinement*, or
  - c. Visits by a home health care agency.

The maximum benefit for Essential Health Benefits and non-Essential Health Benefits is tracked separately.

#### Measurement Period

The period of time, as determined by the *employer* and consistent with Federal law, regulation and guidance, utilized by the *employer* to determine whether a *variable hour employee* worked on average thirty (30) hours per week for the *employer*.

#### Medically Necessary (or Medical Necessity)

Service, supply or treatment which is determined by the *claims processor*, *employer/plan administrator* (or its designee) to be:

- 1. Appropriate and consistent with the symptoms and provided for the diagnosis or treatment of the *covered person's illness* or *injury* and which could not have been omitted without adversely affecting the *covered person's* condition or the quality of the care rendered; and
- 2. Supplied or performed in accordance with current standards of medical practice within the United States; and
- 3. Not primarily for the convenience of the *covered person* or the *covered person*'s family or *professional provider*; and
- 4. Is an appropriate supply or level of service that safely can be provided; and
- 5. Is recommended or approved by the attending *professional provider*.

The fact that a *professional provider* may prescribe, order, recommend, perform or approve a service, supply or treatment does not, in and of itself, make the service, supply or treatment *medically necessary* and the *claims processor*, *employer/plan administrator* (or its designee), may request and rely upon the opinion of a *physician* or *physicians*. The determination of the *claims processor*, *employer/plan administrator* (or its designee) shall be final and binding.

#### Medicare

The programs established by Title XVIII known as the Health Insurance for the Aged Act, which includes: Part A, Hospital Benefits For The Aged; Part B, Supplementary Medical Insurance Benefits For The Aged; Part C, Miscellaneous provisions regarding both programs; and Part D, Medicare Prescription Drug Benefit, including any subsequent changes or additions to those programs.

#### Mental and Nervous Disorder

An emotional or mental condition characterized by abnormal functioning of the mind or emotions. Diagnosis and classifications of these conditions will be determined based on standard DSM (diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders) or the current edition of International Classification of Diseases, published by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

#### Negotiated Rate

The rate the *preferred providers* have contracted to accept as payment in full for *covered expenses* of the *Plan*.

#### Nonparticipating Pharmacy

Any pharmacy, including a *hospital* pharmacy, *physician* or other organization, licensed to dispense prescription drugs which does not fall within the definition of a *participating pharmacy*.

#### Nonpreferred Provider

A *physician*, *hospital*, or other health care provider who does not have an agreement in effect with the *Preferred Provider Organization* at the time services are rendered.

#### Nurse

A licensed person holding the degree Registered Nurse (R.N.), Licensed Practical Nurse (L.P.N.), Licensed Vocational Nurse (L.V.N.) or Doctorate of Nursing Practice (D.N.P.) who is practicing within the scope of their license.

#### Outpatient

A *covered person* shall be considered to be an *outpatient* if he is treated at:

- 1. A *hospital* as other than an *inpatient*;
- 2. A *physician's* office, laboratory or x-ray *facility*; or
- 3. An *ambulatory surgical facility*; and

The stay is less than twenty-three (23) consecutive hours.

#### Partial Confinement

A period of at least six (6) hours but less than twenty-four (24) hours per day of active treatment up to five (5) days per week in a *facility* licensed or certified by the state in which treatment is received to provide one or more of the following:

- 1. Psychiatric services.
- 2. Treatment of *mental and nervous disorders*.
- 3. *Substance use disorder* treatment.

It may include day, early evening, evening, night care, or a combination of these four.

#### Participating Pharmacy

Any pharmacy licensed to dispense prescription drugs which is contracted with the *pharmacy benefit manager*.

#### Part-time

*Employees* who are regularly scheduled to work on a part-time basis as described in the *Eligibility, Enrollment and Effective Date, Employee Eligibility* section of this document.

## Pharmacy Benefit Manager

The *pharmacy benefit manager* is Elixir Solutions.

#### Physician

A Doctor of Medicine (M.D.) or a Doctor of Osteopathy (D.O.), other than a *close relative* of the *covered person* who is practicing within the scope of his license.

#### Placed For Adoption

The date the *employee* assumes legal obligation for the total or partial financial support of a child during the adoption process.

#### Plan

"*Plan*" refers to the benefits and provisions for payment of same as described herein. The *Plan* is the Hospital Authority of Valdosta and Lowndes County, Georgia Employee High Deductible Health Plan.

#### Plan Administrator

The *plan administrator* is responsible for the day-to-day functions and management of the *Plan*. The *plan administrator* is the *employer*.

#### Plan Sponsor

The *plan sponsor* is Hospital Authority of Valdosta and Lowndes County, Georgia.

#### Plan Year

The *plan year* is the twelve (12) month consecutive period starting on January 1<sup>st</sup> and ending on December 31<sup>st</sup>.

#### Preferred Provider

A *physician*, *hospital* or other health care provider who has an agreement in effect with the *Preferred Provider Organization* at the time services are rendered. *Preferred providers* agree to accept the *negotiated rate* as payment in full.

## Preferred Provider Organization

The organization, designated by the *plan administrator*, who selects and contracts with certain *hospitals*, *physicians*, and other health care providers to provide services, supplies and treatment to *covered persons* at a *negotiated rate*. The *Preferred Provider Organization's* name and/or logo is shown on the front of the *covered person's* ID card.

## Pregnancy

The physical state which results in childbirth or miscarriage.

#### Primary Care Physician (PCP)

A licensed Doctor of Medicine (M.D.) or Doctor of Osteopathy (D.O.) who is a general or family practitioner, pediatrician, gynecologist/obstetrician or general internist.

#### Privacy Rule

Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA) and its implementing regulation concerning privacy of individually identifiable health information, as published in 65 Fed. Reg. 82461 (Dec. 28, 2000) and as modified and published in 67 Fed. Reg. 53181 (Aug. 14, 2002).

#### Professional Provider

A licensed *physician*; surgeon; or any other licensed practitioner required to be recognized by state law, if applicable, and performing services within the scope of such license, who is not a family member.

## Qualified Prescriber

A *physician*, *dentist* or other health care practitioner who may, in the legal scope of their license, prescribe drugs or medicines.

#### Reconstructive Surgery

Surgical repair of abnormal structures of the body, caused by congenital defects, developmental abnormalities, trauma, infection, tumors or disease.

## Rehabilitative Services

**Medically necessary** health care services that help a **covered person** get back, keep, or improve skills for daily living that have been lost or impaired after sickness, **injury**, or disability. These services assist individuals in improving or maintaining, partially or fully, skills and functioning for daily living. **Rehabilitative services** include, but are not limited to, physical therapy, occupational therapy, speech-language pathology and audiology, and psychiatric rehabilitation

## Relevant Information

**Relevant information**, when used in connection with a claim for benefits or a claim appeal, means any document, record or other information:

- 1. Relied on in making the benefit determination; or
- 2. That was submitted, considered or generated in the course of making a benefit determination, whether or not relied upon; or
- 3. That demonstrates compliance with the duties to make benefit decisions in accordance with *Plan* documents and to make consistent decisions; or
- 4. That constitutes a statement of policy or guidance for the *Plan* concerning the denied treatment or benefit for the *covered person's* diagnosis, even if not relied upon.

#### Required By Law

The same meaning as the term "required by law" as defined in 45 CFR 164.501, to the extent not preempted by ERISA or other Federal law.

#### Retail Clinic

A clinic whose primary function is to provide limited routine medical services in a retail-based store location staffed with licensed *professional providers*.

#### Retiree

A former *employee* who retired from service of the *employer* and has met the *Plan's* eligibility requirements to continue coverage under the *Plan* as a *retiree*.

#### Room and Board

Room and linen service, dietary service, including meals, special diets and nourishments, and general nursing service. **Room and board** does not include personal items.

#### Semiprivate

The daily **room and board** charge which a **facility** applies to the greatest number of beds in its **semiprivate** rooms containing two (2) or more beds.

#### Stability Period

The period of time as determined by the *employer* and consistent with Federal law, regulation and guidance, after the *measurement period* has been completed.

#### Substance Use Disorder

Any disease or condition that is classified as a *substance use disorder* in the current edition of the International Classification of Diseases, in effect at the time services are rendered. The fact that a disorder is listed in the International Classification of Diseases or any other publication does not mean that treatment of the disorder is covered by this Plan.

## Total Disability or Totally Disabled

The *employee* is prevented from engaging in his or her regular, customary occupation or from an occupation for which he or she becomes qualified by training or experience, and is performing no work of any kind for compensation or profit; or a *dependent* is prevented from engaging in all of the normal activities of a person of like age and sex who is in good health.

#### Treatment Center

- 1. An institution which does not qualify as a *hospital*, but which does provide a program of effective medical and therapeutic treatment for *substance use disorder*, and
- 2. Where coverage of such treatment is mandated by law, has been licensed and approved by the regulatory authority having responsibility for such licensing and approval under the law, or
- 3. Where coverage of such treatment is not mandated by law, meets all of the following requirements:
  - a. It is established and operated in accordance with the applicable laws of the jurisdiction in which it is located.
  - b. It provides a program of treatment approved by the *physician*.
  - c. It has or maintains a written, specific, and detailed regimen requiring full-time residence and full-time participation by the *covered person*.
  - d. It provides at least the following basic services: (i.) **room and board**, (ii.) evaluation and diagnosis, (iii.) counseling, and (iv.) referral and orientation to specialized community resources.

## Urgent Care

An *emergency* or an onset of severe pain that cannot be managed without immediate treatment.

## Urgent Care Center

A *facility* which is engaged primarily in providing minor emergency and episodic medical care and which has:

- 1. a board-certified *physician*, a Registered Nurse (RN) and a registered x-ray technician in attendance at all times;
- 2. has x-ray and laboratory equipment and life support systems.

An *urgent care center* may include a clinic located at, operated in conjunction with, or which is part of a regular *hospital*.

## Variable Hour Employee

An employee as defined by Federal law, regulation and guidance.

# APPENDIX A PROGRAMS AND SERVICES

## MATERNITY PROGRAM

"Special Delivery" is a voluntary program for expectant mothers offering prenatal information, pre-screening for *pregnancy* related risks and information or preparation for childbirth. This program is designed to identify potential high-risk mothers, as well as help ensure a safer *pregnancy* for both mother and baby.

Expectant mothers who decide to participate in the "Special Delivery" Program will have access to a twenty-four (24) hour toll-free "babyline" which is staffed by obstetrical nurses.

An expectant mother may participate in this program by calling the number shown on her identification card and asking for a "Special Delivery" nurse. If possible, she should call during the first three (3) months of her *pregnancy* in order to receive the full benefits of this program.

# APPENDIX B

ATTENTION: If you speak a different language, language assistance services are available to you free of charge. Call 1-855-274-8709.

## Español (Spanish)

ATENCIÓN: si habla español, tiene a su disposición servicios gratuitos de asistencia lingüística. Llame al 1-855-274-8709.

## 繁體中文 (Chinese)

注意:如果您使用繁體中文,您可以免費獲得語言援助服務。請致電1-855-274-8709.

## <u>Tiếng Việt (Vietnamese)</u>

CHÚ Ý: Nếu bạn nói Tiếng Việt, có các dịch vụ hỗ trợ ngôn ngữ miễn phí dành cho bạn. Gọi số 1-855-274-8709.

#### 한국어 (Korean)

주의: 한국어를 사용하시는 경우, 언어 지원 서비스를 무료로 이용하실 수 있습니다. 1-855-274-8709 번으로 전화해 주십시오.

#### Tagalog (Tagalog – Filipino)

PAUNAWA: Kung nagsasalita ka ng Tagalog, maaari kang gumamit ng mga serbisyo ng tulong sa wika nang walang bayad. Tumawag sa 1-855-274-8709.

## Русский (Russian)

ВНИМАНИЕ: Если вы говорите на русском языке, то вам доступны бесплатные услуги перевода. Звоните 1-855-274-8709.

#### (Arabic) العربية

ملحوظة: إذا كنت تتحدث اذكر اللغة، فإن خدمات المساعدة اللغوية تتوافر لك بالمجان. اتصل برقم 1-558-472-9078 (رقم هاتف الصم والبكم:

## Kreyòl Ayisyen (French Creole)

ATANSYON: Si w pale Kreyòl Ayisyen, gen sèvis èd pou lang ki disponib gratis pou ou. Rele 1-855-274-8709.

#### Français (French)

ATTENTION: Si vous parlez français, des services d'aide linguistique vous sont proposés gratuitement. Appelez le 1-855-274-8709.

#### Polski (Polish)

UWAGA: Jeżeli mówisz po polsku, możesz skorzystać z bezpłatnej pomocy językowej. Zadzwoń pod numer 1-855-274-8709.

## Português (Portuguese)

ATENÇÃO: Se fala português, encontram-se disponíveis serviços linguísticos, grátis. Ligue para 1-855-274-8709.

## Italiano (Italian)

ATTENZIONE: In caso la lingua parlata sia l'italiano, sono disponibili servizi di assistenza linguistica gratuiti. Chiamare il numero 1-855-274-8709.

## Deutsch (German)

ACHTUNG: Wenn Sie Deutsch sprechen, stehen Ihnen kostenlos sprachliche Hilfsdienstleistungen zur Verfügung. Rufnummer: 1-855-274-8709.

#### 日本語 (Japanese)

注意事項:日本語を話される場合、無料の言語支援をご利用いただけます。1-855-274-8709 まで、お電話にてご連絡ください。

## (Farsi) ىفارس

**توجه**: اگر به زبان فارسی گفتگو می کنید، تسهیلات زبانی بصورت رایگان برای شما فراهم می باشد. با 8709-274-855-1 تماس بگیر بد

## हिंदी (Hindi)

ध्यान दें: यदि आप हिंदी बोलते हैं तो आपके लिए मुफ्त में भाषा सहायता सेवाएं उपलब्ध हैं। 1-855-274-8709 पर कॉल करें।

## Հայերեն (Armenian)

ՈԻՇԱԴՐՈՒԹՅՈՒՆ` Եթե խոսում եք հայերեն, ապա ձեզ անվճար կարող են տրամադրվել լեզվական աջակցության ծառայություններ։ Ձանգահարեք 1-855-274-8709.

## ગુજરાતી (Gujarati)

સુચના: જો તમે ગુજરાતી બોલતા હો, તો નિ:શુલ્ક ભાષા સહાય સેવાઓ તમારા માટે ઉપલબ્ધ છે. ફોન કરો 1-855-274-8709.

## Hmoob (Hmong)

LUS CEEV: Yog tias koj hais lus Hmoob, cov kev pab txog lus, muaj kev pab dawb rau koj. Hu rau 1-855-274-8709.

## (Urdu) ردُوا

خبردار: اگر آپ اردو بولتے ہیں، تو آپ کو زبان کی مدد کی خدمات مفت میں دستیاب ہیں ۔ کال کریں ۔855۔1 274-8709

## ខ្មែរ (Cambodian)

ប្រយ័ត្ន៖ បើសិនជាអ្នកនិយាយ ភាសាខ្មែរ, សេវាជំនួយផ្នែកភាសា ដោយមិនគិតឈ្នួល គឺអាចមានសំរាប់បំរើអ្នក។ ចូរ ទូរស័ព្ទ 1-855-274-8709 ។

## ਪੰਜਾਬੀ (Punjabi)

ਧਿਆਨ ਦਿਓ: ਜੇ ਤਸੀਂ ਪੰਜਾਬੀ ਬੋਲਦੇ ਹੋ, ਤਾਂ ਭਾਸ਼ਾ ਵਿੱਚ ਸਹਾਇਤਾ ਸੇਵਾ ਤਹਾਡੇ ਲਈ ਮਫਤ ਉਪਲਬਧ ਹੈ। 1-855-274-8709 'ਤੇ ਕਾਲ ਕਰੋ।

## বাংলা (Bengali)

লক্ষ্য করুনঃ যদি আপনি বাংলা, কথা বলতে পারেন, তাহলে নিঃখরচায় ভাষা সহায়তা পরিষেবা উপলব্ধ আছে। ফোন করুন ১ 1-855-274-8709।

#### אידיש (Yiddish)

- אויפמערקזאם: אויב איר רעדט אידיש, זענען פארהאן פאר אייך שפראך הילף סערוויסעס פריי פון אפצאל. רופט - 1-855-274-8709.

## አማርኛ (Amharic)

ማስታወሻ: የሚናንሩት ቋንቋ ኣማርኛ ከሆነ የትርጉም እርዳታ ድርጅቶች፣ በነጻ ሊያግዝዎት ተዘጋጀተዋል፡ ወደ ሚከተለው ቁጥር ይደውሉ 1-855-274-8709.

## ภาษาไทย (Thai)

เรียน: ถ้าคุณพูดภาษาไทยคุณสามารถใช้บริการช่วยเหลือทางภาษาได้ฟรี โทร 1-855-274-8709.

## Oroomiffa (Oromo)

XIYYEEFFANNAA: Afaan dubbattu Oroomiffa, tajaajila gargaarsa afaanii, kanfaltiidhaan ala, ni argama. Bilbilaa 1-855-274-8709.

## Ilokano (Ilocano)

PAKDAAR: Nu saritaem ti Ilocano, ti serbisyo para ti baddang ti lengguahe nga awanan bayadna, ket sidadaan para kenyam. Awagan ti 1-855-274-8709.

#### ພາສາລາວ (Lao)

ໂປດຊາບ: ຖ້ຳວ່າ ທ່ານເວົ້າພາສາ ລາວ, ການບໍລິການຊ່ວຍເຫຼືອດ້ານພາສາ, ໂດຍບໍ່ເສັງຄ່າ, ແມ່ນມີພ້ອມໃຫ້ທ່ານ. ໂທ ຣ 1-855-274-8709.

#### Shqip (Albanian)

KUJDES: Nëse flitni shqip, për ju ka në dispozicion shërbime të asistencës gjuhësore, pa pagesë. Telefononi në 1-855-274-8709.

## Srpsko-hrvatski (Serbo-Croatian)

OBAVJEŠTENJE: Ako govorite srpsko-hrvatski, usluge jezičke pomoći dostupne su vam besplatno. Nazovite 1-855-274-8709.

## Українська (Ukrainian)

УВАГА! Якщо ви розмовляєте українською мовою, ви можете звернутися до безкоштовної служби мовної підтримки. Телефонуйте за номером 1-855-274-8709.

## नेपाली (Nepali)

ध्यान दिनुहोस्: तपाईंले नेपाली बोल्नुहुन्छ भने तपाईंको निम्ति भाषा सहायता सेवाहरू निःशुल्क रूपमा उपलब्ध छ। फोन गर्नुहोस् 1-855-274-8709।

#### Nederlands (Dutch)

AANDACHT: Als u nederlands spreekt, kunt u gratis gebruikmaken van de taalkundige diensten. Bel 1-855-274-8709.

#### unD (Karen)

ဟ်သူဉ်ဟ်သး- နမ္နာ်ကတိုး ကညီ ကျိုာ်အယို, နမာနှုံ ကျိုာ်အတာမြာစားလာ တလက်ဘူဉ်လက်စာ့ နီတမီးဘဉ်သုနှဉ်လီး. ကိုး 1-855-274-8709

#### Gagana fa'a Sāmoa (Samoan)

MO LOU SILAFIA: Afai e te tautala Gagana fa'a Sāmoa, o loo iai auaunaga fesoasoan, e fai fua e leai se totogi, mo oe, Telefoni mai: 1-855-274-8709.

#### Kajin Majōl (Marshallese)

LALE: Ñe kwōj kōnono Kajin Majōl, kwomaroñ bōk jerbal in jipañ ilo kajin ne am ejjelok wōnāān. Kaalok 1-855-274-8709.

#### Română (Romanian)

ATENȚIE: Dacă vorbiți limba română, vă stau la dispoziție servicii de asistență lingvistică, gratuit. Sunați la 1-855-274-8709.

#### Foosun Chuuk (Trukese)

MEI AUCHEA: Ika iei foosun fonuomw: Foosun Chuuk, iwe en mei tongeni omw kopwe angei aninisin chiakku, ese kamo. Kori 1-855-274-8709.

#### Tonga (Tongan)

FAKATOKANGA'I: Kapau 'oku ke Lea-Fakatonga, ko e kau tokoni fakatonu lea 'oku nau fai atu ha tokoni ta'etotongi, pea teke lava 'o ma'u ia. Telefoni mai 1-855-274-8709.

#### Bisaya (Bisayan)

ATENSYON: Kung nagsulti ka og Cebuano, aduna kay magamit nga mga serbisyo sa tabang sa lengguwahe, nga walay bayad. Tawag sa 1-855-274-8709.

#### Ikirundi (Bantu – Kirundi)

ICITONDERWA: Nimba uvuga Ikirundi, uzohabwa serivisi zo gufasha mu ndimi, ku buntu. Woterefona 1-855-274-8709.

#### Kiswahili (Swahili)

KUMBUKA: Ikiwa unazungumza Kiswahili, unaweza kupata, huduma za lugha, bila malipo. Piga simu 1-855-274-8709.

#### Bahasa Indonesia (Indonesian)

PERHATIAN: Jika Anda berbicara dalam Bahasa Indonesia, layanan bantuan bahasa akan tersedia secara gratis. Hubungi 1-855-274-8709.

#### Türkçe (Turkish)

DİKKAT: Eğer Türkçe konuşuyor iseniz, dil yardımı hizmetlerinden ücretsiz olarak yararlanabilirsiniz. 1-855-274-8709 irtibat numaralarını arayın.

#### (Kurdish) يكورد

ئاگادارى: ئەگەر بە زمانى كوردى قەسە دەكەيت، خزمەتگوزاريەكانى يارمەتى زمان، بەخۆرايى، بۆ تۆ بەردەستە. بكە 8709-875-855-1يەيوەندى بە

#### తెలుగు (Teluga)

శ్రద్ధ పెట్టండి: ఒకవేళ మీరు తెలుగు భాష మాట్లాడుతున్నట్లయితే, మీ కొరకు తెలుగు భాషా సహాయక సేవలు ఉచితంగా లభిస్తాయి. 1-855-274-8709 కు కాల్ చేయండి.

## Thuonjan (Nilotic – Dinka)

PID KENE: Na ye jam në Thuoŋjaŋ, ke kuony yenë koc waar thook atö kuka lëu yök abac ke cïn wënh cuatë piny. Yuopë 1-855-274-8709

#### Norsk (Norwegian)

MERK: Hvis du snakker norsk, er gratis språkassistansetjenester tilgjengelige for deg. Ring 1-855-274-8709.

## Català (Catalan)

ATENCIÓ: Si parleu Català, teniu disponible un servei d"ajuda lingüística sense cap càrrec. Truqueu al 1-855-274-8709.

#### λληνικά (Greek)

ΠΡΟΣΟΧΗ: Αν μιλάτε ελληνικά, στη διάθεσή σας βρίσκονται υπηρεσίες γλωσσικής υποστήριξης, οι οποίες παρέχονται δωρεάν. Καλέστε 1-855-274-8709.

#### Igbo asusu (Ibo)

Ige nti: O buru na asu Ibo asusu, enyemaka diri gi site na call 1-855-274-8709.

#### èdè Yorùbá (Yoruba)

AKIYESI: Ti o ba nso ede Yoruba ofe ni iranlowo lori ede wa fun yin o. E pe ero ibanisoro yi 1-855-274-8709.

## Lokaiahn Pohnpei (Pohnpeian)

Ni songen mwohmw ohte, komw pahn sohte anahne kawehwe mesen nting me koatoantoal kan ahpw wasa me ntingie [Lokaiahn Pohnpei] komw kalangan oh ntingidieng ni lokaiahn Pohnpei. Call 1-855-274-8709.

#### Deitsch (Pennsylvania Dutch)

Wann du [Deitsch (Pennsylvania German / Dutch)] schwetzscht, kannscht du mitaus Koschte ebber gricke, ass dihr helft mit die englisch Schprooch. Ruf selli Nummer uff: Call 1-855-274-8709.

#### ho'okomo 'ōlelo (Hawaiian)

E NĀNĀ MAI: Inā hoʻopuka ʻoe i ka ʻōlelo [hoʻokomo ʻōlelo], loaʻa ke kōkua manuahi iā ʻoe. E kelepona iā 1-855-274-8709.

#### Adamawa (Fulfulde)

MAANDO: To a waawi [Adamawa], e woodi ballooji-ma to ekkitaaki wolde caahu. Noddu 1-855-274-8709.

#### tsalagi gawonihisdi (Cherokee)

Hagsesda: iyuhno hyiwoniha [tsalagi gawonihisdi]. Call 1-855-274-8709.

#### I linguahén Chamoru (Chamorro)

ATENSIÓN: Yanggen un tungó [I linguahén Chamoru], i setbision linguahé gaige para hagu dibatde ha . Agang I 1-855-274-8709.

#### (Assyrian) همنط

رفه بنج بخونه مخابطه منه بخونه بخون

### (Burmese)

သတိျပဳရန္ - အကယ္၍ သင္သည္ ျမန္မာစကား ကို ေျပာပါက၊ ဘာသာစကား အကူအညီ၊ အခမဲ့၊ သင့္အတြက္ စီစဥ္ေဆာင္ရြက္ေပးပါမည္။ ဖုန္းနံပါတ္ 1-855-274-8709 သုိ႔ ေခၚဆိုပါ။

#### Diné Bizaad (Navajo)

Díí baa akó nínízin: Díí saad bee yánílti'go Diné Bizaad, saad bee áká'ánída'áwo'déé', t'áá jiik'eh, éí ná hóló, koji' hódíílnih: 1-855-274-8709

## Bàsóò-wùdù-po-nyò (Bassa)

Dè dε nìà kε dyédé gbo: Ͻ jǔ ké m̀ [Ɓàsóò-wùdù-po-nyò] jǔ ní, nìí, à wudu kà kò dò po-poò bếìn m̀ gbo kpáa. Đá 1-855-274-8709.

#### Chahta (Choctaw)

ANOMPA PA PISAH: [Chahta] makilla ish anompoli hokma, kvna hosh Nahollo Anompa ya pipilla hosh chi tosholahinla. Atoko, hattak yvmma im anompoli chi bvnnakmvt, holhtina pa payah: 1-855-274-8709.

# APPENDIX C COVID

Notwithstanding any provisions in this Plan Document to the contrary, this *Plan* shall:

- A. Provide coverage for an in vitro diagnostic test for the detection of SARS-CoV-2 or the diagnosis of the virus that causes COVID-19, and the administration of such a test, without imposing any cost sharing, including deductibles, *copays* and *coinsurance*. Such coverage will include items and services furnished during health care provider office visits (including in-person visits and telehealth visits), *urgent care center* visits, and emergency room visits that result in an order for a COVID-19 test but only to the extent, such items and services relate to:
  - 1. the furnishing or administration of a COVID-19 test; or
  - 2. the evaluation of a *covered person* for purposes of determining the need for such test.
- B. Reimburse the services described in section A. based on a negotiated rate, if one was in effect before March 13, 2020. If a negotiated rate does not exist, this *Plan* shall reimburse the provider for the cash price for such service as listed on the provider's public internet website. This *Plan* may negotiate a rate with the provider for less than the cash price.

Section I.A. Effective March 18, 2020 for as long as the Secretary of HHS declares the public health emergency. Section I.B. Effective March 27, 2020 for as long as the Secretary of HHS declares the public health emergency.